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Our manifesto

    We believe in  
Europe’s potential.

Uniting behind a vision of a  
better bank and a better future.  
A transformation for our clients, 
our people, and our communities. 
Demonstrating what it means  
to be the bank for Europe’s future.



For everyone,  
     everywhere.



Our manifesto

           For our clients

 who demand  
      best-in-class  
 products, ideas  
    and service…



Putting our clients at the 
centre of everything we do
We are harnessing the scale of our Group 
to develop and offer best in class products 
and services throughout our markets. We are 
equipping our people with the right tools to 
focus their expertise, effort, and energy on 
delivering excellence for all of our clients,  
all of the time.

To read more about our clients and how we  
are supporting them, see pages 36–59



A culture where our  
colleagues can thrive
We foster Diversity, Equity & Inclusion  
and are committed to building a safe, 
positive, barrier free and inclusive working 
environment, where everyone feels 
empowered to unlock their fullest potential 
and succeed. We are committed to be the 
engine of social progress for our people 
and our communities.

To read more about how we create the 
best working environment for all our people, 
see pages 60–77

Our manifesto



                 For our colleagues

          helping to  
build the bank for  
    Europe’s future…



                For our communities

  that want to be  
   drivers of change…

Our manifesto



Fostering a just  
and fair transition
We are focused on delivering a sustainable 
transition to green energy which does as little 
harm to the planet and its people as possible. 
We work consistently towards having a 
positive impact in line with our role and 
responsibilities as a social actor – knowing 
banks play an important role that goes far 
beyond lending.

To read more about our ESG commitments  
and initiatives, see pages 78–109



Innovating for  
our stakeholders
We understand that banking is increasingly 
not only a people business, but also a 
technology business. Digital technology is 
continually advancing, and capitalising on 
these advances for the benefit of all our 
stakeholders is the key to unlocking value.

To read more about our digital innovations  
and how they make our clients’ lives easier,  
see pages 110–125

Our manifesto



               For everyone

      who wants to  
 embrace digital  
  innovation and the  
   future of banking…



Our manifesto

                For Europe’s next generation

    who want to shape  
   their future…



UniCredit Foundation: Inspiring 
young people across Europe
We are on a mission to empower young  
people across Europe by enhancing equality  
of opportunities in education. Together  
we can unlock the potential of Europe’s 
next generation.

To read more about our UniCredit  
Foundation, see pages 126–133





    “At UniCredit,

we are transforming  
   to create value
      for everyone, everywhere.”

Andrea Orcel
Chief Executive Officer & Head of Italy UniCredit S.p.A.
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Letter from the Chief Executive Officer

“2023 was a remarkable year 
and the product of three 
years of transformation. 
There will no doubt 
be challenges ahead in 
2024, but I am confident  
in the direction our bank  
is taking.”
Andrea Orcel
Chief Executive Officer UniCredit S.p.A.
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It will be remembered as the year we surpassed the 
targets we set at UniCredit Unlocked, and emerged 
as a better, stronger bank as a result. One capable of 
being the bank for Europe’s future. 

We are no longer a bank that settles for less. We have 
built a culture of excellence that puts our clients at the 
centre and prioritises long-term value creation over 
short-term gain. 

This has been driven by a cultural and industrial 
transformation, which has redefined the way our 
bank operates. Before, there was no ‘one UniCredit’. 
There were 13 disparate banks that lacked common 
principles, values and a clear strategy and were falling 
short of their potential. 

Now our bank is united behind one vision, with all 
its parts operating in lockstep with the interests of 
the Group and Europe as a whole. A model that now 
empowers our people and gives our clients what they 
are asking for.

2023 was truly the year we came together behind 
one purpose and vision and executed an ambitious 
strategy that has propelled us from a laggard to 
a leader. 

Dear Stakeholders,
2023 was the best year in UniCredit’s 
history and the crowning achievement 
of our first three years of transformation. 

UniCredit 2023 Annual Reports and Accounts
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Letter from the Chief Executive Officer

Surpassing our targets
Despite a challenging macroeconomic backdrop, 
2023 was the year we surpassed targets that some 
thought impossible a year ago.

We achieved a RoTE of 16.6% (20.5% when 
correcting for the excess capital that we carry at 
13% CET1). 

Our net revenues stood at €23.3 billion – an increase 
of 26% year on year. This was mostly driven by 
exceptional net interest income and resilient fees 
while maintaining a low cost of risk. 

We have enhanced our three product factories 
– corporate solutions, payments solutions, and 
individual solutions – to deliver best-in-class 
products for our clients at scale. As a result, our 
factories generated €9.9 billion in 2023, down 2% 
despite challenging market conditions. 

We are now in our twelfth quarter of year-over-year 
profitable growth driven by outperformance across 
each of our three core financial levers, achieving the 
best results in UniCredit’s history.

389bps
Organic Capital Generation €12.0bn  
(Net Revenue/RWA 7.9%)

Capital

39.7%
Cost/Income -7.2p.p.  
(Absolute costs -1%)

Cost

Capital 
Efficiency

Operational 
Excellence

Quality  
Growth

+26%
Net Revenue  
(Gross Revenue +17%)

Net  
Revenue

UniCredit  
Sustainable 
Excellence  
FY/FY

FY23 Highlights across our 3 levers
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Letter from the Chief Executive Officer

After three years of transformation, our RoTE 
has tripled, our net profit is over 2.5x compared 
to 2017-2019 averages1, and we have delivered 
over €27 billion in organic capital generation. 
We distributed €17.6 billion over three years, which is 
equal to our market cap at the beginning of 2021.

This year alone we have generated €12 billion in 
capital organically, underpinning our proposed 
distribution of €8.6 billion (100% of net profit) in the 
fourth quarter – €3.0 billion dividends and €5.6 billion 
share buyback – while reinforcing our CET1 ratio by 
c.100 basis points to 15.9%.   

In 2023 we delivered on the €5.25 billion 
commitment made in our FY22 shareholder 
distribution programme, and front-loaded the 
execution of a €2.5 billion share buyback as part of 
the FY23 distributions. 

At the same time, per-share value creation has 
reached even greater heights, more than tripling EPS 
versus our historical run-rate, with DPS nine times 
higher, and tangible book value per share up almost 
a half. 

The financial targets we have met and exceeded have 
not been at the detriment of our ESG commitments, 
which are embedded firmly in our business model. 

With a unique pan-European footprint, we have a 
responsibility to pursue a fairer, greener future. 

We remain steadfast in our commitment to reach 
net zero by 2050 and in 2023, we became a 
single-use plastic-free bank and lent €7.6 billion in 
environmental loans. 

The Social dimension of ESG continues to be a priority 
for UniCredit, and we are leading by example with 
€3.8 billion of social financing and €60 million of 
social contribution. 

In comparison to our peers, we have best-in-class 
top-line growth, operating efficiency, and unrivalled 
organic capital generation. We have one of the 
highest CET1 ratios, one of the highest RoTE (the 
highest when corrected for our excess capital at 
13%), quality credit portfolio and coverage, and the 
highest forward-looking precautionary overlays.

1. For comparison purposes the FY17-19 net profit is the simple 
average of Net profit recast figures for Group excluding Turkey 
and Fineco.

Peers and UniCredit stated figures  
based on publicly available data
Peers and UniCredit stated figures based on publicly 
available data. Selected peers: BBVA, BNP Paribas, 
Commerzbank, Credit Agricole S.A., Deutsche bank, 
ING, Intesa Sanpaolo, Santander, Société Générale.

2nd
from 5th

1st
confirmed

1st
from 3rd

1st
from 3rd

Net  
Revenue/ 

RWA
Cost/ 

Income 
NOP/ 
RWA

Organic 
Capital 

Generation

Superior performance  
vs. peers across all levers

FY21

Media FY17-19

0.54

0.2

FY23

FY220.99

1.78

FY21

Media FY17-19

0.54

0.2

FY23

FY220.99

1.78

2nd

5th

1st1st

3rd

1st

3rd
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Our winning approach 
continues
There will no doubt be challenges ahead in 2024, but 
I am confident in the direction our bank is taking.

2023 was a remarkable year and the product of three 
years of transformation. 

Every target we’ve set, we’ve exceeded, and now 
we are a leading European bank that is delivering 
consistently for its stakeholders. This would not have 
been possible without the belief, trust and hard work 
of thousands of people who work at UniCredit.

Our challenge now is to go beyond these record 
results and continue the performance of the past 
three years. 

We must work to sustain our winning approach, 
defend our record financial performance, and set the 
stage for the next phase of UniCredit’s growth.

We are now a leader in banking and we aspire to 
become champions. I have no doubt in our ability to 
do this. 

Yours,

Andrea Orcel
Chief Executive Officer UniCredit S.p.A.

+3.1x
EPS1 (€)

9.0x
DPS (€)

+46%
TBVPS (€, EoP)

FY21

Media FY17-19

1.8

1.5

FY23

FY222.7

4.7

FY21

Media FY17-19

0.54

0.2

FY23

FY220.99

1.78

FY21

Media FY17-19

24.1

22.8

FY23

FY2228.4

33.3

Propelled per share values

1. Net Profit for FY22 and FY23 is stated net profit adjusted 
for impacts from DTAs tax loss carry forward resulting from 
sustainability test. The result is used for cash dividend accrual / 
total distribution. Underlying net profit for FY21. For comparison 
purposes the FY17-19 net profit is the simple average of Net profit 
recast figures for Group excluding Turkey and Fineco.
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Chairman’s letter
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The year behind us was marked by geopolitical events, 
which were consequently reflected in the cycle of tightening 
monetary policies of central banks, which caused the 
slowdown of global economic growth below the medium-
term potential. According to the latest IMF report, the growth 
of the world economy was around 3% in 2023. The situation 
in Serbia was not much different in 2023, especially when 
we consider that we are a small, open, energy-dependent 
economy. The key macroeconomic indicators that dictate the 
climate in the business environment in our country were at a 
stable level. Year-on-year inflation has been on a downward 
trajectory since April, while in August and September 2023 it 
was somewhat lower than expected. According to available 
data, the slowdown in inflation to 8 percent in September is 
the result of lower growth in food prices and base inflation, 
which was reduced to 7 percent. The return of inflation to the 
targeted framework (1.5-4.5%) should take place in the second 
half of 2024.

The banking sector of Serbia ended the year 2023 as highly 
liquid, highly capitalized, with a low level of problematic 
placements, despite all the developments. Banks continued 
to finance the economy and the population, with the expected 
decrease in demand for loans and a downward trend in credit 
activity recorded.

UniCredit Bank in Serbia has successfully completed the 
business year, with results that represent the positive 
continuity of our multi-year plan and many important 
achievements. We are recognized as a reliable partner for 
the economy and population, with a continuous focus on the 
needs of citizens and the economy. The trend of good results 
continued, in both key business segments, the household 
sector and the business sector. We have maintained the 

Dear all,

“We became the first bank in Europe which 
incorporated the new EBRD methodology 
of harmonization with Paris agreement for 
the financial sector”
Nikola Vuletić,
CEO of UniCredit Bank Serbia

indicator of costs in relation to revenues at an enviable 
level, which once again confirmed the efficiency of our 
business model.

The bank achieved record results and also in 12 months 
achieved a return on capital of 20.3% and a net profit of

18.4 billion dinars, which represents a growth of 116.5% 
compared to the same period of the previous year. The main 
driver of growth is net interest income, which achieved growth 
of over 59.3% year-on-year, driven primarily by higher active 
interest rates based on loans, repo operations and placements 
on the money market due to the increase in the reference 
interest rate of the NBS and leading central banks in order to 
suppress inflation and the consequent growth of reference 
rates on the interbank market. Growth was also achieved on 
the basis of income from fees and commissions due to the 
greater volume of services provided to our clients and income 
from securities trading. Good results were managed despite 
the increase in costs compared to the previous year, but it is 
important to note that their growth was lower compared to 
the growth of inflation in the same period, which is why we 
kept the indicator of costs in relation to income (Cost/Income 
ratio) at a very low level, which is still one of the lowest in 
the banking sector of Serbia. Also, we continued to increase 
the loan portfolio to our clients, and thanks to active risk 
management, we managed to maintain the share of non-
performing exposures (NPE) at an almost unchanged level 
compared to the same period of the previous year. Also, we 
continued to increase our deposit base, which achieved growth 
of 8.8% year-on-year, which confirms that we are recognized 
by our clients as a safe partner, which provides us with a stable 
basis for sustainable growth in the future.
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Chairman’s letter

In the segment of corporate-investment banking, we remained 
a reliable partner and the first choice for as many as 80 of the 
100 largest companies in Serbia, placing special emphasis on the 
quality of the loan portfolio and green financing while continuing 
to grow the client base. We remain the market leader when 
we talk about the financing of wind farms, because we finance 
5 wind farms in Serbia out of a total of 8, and we are the only 
bank that independently finances 3 wind farms. We estimate 
our total market share in the financing of operational projects 
to be somewhere around 30%, which significantly exceeds 
our total market share and testifies to our commitment to 
the topic of energy transition. Solar energy is a newer area to 
invest in, but it is certainly gaining ground. As a company that 
strives for responsible business and recognizes market trends, 
we have enriched our offer with specialized credit lines for the 
construction of solar power plants. Our bank is ready to welcome 
the first auction in 2023. We supported clients in the auction 
process by issuing the necessary guarantees for both wind 
farms and solar power plants, and we are extremely pleased 
that all the projects we have followed are entitled to the status 
of temporary privileged producer. We are busy working on the 
approval of financing, with the aim of soon starting the financing 
of those projects.

One of the basic roles of UniCredit Bank in the market is an 
advisory role, especially if we are talking about some new areas 
of investment for our clients. Based on our experience and 
expertise, we try to bring each of these areas closer to them, to 
help them first of all understand what is necessary to achieve 
from “green” standards and fulfill the criteria in order to be able 
to apply for loans from various international financial institutions. 
institution. We empower clients to adapt, learn and develop in 
such a way that they can meet all the conditions for obtaining 
investment loans. We carry out continuous education at all levels 
of business, from participation in conferences where we share 
our experiences, to the fact that we try to organize numerous 
workshops for clients where they have the opportunity

 to hear the experiences of our colleagues from different 
European countries, who operate in the field of sustainable 
energy sources.

Also, we are starting to pay more and more attention to the 
energy of the sun. We already have active and current projects, 
primarily through our Leasing service, where the needs of the 
market and clients in this segment of the green transition have 
already been recognized. Our plan is to dedicate ourselves even 
more intensively and invest in solar energy projects, all while 
following domestic and European regulations and the changes 
that are taking place. At the same time, our goal is to strengthen 
advisory support to clients in achieving ESG standards with 
the support of the first-class, international expert team of our 
UniCredit Group.

Throughout 2023, we continued to work on the transformation 
of our business model. We strived to unlock the entire potential 
of our bank - first of all, the potential of our people, and then 
to simplify all processes, both those related to the internal 

organization of business activities and procedures that directly 
affect relations with clients. We essentially put the client at 
the center of everything we do, and that will be our focus in the 
coming period as well. We worked intensively on digitization and 
unlocking the potential of our colleagues. The implementation of 
the possibility of digital signature through the mobile application 
significantly contributed to the transformation of our business 
model. Numerous banking services such as term deposits, 
changing account packages or applying for a cash loan are now 
available to clients through a mobile application and can be 
performed remotely without coming to a branch. We also use 
artificial intelligence, with the aim of providing our clients with 
access to the necessary information and 24/7 support.

We also empower clients through various specialized credit lines 
that we implement in cooperation with international financial 
institutions, thus providing them with support for education and 
the application of numerous new standards in business. At the 
beginning of the year, the European Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development (EBRD) approved a credit line of 100 million 
euros to UniCredit Bank Serbia, which will be used for lending to 
small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) throughout Serbia. 
The EBRD credit line is also linked to UniCredit’s pioneering 
climate transition plan. We became the first bank in Europe 
to incorporate the EBRD’s new methodology for aligning with 
the Paris Agreement for the financial sector. UniCredit will 
work on four areas – governance, strategy, risk management, 
benchmarks, targets and reporting – to align them with the 
Paris Agreement on climate change. These four areas are 
the pillars of the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD), an international initiative on climate risks 
and considerations.

Empowering community progress is deeply woven throughout 
all spheres of our business. It is our obligation to return 
part of what we create to the communities in which we are 
present. Accordingly, there are three main pillars of our socially 
responsible business: education, environmental protection 
and inclusion. Our bank’s volunteer club grew by almost 60% 
compared to 2022, and throughout the year actively carried 
out various activities through: education of young people in 
cooperation with “Youth Achievements” (Junior Achievement), 
preparation of a Financial Dictionary with basic banking terms 
intended for students , by sharing knowledge and expertise, 
by participating in volunteer actions for the cleaning and 
arrangement of Fruška Gora and Resavska Pečina, and the like. 
In anticipation of the holidays, the employees of the bank, 
together with their families, prepared and packed gifts for the 
children attending the elementary schools “Boško Buha” in 
Zvezdara and “Novi Beograd”, thus supporting the UniCredit 
Group’s donor initiative “Kids4Kids”, which is ongoing In 
December, a large number of packages were collected in all 
thirteen countries in which the Group operates. In cooperation 
with the Ethno Network, an association of handicraft producers 
from all over Serbia, we emphasized the preservation of cultural 
heritage and support for female entrepreneurship. Thus, 
the exhibition “100 women, 100 miniatures” was officially 
opened in the branches of UniCredit in Belgrade. The exhibition 
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presented unique handicrafts in the 10x10cm format, which 
are made by women and young people in craft associations and 
cooperatives throughout Serbia using traditional techniques. 
Also, at the very end of the year, we joined the project “Women 
entrepreneurs - the strength of the economy” in partnership 
with the Serbian Chamber of Commerce, in order to continue 
empowering women.

We made an additional commitment to socially responsible 
business through the UniCredit Foundation’s “Call for education 
2023” program to support programs that fight educational 
problems in all countries where the Group operates. For that 
initiative, which also included Serbia, the UniCredit Foundation 
allocated a total contribution of three million euros with the 
aim of identifying and supporting programs for schools, i.e. 
for students (aged 11-19), which are implemented by non-profit 
organizations, with special attention to: addressing early school 
leaving, encouraging university education and acquiring adequate 
skills for entering the labor market. In addition, during the year, 
UniCredit Foundation implemented a special initiative “Special 
donation” through which it supported one project from each 
member country of the Group, and thus funds were allocated 
in Serbia to the “Vojvoda Živojin Mišić” Elementary School from 
Rajković near Mionica.

As in previous years, the stability of our bank in Serbia was 
confirmed by numerous awards. At the very beginning of 2023, 
we received the prestigious Top Employer certificate as the only 
bank in Serbia. According to the Euromoney survey, our Bank was 
declared the market leader in the survey on trade financing, while 
Global Finance singled us out as the best custodial bank for 2023. 
Also, we won two prestigious local awards: the silver award for 
the most gender- sensitive company awarded by Cvet suspeha 
and the ESG leader award awarded by AFA. We crowned the end 
of the

 year with a certificate according to the EGDE global standard 
for gender equality and inclusion, as the first company in 
our country.

We left behind a successful year for UniCredit Bank and laid solid 
foundations for further growth in Serbia. We remain among the 
leading banks, focusing on client services and the profitability 
of our business model. I would like to thank all clients who trust 
us and recognize UniCredit Bank as a partner for their most 
important financial decisions. Also, thanks to all our stakeholders 
who support us in our daily business. Special thanks to all our 
employees, because UniCredit Bank would not be successful 
without the dedication of people who are the front line and faces 
of the bank.

 
 
 
 
Nikola Vuletić,
CEO of UniCredit Bank Serbia

Credit: Andrea Cherchi
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2023 Milestones Timeline

A year of powerful transformation
Together, every change we make, every month of the year, 
throughout all our businesses across all our geographies, all 
contributes to delivering the biggest transformation in our history.
Review all our milestones online

See the microsite

UniCredit launched  
Bank iD service

Making everyday life more 
convenient for our clients 

in the Czech Republic

Becoming the main 
sponsor of the San Carlo 

Theatre in Naples
Supporting culture and  
territorial social growth

UniCredit underwrites 
€7 billion acquisition 

of GD Towers from 
Deutsche Telekom

Building new 
hospitals in Angola
UniCredit provided loans 
for three new hospitals

UniCredit named one 
of the Top Employers 

in Europe

Introducing the 
euro as Croatia’s 
official currency

January
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February

Net zero targets set for 
carbon-intensive sectors

Project financing for 
Enel’s 3SUN photovoltaic 

Giga Factory
Supporting the expansion 

of what will become 
Europe’s largest factory 

of high-performance bifacial 
photovoltaic (PV) modules

100% single-use 
plastic free bank
Reducing the use of 

millions of plastic bottles 
in a single year

Strategy
Key to icons

People & Culture

Clients

Finance

ESG

Digital & Data

UniCredit Foundation

UniCredit included 
as one of the Equileap 

Top 100 gender 
equality companies

Positive recognition for our 
efforts across the bank

Integrated Report  
Human Capital

March

Launch of our first 
Group-wide Volunteering 

Community
Encouraging our employees 
to contribute one working 

day each year

Integrated Report  
Human Capital

Eni and UniCredit  
partner around  

Open-es
An open alliance  

for sustainable growth 
and collaboration

Additional Inform
ation

Com
pany Report

Consolidated Report
Strategic Progress

Overview
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2023 Milestones Timeline

Relentless transformation
9th consecutive quarter of profitable 

growth and best 1Q ever

Supporting 
Gerresheimer’s growth 

plan in Germany
Helping to raise €272 million in 
capital for High Value Solutions 

and Medical Devices

Share buy-back 
programme

€3.343 million share buy-back 
programme receives approval

Integrated Report  
Financial Capital

Growing our partnership 
with Mastercard

A first for a large commercial bank 
in Europe – putting in place, an at scale 

single card multi market strategy

UniCredit Bulbank 
opens completely 
cashless branches

Supporting the shift to a 
cashless society in Bulgaria

1Q

April May
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Sponsoring Pride parades 
in Milan, Vienna and Munich
Reinforcing our strong commitment 

to diversity, equity and inclusion and 
support to the LGBTQIA+ community

Integrated Report 
Human Capital

Launch of a Global Bank 
Insurance platform 

with Allianz
Aimed to renew the 

commercial offer of more 
than 20 insurance products

Integrated Report  
Intellectual Capital

2nd edition of 
our Culture Day

Reflecting on our cultural 
transformation results

€292 million 
IPO for Ferretti

The first ever Hong Kong 
and Italian dual listing

2nd tranche of 
UniCredit per l’Italia
Supporting the disposable 
income of individuals and 
households, and liquidity  

of Italian businesses

Integrated Report  
Social and Relationship Capital

June

UniCredit acted as 
financial advisor to Dufry

Supporting them with the 
acquisition of Autogrill SpA

Additional Inform
ation

Com
pany Report

Consolidated Report
Strategic Progress

Overview
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UniCredit and Trustpair 
announce partnership 

around IBAN check
Tackling fraud in B2B 
payments to protect 

our clients

Another 
record breaking 

set of results
Best 2Q and 1H ever

Hidroelectrica 
IPO in Romania

UniCredit acted as Joint 
Bookrunner in what was the 

largest IPO in Europe in 2023

Launch of €1 billion 
Green Bond for the 

Federal State of Hesse
Supporting this pioneer in 

green financing in Germany

Integrated Report  
Natural Capital

Launch of ‘Re-power your future’ 
with Junior Achievement Europe

A €6.5 million program to empower 
youth and prevent early school leaving

Integrated Report  
Social and Relationship Capital

2Q

July

MSCI upgrade UniCredit’s 
ESG rating to ‘AA’

In recognition of the banks 
efforts to mitigate social risks 

and the robust integration 
of ESG practices

2023 Milestones Timeline
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Sponsorship of  
the Louis Vuitton  

37th America’s Cup
As both a Global Partner 
and the exclusive Global 

Banking Partner

Publication of our 
Sustainability Bond Report

Setting out how our bonds 
have funded renewable energy, 

green buildings and social 
impact initiatives

Renewing our main 
partnership for Filarmonica 
della Scala’s 2024 season

Helping to foster musical excellence 
and culture in Italy and beyond

 Integrated Report  
Social and Relationship Capital

Installation of 
an innovative tree 
irrigation system

At our HQ in Hungary where 
we are now irrigating around 

200 surrounding trees

August

September

Additional Inform
ation

Com
pany Report

Consolidated Report
Strategic Progress

Overview
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The launch of  
the UniCredit’s Art 
Collection website

Making art accessible for all 
and drawing on our long tradition 

of supporting arts and culture

Integrated Report  
Social and Relationship Capital 

onemarkets 
Fund celebrates 

its first anniversary
A family of eighteen funds 
with €3 billion of assets 

under management

Continuing to deliver 
quality profitable 

growth while investing 
for the future

UniCredit and Alpha 
Services and Holdings, 

announce merger
Creating a strategic partnership 

in Romania and Greece

Opening of our Innovation 
Hub in Germany

Creating a place where 
employees can actively shape 

the future of the bank

UniCredit Foundation 
and Teach For All 

renewed partnership
Furthering our commitment to 

boosting education and teaching

 Integrated Report  
Social and Relationship Capital 

3Q

October
November

2023 Milestones Timeline
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Our inaugural ESG Day
With our mission of Empowering 

a Just and Fair Transition we 
fostered new dialogues and 

raised awareness

Bank of the Year
In a first for the bank we were 

hailed as Global ‘Bank of the Year’ 
for 2023 by The Banker

Winner of the Global 
EDGE Certification 
for gender equity 

and inclusion
The first pan-European bank 

to win this certificate

Launch of our first ever 
Kids4Kids & Donation Day

Supporting children in need 
across Europe

Our transformation journey: 
record breaking results,  

sights set on new heights

€100 million+ Equity 
Private Placement 

for D-Orbit
The largest in Italy in 2023

4Q

December

Our transformation 
continues into 2024

Additional Inform
ation

Com
pany Report

Consolidated Report
Strategic Progress

Overview
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#3
in Germany

#2
in Italy

#2
in Central EuropeA

#1
in Eastern EuropeB

UniCredit at a glance

A. Central Europe includes Austria, 
Czech Republic, Hungary, Slovakia 
and Slovenia.

B. Eastern Europe includes Bosnia 
and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, 
Romania, Russia and Serbia.

15m
customers worldwide

4
coverage regions

13
leading banks

About UniCredit Group
UniCredit is a pan-European Commercial Bank with a unique 
service offering in Italy, Germany, Central and Eastern Europe. 
Our purpose is to empower communities to progress, delivering 
the best-in-class for all stakeholders, unlocking the potential of 
our clients and our people across Europe.

We serve over 15 million customers worldwide. 
They are at the heart of what we do in all our 
markets. UniCredit is organized in four core re-
gions and two product factories, Corporate and 
Individual Solutions. This allows us to be close to 
our clients and use the scale of the entire Group 
for developing and offering the best products 

across all our markets. Digitalisation and our 
commitment to ESG principles are key enablers 
for our service. They help us deliver excellence 
to our stakeholders and creating a sustaina-
ble future for our clients, our communities and 
our people.

Where we operate
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Macroeconomic Overview
Geopolitical tensions caused by Russia-Ukraine war and potential energy crises imapcted the total economic 
activity of the Republic of Serbia in 2023, measured by the real movement of gross domestic product (GDP), 
that is estimated at RSD 7,097 billion, which is an estimated growth of 2.5% y-o-y. According to latest informa-
tion, gross investments in fixed assets in 2023 grew 3.5%comparing to last year. Trade in EUR has an upwards 
trend with exports growing a 4.5% estimated annual growth rate, while imports fell 6.0%. According to the 
latest data agricultural production made the physical volume growth of 9.0%, with industrial production grow-
ing 2.4.The value of construction works carried out in 2023 expressed the real growth of 8.9% comparing to 
last year.

According to November 2023 results, exports of goods in EUR 
have increased by 4.5% y-o-y, while imports decreased by 5.8%. 
The coverage of imports by exports is 78.7% (7.9 pp higher than 
last year). Such results in exports in the first eleven months 
were mainly driven by the electricity production with a 58.5% 
increase and exports of machinery 20.7%. When it comes to 
product structure, top five exports are: electrical machines and 
apparatus, power engines and motors, metal ores and residues, 
electricity and rubber products. Imports in first eleven months 
were mostly influenced by the mining sector, with a 24% de-
crease. Product wise, top five imports were: electrical machines 
and apparatus, oil and oil derivatives, road vehicles, medical and 
pharmaceutical products, general purpose machinery. Serbia’s 
most important trade partner in 2023 was Germany, followed by 
China and Italy. The current account deficit amounted to EUR 1 
billion in first ten months which is EUR 2,4 billion more than last 
year. The y-o-y result is caused by decreased trade deficit. Trade 
deficit amounted to EUR 2.7 billion, which is 57% lower y-o-y. 
In the first 10 months of 2023, primary income deficit was 45% 
higher (EUR 960 million increase), while the secondary income 
surplus remained almost unchanged (amounted to EUR 4.8 bil-
lion). Net FDI inflow was EUR 3.5 billion, which is an increase of 
7.7% year-on-year.

Throughout 2023, unemployment remained unchanged, stand-
ing at 9.0 % in Q3 2023 according to Labour Force Survey, un-
changed from previous quarter. In the same time, the employ-
ment rate in Q3 was 50.7%. Average monthly salary amounted 
to RSD 86,738, which represents a 15.0% (nominal) and 1.4% 
(real) y-o-y growth rate. The largest growth of wages since the 
beginning of 2023 was recorded in the financial sector.

According to the Statistical Office, y-o-y inflation was 8.0% at 
the end of November 2023, while m-o-m inflation in November 
was 0.5%. Core inflation rose slower than overall inflation (7.0%) 
mostly due to stability of the exchange rate. Food prices were the 
main drivers of inflation. YoY growth of food prices was 19.3% 
and was predominantly driven by prices of milk and dairy prod-
ucts, raw meat, fish and vegetables. NBS stated that inflation will 
continue downward trend in 2024 and is expected to return to 
target range (3 ± 1,5%) second half of 2024. RSD remained sta-
ble throughout the year, whereas NBS intervened on the market 
by continuing to buy/sell foreign currency at times of elevated 
appreciation/depreciation pressures. At the end of November, 
gross FX reserves amounted to EUR 24.2 billion, ensuring a cov-
erage for M1 money mass of 175.1% and 6.5-months-worth of 
imports of goods and services.

Since the start of the Ukraine crisis, NBS hiked its key policy rate 
by 550 bps in total, bringing the KPR from 1.0% to 6.5% at the 
end of 2023. Despite the stricter conditions and tighter monetary 
policy, the liquidity in the banking sector remains high at more 
than RSD 600 billion surplus. The surplus is mostly the result of 
NBS interventions on the FX market.

According to budget revision, consolidated fiscal deficit is es-
timated at 2.8% of GDP (previously 3.3%). The decrease was 
mainly driven by lack of planned support for the energy sector 
due to lower energy prices and higher electricity production. Ac-
cording to November 2023 data, fiscal revenues rose by 12.5% 
y-o-y, while expenditures rose by 9.7%. At the end of November, 
the consolidated deficit amounted to RSD 53 billion, while the 
national budget deficit was RSD 47 billion.

 At the end of November 2023, public debt rose to EUR 35.7 bil-
lion (51.6% of the GDP), which is an 8% y-o-y growth. In order to 
fulfil financing needs Republic of Serbia issued Eurobonds worth 
EUR 1.75bn along with bonds issued on the local capital market, 
IMF and other IFI’s.

In October 2023, Standard & Poor’s confirmed Serbia’s credit rat-
ing at BB+, with stable outlook. The agency stated that its deci-
sion is supported by the fact that Serbia’s policy is credible and 
that the impact of conflict in Ukraine appears to be contained for 
now. Fitch Ratings also confirmed Serbia’s credit rating at BB+, 
supported by a credible macroeconomic policy framework, rel-
atively low inflation, somewhat higher FX reserves and stronger 
governance, human development and GDP per capita compared 
with ‘BB’ medians.

IMF approved new EUR 2.4 billion standby arrangement to Ser-
bia in 2022. Republic of Serbia withdrew EUR 1.2 billion in 2023, 
while the remaining EUR 1.2 bn will not be withdrawn, and treat-
ed as a precaution. Funds will primarily be used to maintain en-
ergy stability caused by crisis due to the Ukraine war.
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Banking sector
The banking sector ended Q3 2023 with RSD 5,712 billion in total net assets, posting a nominal growth rate 
of 7.6% y-o-y. The consolidation trend continued at the same pace in 2023: the merger of Raiffeisen with for-
mer Credit Agricole was finalized in early May, putting Raiffeisen in third place overall in terms of total assets. 
In addition to this, AIK Banka officially became the owner of Eurobank Direktna, having been given the necessary 
approval from the National Bank of Serbia and other responsible regulatory bodies. The two banks will continue 
to operate as separate entities for the time being.

The preliminary aggregated profit before tax of all twenty banks 
amounted to RSD 108.5 billion in Q3, representing an increase of 
86.1% year-on-year. Interest income made the greatest contribu-
tion to profit growth

– net interest income increased by RSD 56.4 billion year-on-year 
(51.7%). On the other hand, the growth of fees and commissions 
income has been much slower (with an increase of RSD 3.8 billion 
or 7.0% year-on-year); while operative expenses grew much fast-
er than in 2022 due to higher inflation, with an increase of 11.1% 
year-on-year, which is just slightly above the yearly inflation level 
at the end of September 2023 (10.2%). The banking sector return 
on assets (RoA) was 2.6% at the end of the third quarter of 2023 
(1.5% in Q3 2022), while the return on equity (RoE) indicator was 
19.3% (10.9% in Q3 2022).

NBS has continued to increase its key policy rate in 2023 as well, 
in line with inflationary pressures, raising it by 150 bps between 
January and July, to the level of 6,50% where it still remains at 
the end of December. NBS has also continued mopping up liquid-
ity from the banking sector through reverse repo auctions – the 
total amount of repo sold securities stood at RSD 19,253 billion 
at the end of December, while the average weighted interest rate 
for repo sold securities was 5.55%, which is an increase of 149 
bps compared to December 2022.

The monetary policy tightening by both NBS and other central 
banks has continued to push interest rates on new loans up-
wards in 2023 as well. The interest rates on new dinar loans 
for businesses and citizens were at a higher level compared to 
the end of last year and at the end of November reached 12.7% 
for households and 8.3% for businesses (compared to 12.3% 
and 7.3% at the end of 2022, respectively); there has been a 
mild drop in interest rates during the last quarter, especially 
on loans to households. The interest rates for new EUR loans 
also saw an increase in both segments – at the end of Novem-
ber they reached 7.0% for businesses and 6.4% for households 
(compared to 5.1% and 5.9% respectively for year-end 2021). 
The NBS has continued introducing measures aimed at easi-
er loan repayment and easier access to new credit throughout 
2023 as well. Due to considerable growth in interest rates on 
housing loans, in September NBS made a decision to cap nom-
inal interest rates on housing loans in the amount of up to EUR 
200,000 until the end of 2024. According to the terms of this 
decision, the nominal interest rates on all loans disbursed un-
til 30 July 2022 is capped at 4.08%; while for all loans which 

were disbursed between 31 July 2022 and the date this deci-
sion comes into effect, and whose initial nominal interest rate 
was higher than 4.08%, the debtors’ monthly payments will 
be reduced until the end of 2024, in line with the initial pay-
ment schedule.

The growth of total gross loans was considerably slower in 2023, 
and their total volume at the end of 3Q was practically un-
changed year-on-year (0.1% higher). This slowdown of credit ac-
tivity was the result of several factors: high base from last year, 
maturing of loans from the guarantee scheme, higher interest 
rates as the consequence of monetary policy tightening, as well 
as banks’ tighter lending standards. As of September, corporate 
loans were 1.8% lower year on year, while household loans were 
1.6% higher. In the first nine months of 2022, the corporate loan 
growth was mostly driven by demand for investment loans and 
working capital loans. Interest rates on new RSD corporate loans 
have continued to grow in 2023, with most of the growth

 taking place in the first quarter. Average weighted interest rate 
on new RSD corporate loans rose by 1.3 pp over the first nine 
months of 2023, which is less than same period last year; the 
two types of loans that saw the greatest increase have been 
investment loans (1.5 pp) and working capital loans (1.3 pp). 
Interest rates on EUR loans have also increased in 2023 – aver-
age rates on new EUR corporate loans increased by 1.9 pp over 
the first nine months of 2023; a little over half of this increase 
took place during the first quarter (1.1 pp). Share of liquidity and 
working capital loans in total corporate loans stood at 46.7% 
at the end of September (lower compared to same period last 
year), while the share of investment loans was 41.6% (higher 
compared to last year).

Household demand for loans also slowed down considera-
bly in 2023, mostly as a consequence of rising interest rates. 
The growth was almost entirely driven by cash loans, especially 
starting from the second quarter, and their total volume at the 
end of September was 2.2% higher year-on-year; whereas hous-
ing loans were 1.7% higher y-o-y at the end of September (their 
growth in the first two quarters was entirely offset by a drop in 
the third quarter). However, the respective share of cash (44.3%) 
and housing loans (39.7%) in total household loans at the end of 
September remained practically unchanged from last year.

The ‘dinarization’ of loans kept falling throughout 2023, so that 
the share of RSD loans in total loans stood at 33.8% at the 

Serbian Financial Sector
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end of September (which is 1.3 pp down from YE 2022 level). 
The dinarization of household loans fell during the first quarter 
and then increased during the following two, reaching 53.6% 
at the end of September (0.4 pp down from YE 2022 level). 
This change comes as a consequence of growing cash loans 
(which are mostly RSD denominated), coupled with a relative 
decline in mostly EUR denominated housing loans. The share of 
RSD corporate loans was on the decline throughout 2023 and 
stood at 16.3% at the end of September, which is a 3.1 pp de-
crease from YE 2022 level. This decline is the result of loans from 
the guarantee scheme reaching maturity, most of which were 
RSD denominated (more than 60%).

The share of RSD deposits of households and corporates in total 
deposits at the end of Q3 2023 reached 41.9%, which was 1.8 
percentage points higher than the end of 2022 and the highest 
level since 2012. The share of RSD deposits compared to the end 
of 2021 rose both in household and corporate segment over the 
first half of 2023. The degree of deposit dinarization of corporate 
sector reached 59.4% at the end of June and it is 1.1 pp higher 
compared to the end of last year. This rise in corporate deposit 
dinarization was the result of the steady increase in RSD deposits 
throughout the first half of 2023, as well as a significant drop in 
foreign currency deposits in the second quarter, which offset the 
increase from the first quarter, leaving the corporate currency 
deposits at the end of June virtually unchanged from their YE 
2022 level. The share of RSD household deposits stood at 28.4% 
at the end of June, which is 0.8 pp higher compared to the end of 
last year. Following the sudden decrease from early 2022 short-

ly after the outbreak of Ukraine conflict, RSD household savings 
returned to growth starting from June 2022 and accelerating 
in particular starting from November 2022, reaching the level 
of RSD 108.7 billion at the end of June 2023. The share of RSD 
savings in total household savings consequently increased in 
2023, reaching 6.2% at the end of June (0.6 pp up from YE 2022 
level). Foreign currency deposits at the end of Q2 2023 totalled 
EUR 13.9 billion. Ratio of loans to deposits, which was 78.6% at 
the end of September 2023 speaks about the stable structure of 
banking sector funding.

At the end of the third quarter of 2023, the banking sector 
employed 21,873 people, which represents a decrease of 203 
employees compared to the same period last year. The branch 
network consisted of 1,349 different organizational units, a re-
duction of 53 units in a period of twelve months.

At the end of the third quarter of 2023, the average capital ade-
quacy ratio of the banking sector amounted to 20.5%, which is 
significantly higher than the required minimum of 8% and also 
1,7 percentage points higher than at the end of 2022.

The NPL ratio remained close to 3% level throughout 2023 
and stood at 3.17% at the end of September, basically at the 
same level as September last year (3.19%). Banks continued to 
keep sufficient provisioning levels in order to provide protection 
against credit losses, covering the NPLs with 58.7% of IFRS provi-
sions as of September 2023 (which is a bit higher than same time 
last year, when NPL coverage ratio stood at 57.2%).

Leasing sector
At the end of third quarter 2023, according to the statistics of the National Bank of Serbia, 15 financial leasing 
companies were operating on the Serbian market with total assets reaching RSD 158 billion. Total receivables, 
in absolute terms, amounted to RSD 146.3 billion and were 15% higher compared to the third quarter 2022 
(RSD 127.1 billion).

The major part of receivables were receivables indexed in for-
eign currency (99%), the same as last year. Looking at economic 
sectors distribution, the biggest portion of financing was relat-
ed to legal entities including privately owned companies, small 
businesses and entrepreneurs – 87.2% (or RSD 130.7 billion in 
total), public sector 0.1% (or RSD 184 million in total) and private 
individuals 12.2% (or RSD 18.3 billion in total).

 According to Association of Leasing Companies data, financial 
leasing institutions in 2023 were still financing mainly vehicles 
out of which 53% were passenger vehicles and 28% were trucks, 
trailers and buses. In terms of business activity, 27.2% of leasing 

financing was in transport, storage and IT communication sector, 
15.1% in trade and automotive repair, 12% in construction and 
real estate, 11.3% in processing industry, water supply and waste 
management, and 1.6% in agriculture, forestry and fisheries.

By the end of third quarter of 2023 in Serbia the number of new 
vehicles financed through leasing in Serbia was 7,430 (passen-
ger cars and light commercial vehicles) which was 2.8% higher 
than in the same period previous year. Share of new vehicles pur-
chased via leasing in total number of new vehicles sold remains 
without significant changes compared to the previous year and 
amounted to 32.4%.
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UniCredit Bank Serbia, consolidated financial statements 
(UniCredit Bank Serbia JSC Belgrade, UniCredit Leasing Serbia LLC Belgrade, UniCredit Partner LLC Belgrade) 

in thousands RSD 2023 2022 Change

Income statement

Net interest income 24,916,351 15,637,261 59,3%

Net fee and commission income 8,211,278 7,409,387 10,8%

Other non-interest income 1,124,610 1,187,226 -5,3%

Operating expenses -11,550,000 -11,383,822 1,5%

Net impairment loss on financial assets -1,746,337 -3,449,330 -49,4%

Profit after tax 18,406,762 8,500,290 116,5%

Balance sheet

Loans and receivables to banks 63,006,391 75,893,639 -17,0%

Loans and receivables to customers 344,469,707 328,843,714 4,8%

Deposits and other liabilities to banks 146,166,777 139,195,655 5,0%

Deposits and other liabilities to customers 389,735,404 358,140,581 8,8%

Equity 97,464,943 84,163,127 15,8%

Total balance sheet assets 653,515,628 598,342,877 9,2%

Capital adequacy

Total risk weighted assets 388,313,470 353,504,634 9,8%

Regulatory capital 76,582,486 75,303,033 1,7%

Capital adequacy ratio 19,72% 21,30% -158 bp

Key performance indicators

Cost/Income ratio 33,7% 47,0% -1325 bp

ROA (Return on assets after tax) 2,9% 1,5% 146 bp

ROE (Return on equity after tax) 20,3% 10,0% 1023 bp

Loans to Deposits ratio 88,4% 91,8% -343 bp

Asset(avg)/Number of employees(avg) 451,934 415,075 8,9%

Cost of risk 0,5% 1,1% -54 bp

Resources

Number of employees 1374 1396 -22

Number of branches 72 72 0

Consolidated Financial Performance of 
UniCredit Bank Serbia in 2023
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In 2023, the Bank confirmed its strong commitment to continu-
ous growth and preservation of high standards in terms of prof-
itability, productivity and efficiency. According to Q3 2023 data, 
the Bank was ranked as fourth on the market in terms of total 
assets, with a market share of 10.5%, one position lower com-
pared to previous year, due to bank mergers and acquisitions on 
the domestic market and the non-organic balance sheet growth 
which were

 continued in 2023. Total assets at the end of December 2023 
stood at RSD 638.2 billion and achieved a growth rate of 9.5% 
compared to year-end 2021.

The Bank achieved annual growth of net loans of 4,9%, better 
result compared to previous year (2022 1,4%), which helped the 
Bank maintained a high market share in net loans to customers 
(10.4% based on Q3 2023 data). The growth was driven by the 
corporate sector lending activity followed by retail sector lending 
in smaller amount.

Besides the expansion of the largest asset category – the cus-
tomer loan portfolio, the bank continued to invest into debt in-
struments with high degree of security, mostly consist of sov-
ereign bonds of the Republic of Serbia. On contrary to previous 
year when the Bank was focused on achieving a positive financial 
result from their sales, in 2023 the Bank restructured its debt 
instruments portfolio reducing participation of trading instru-
ments and instruments available for trading, increasing share of 
long term instrument with intention of holding it to maturity, si-
multaneously reducing the size of portfolio compared to previous 
year in amount of 5.9%.

The aforementioned growth of assets was financed with an ex-
traordinary growth of customer deposits of 8.8% compared to 
the previous year, where both the corporate and retail sector 
achieved strong growth rates compared to the year before of 
8.9% and 13%, respectively. A strong growth of the customer de-
posit base compared to the growth of credit portfolio resulted in 
the reduction of the customer loan to deposit ratio, which ended 
the year at a level of 83.9%, which represents a decline compared 
to year-end 2022 when it amounted to 87.1%. A continuous im-
provement of the deposit base, on both corporate and retail side 
can be seen as a confirmation of UniCredit Bank’s image as one 
of the most sound and reliable banks on the local market.

During 2023, the Bank achieved a strong growth in net interest 
income of 60.6% compared to the previous year. The movement 
of net interest income compared to the same period of the pre-
vious year is largely the result of reference rates hike of the cen-
tral banks of almost all leading countries, which began in the 
third quarter of 2022. The increase in reference interest rates 
caused the growth of all rates on the money market (Belibor, 
Euribor), which led to higher interest rates on dinar and for-
eign exchange-indexed volumes of client loans and securities. 
The dynamics of interest rate growth was partially mitigated by 
price pressures due to strong competition in the retail banking 
segment, as well as by the stabilization of reference interest 
rates of central banks during the fourth quarter of 2023.

Increase of net interest income was followed by the growth of 
net income from fees and commissions, which increased 10.9% 
compared to end of previous year. This increase in net income 
from fees and commissions was a result of the higher volume of 
transactions and usage of digital channels.

Changes in net expenditures from financial assets impairment 
were determined by decrease of provisions due to rating up-
grades and collection from existing defaults in Corporate and 
positive adjustments of future macroeconomic changes (forward 
looking information) in Retail. Moreover, the Bank continued with 
the successful management of NPLs, which was confirmed by 
keeping the ratio on a low and stable level which at the end of 
December 2024 stood at the level of 4.1%.

At the end of 2023, the Bank achieved a net profit after taxes of 
RSD 18.5 billion, which represents an increase of 120.3% com-
pared to result of previous year. The return on equity indicator 
(ROE) also grew at the end of 2023 and stood at 20.6%, which 
is 1,019 basis points more compared to previous year. Herewith, 
the Bank confirmed its earning capability in conditions of eco-
nomic uncertainty thanks to a stable and sustainable business 
practice focused on creating value for its clients. Apart from tra-
ditional commercial banking, the Bank also continued with suc-
cessful trading with financial instruments as one of the leaders 
on both local and international market.

The achieved cost-to-income ratio of 33.3% is below the industry 
average, with which the Bank confirmed once again its ability 
to maintain high standards in terms of operational efficiency. 
The indicator is somewhat lower compared to the year before 
(47.2% at the end of 2021), despite the fact that this year was 
also burdened with high inflation expectation and somewhat 
still increased provisions for lawsuits against the banks. On the 
cost side, the bank continued to invest in its employees and ICT 
infrastructure. Parallel with the increase in salaries and wag-
es, the growth of operating expenses and depreciation was to 
a large extent attributable to the growth of ICT expenses and 
investments since the Bank continued to invest in the digital 
transformation of its business model in order to create addi-
tional value for all its stakeholders. For the clients that means 
access to more innovative products, which come with simplified 
procedures, while for its employees it created room for time opti-
mization, increased automation and higher efficiency, which will 
in turn have a favourable effect on the reduction of operating 
expenses over time.

In accordance with its strategic commitment to the digital trans-
formation of its business model, the bank continued to increase 
the participation of clients using the Bank’s digital business chan-
nels in 2023. In addition to corporate clients who have already 
seen the benefits of digital business channels to a good extent, 
in 2023 significant results were achieved within digital business 
and in the retail business segment too. The number of active us-
ers of the mBanking application increased by 6.6% compared to 
the end of 2022, making more than 67% of the total client base 
in Retail segment active on mBanking in a period of 30 days.
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UniCredit Leasing d.o.o. during 2023, achieved a growth rate of 
its loan portfolio in the amount of 2%, which is a much lower 
growth rate compared to the rate from 2022, which was 14%. 
The lower growth rate is primarily caused

 by the decline in new jobs, which in 2023 were 13.6% lower than 
in the previous year. Consequently, the market share in new busi-
ness financing decreased to 9.8% at the end of the third quarter 
of 2023. And during 2023, the focus of UniCredit Leasing was 
on strengthening cooperation with suppliers, supporting the seg-
ment of small and medium enterprises, construction, agriculture 
and the IT industry, as well as on innovation and development of 
tools for faster and easier processing of client requests.

According to its strategy, the Bank liquidated its associated legal 
entity UniCredit Partner d.o.o. in December 2023. Services related 
to representation in insurance were completly transfered to Uni-
Credit Leaseing d.o.o.. UniCredit Partner had net result of 10 mil-
lion dinars in 2023.

Overall, on a consolidated basis, UniCredit Bank Serbia complet-
ed the business year of 2023 with excellent results taking into 
consideration the economic uncertainty which marked the 2023 
as well, and continued to build long-term partnerships with its 
customers and to fully support the local economy.

With a total consolidated capital adequacy ratio of 19,72% at 
the end of 2023, UniCredit Bank Serbia maintains a solid capital 
base, fully comprised of high-quality common equity tier one in-
struments and significantly exceeds the regulatory requirements 
for total combined capital buffers.

The Bank is under the control of UniCredit S.p.A. Milan, domiciled 
and registered in Italy, which is the sole owner of the Banks’s 
common stock shares (100%). Related parties of the Group are: 
parent bank, entities that are members of the same group or are 
under joint control, members of the Board of Directors and the 
Audit Committee, the Management Board and managers who 
as members of the Group’s board (ALCO and credit committees) 
have the authority and responsibility to plan, direct and control 
the activities of the Group (“key executives”), close family mem-
bers of key executives, as well as legal entities that are under the 
control or influence of key executives and close members of their 
families, in accordance with IAS 24. In the normal course of busi-
ness, a number of banking transactions are performed with relat-
ed parties. These include loans, deposits, investments in equity 
securities and derivative instruments. Related party transactions 
are performed at arm’s length principle.
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Strategy for the Upcoming Period
Three-year plan 2024-2026 of UniCredit Bank Serbia is a part of new Group Strategic plan UniCredit Unlocked, 
which optimizes the Group’s operations and builds a clear long-term program for tomorrow, while moving into an 
era of purpose, growth and value creation for all our stakeholders. UniCredit Unlocked delivers the following strategic 
imperatives and financial ambitions:

UniCredit Unlocked will deliver sustainable performance and profitable growth over in the next three years, 
via a combination of three interacting levers, optimally balancing growth, strength and profitability:

The Bank’s Multi-Year plan assumes full enforcement and alignment with all regulatory requests and 
set limits while achieving balanced growth. The plan also assumes keeping a strong track record of out-
performing the market in terms of business growth, operating profitability and efficiency, with a focus on 
further process and system improvements, along with the aim to improve the portfolio quality and enlarge 
the active client base, in order to enable sustainable growth.

The Bank 
for Europe’s

Future

Cost

Capital

Net 
Revenue

Optimal capital allocation, 
generating organic capital from 
increased profitability and 
capital-light model, optimal capital 
allocation and active portfolio 
management;

Cost efficiency, deliver a lower 
absolute cost base while funding 
Digital & Data transformation and 
investing in the Business; 

Net revenue growth, that delivers 
profitability above the cost of equity 
and recovery of market share.

Grow in our regions and develop our client base: sustainable growth both from our existing and 
new clients, together with developing best-in-class product and services, either in house or with 
external partners;

Change our business model and how our people operate: grow capital-light business, focusing 
on value-added products and services for clients, together with targeted cost efficiency to fund 
investment and deliver operating leverage;

Deliver economies of scale from our footprint of banks that provides us with diversification, client 
access, multicultural mindset and cross-border operations;

Transform our technology leveraging Digital and Data to create more personalized service and a 
more efficient bank for all of our clients;

Embed sustainability in all what we do – strong internal ESG ambitions while supporting clients in 
their green and social transition.
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SUPERVISORY BOARD
Martin Klauzer, Chairman 

Nevena Nikše, Member 
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Corporates
In 2023, Corporates was oriented towards additional strengthening of its position on the market through 
growth across all business segments while supporting both the public and the private sector and providing 
the best service for all clients, deploying innovative solutions to improve its business, processes and prod-
ucts. The additional effort has been made to support the economic recovery after the negative effects of Rus-
sia-Ukraine crisis. The Division continuously brings the Group’s worldwide expertise to support local innovation, 
product development and economic growth.

The loan portfolio of Corporates amounted to RSD 209.8 billion 
at the end of 2023 with an annual growth rate of 6%, whilst 
deposits amounted to RSD 258 billion, a 9% increase. The total 
number of clients at the end of Y2023 was 6054.

Client risk management and Treasury sustained the Bank’s lead-
ing position on the domestic market. According to NBS data for 
2023, UniCredit Bank was ranked second in foreign exchange 
transactions with residents, with a market share of 16.7%, and 
in first place in foreign exchange trade with non-residents, with 
a market share of 33.9%. UniCredit Bank kept the first position 
in the interbank market in euros with a market share of 22.9%.

During 2023, the Bank continued to promote hedging products, 
emphasizing protection against fluctuations in interest rates, 
exchange rates and variations of prices in the commodity mar-
ket. Towards the end of the year, the Bank successfully complet-
ed the implementation of the client’s online platform for for-
eign exchange trading and thus enabled its clients to conclude 
foreign exchange purchase and sale transactions more quickly 
and easily. The Bank strove to be competitive with its innova-
tive approach and thus confirmed its leadership position in the 
design and distribution of these products. The bank maintained 
its leading position in the trading of financial instruments on 
the secondary market, with a share of 19.6%, as well as a sig-
nificant presence on the primary market with a share of 17%. 
According to the NBS report on the interbank REPO market, Uni-
Credit Bank participated in 100% of the transactions reported 
by the NBS for 2023.

The Bank continued to support enterprises with long-term 
investment plans and ventures, as well as those that require 
working capital financing. With the aim to strengthen compet-
itiveness and entrepreneurship, UniCredit secured an easier ac-
cess to financing through the guarantee scheme program that 
enable reduced collateral requirements through the COSME 
guarantee program. The COSME program covers loans of up 
to EUR 150,000.. Under the Social Impact Banking and Impact 
Financing programs, the Bank aims to support projects that 
generate a clear and measurable positive impact on the social 
community, with a particular focus on hiring of endangered cat-
egories and social inclusion, as well as providing support for 
projects in devastated and underdeveloped regions in Serbia.

Corporates continued to focus on providing support for ex-
port-oriented industries, with a strong belief in their impor-
tance for Serbia’s economic growth and the implementation of 
the economic and industry strategy of the Republic of Serbia. 
The Division focused on expanding the cooperation with the 

existing clients and the acquisition of new clients in a range 
of industries that have been recording positive growth rates 
or possess a significant recovery potential, as well as on the 
expansion of the SME client base. It also continued financing 
the public sector (central and local self-governments), while 
it continued working on improving public services for citizens. 
In addition to the above, the division strived to deepen and 
further increase long-term partnerships with new and existing 
customers based on reciprocity and trust. Related improvement 
and optimization of risk-adjusted pricing policy was a part of 
the year-round agenda in order to better capture the risk pro-
file of a client and provide an adequate reward for the risk as-
sumed. Corporates customer satisfaction represents a crucial 
indicator of a successful partnership with all our customers.

In 2024, Corporates will aim to maintain its leading position on 
the local FX, money and capital markets. Business processes 
efficiency and effectiveness represent a key factor for achieving 
business goals and the entire Division structure will be proac-
tively involved in the improvement, digitalization and automa-
tion of processes in 2024. In pursuit of this vision, the focus will 
be on: the reduction of concentration along business segments 
and increasing the share in the clients’ portfolio by strength-
ening relationships, further innovation of the product portfolio 
by implementing new products, increasing the penetration in 
the segment of small and medium-sized enterprises, providing 
support for public projects, diversification of the customer port-
folio and revenue base as well as increasing the loan portfolio 
balance in terms of the currency structure.

UniCredit Leasing (UCL) recorded an annual growth rate of 2% 
with a portfolio totalling RSD 18 billion at the end of 2023.

In 2023, UCL posted new financing in the amount of EUR 
77.6 million, which was 13.6% lower than last year. According to 
Association of Leasing Companies data, at the end of the third 
quarter, UCL market share in new business financing amounted 
to 9.8%.

At the end of Q3 2023, UCL was 4th on the market in the seg-
ment of Equipment financing, with EUR 11 million of new fi-
nancing and a market share of 13%, while in the segment of 
Vehicles, UCL was 7th on the market with EUR

30.4 million of new financing and a market share of 11%.

During 2023, UniCredit Leasing focused on strengthening its 
cooperation with vendors, supporting the SME segment, con-
struction, agriculture and the IT industry sectors as well as on 
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innovation and developing tools for faster and easier processing 
of client requests. UniCredit Leasing successfully continued to 
provide subsidy programs and easier financing access through 
EBRD funds and state-supported programs. Special attention 
was dedicated to green economy and sustainable energy pro-
grams, where UCL will continue to contribute in coming years.
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Retail Banking
Despite the complex business environment caused by global political tensions and their consequences in terms 
of high inflation and significant increase of reference interest rates, Retail Banking maintained growth during 
2023. Total Retail loan portfolio increased by 1.8% y-o-y, while deposits volume achieved annual growth of 
11.1%.
Clients continued to show the trust in the Bank’s products, as 
well as the quality and reliability of services. In the segment of 
Private Individuals (PI), key credit products in 2023 were cash 
loans with the insurance coverage in case of unemployment. 
Despite the continuous increase of client interest rates, especial-
ly during H1 2023, solid growth of PI lending portfolio by almost 
2.4% was achieved as well as increase of market share for 10bps 
of which major contribution came from cash loans which volume 
increased for 5% compared to 2022. Despite challenging macro-
economic environment Bank managed to maintain loan portfolio 
level in Micro segment.

UniCredit is recognized as one of the most reliable banks on the 
local market even during a crisis, considering that PI deposits vol-
ume achieved outstanding growth of 12.1% compared to 2022 
as well as record-high market share in PI deposits (+8bps com-
pared to 2022).

UniCredit bank is recognized as long-term partner which is sup-
ported by the fact that salary client base increased for 8% com-
pared to 2022.

Year 2023 was a year of further growth of digital banking. 
The number of active m-banking users increased by 6.6% 
y-o-y, meaning that more than 67% of all clients were active 
on mBanking in a period of 30 days. In accordance with mod-
ern trends and greater client expectations, digitalization as a 
concept of business modernization is still one of main priorities. 
Some of most important digital improvements executed during 
2023 in the PI segment are approval and realization of cash loans 
through mbanking application without branch visit, term deposit 
contracting and package change both remotely as well as imple-
mentation of Phone bot solution.

In following period Bank will continue to support growth and fur-
ther expansion of Micro business through specially created of-
fers.

In the upcoming period, focus will remain on automation and 
simplification of procedures, with the aim of improving the ef-
ficiency of business processes. The goal is to continue with the 
sustainable increase of market share based on good relation-
ships with customers. When it comes to loan products, in ad-
dition to cash and housing loans, special focus will be on credit 
cards, which, along with standard possibilities for payments for 
goods and services in country and abroad, as well as online, will 
also have additional special features for benefits in line with cli-
ent needs.

Additionally, the Bank will focus on automation of key processes 
within the Bank in the upcoming period, aiming to reduce time 
needed for loan approval and granting. Regarding this, work will 

be done to improve the automation of the loan granting process 
for the Micro segment, as well as housing loans as product that 
is crucial for long-term cooperation with PIs, for the purpose of 
further improving customer experience.

That UniCredit is a bank that maintains a wide range of products 
is also evidenced by the fact that we are continuously expanding 
our cooperation with the agricultural sector, actively participat-
ing in all subsidy and support programs for this sector, and ac-
tively tailoring our current product offer for the needs of agricul-
tural holdings, primarily on the territory of Vojvodina.

The recognition as a socially responsible institution is of great 
importance for the Bank, considering its commitment to environ-
mental financing in order to protect the environment and raise 
awareness of all market participants.

.
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Risk Management

1 Within Risk Management there is also a structure in charge of non-financial risks

Risk Management1 is organised to cover risk management, 
through the work of the following structures:

 – Strategic, Credit & Integrated Risks (which includes the struc-
tures: Collateral Management, Credit Risk Control & Integrat-
ed Risks, Credit Risk Modelling and Credit Process & Policies);

 – Credit Risk Operations (which includes the structures: Retail 
Credit Operations, Large Corporate Underwriting, Small Cor-
porate Underwriting, Corporate Monitoring and Corporate 
Special Credit);

 – Financial Risks;

 – Internal Validation.

They all report to the Management Board Member in charge of 
Risk Management, which ensures there is no conflict of interest 
and separation of risk management activities from other regu-
lar business activities.

In order to define a consistent policy for the lending activity and 
a general framework for risk management, each year, the Bank 
makes a Credit Risk Management Strategy for retail and cor-
porate segment. The Strategy includes general guidelines for 
the basic parameters of risk management, principles of analy-
sis of the creditworthiness of each customer segment, and the 
determination of the direction of development of individual 
products, as well as a detailed review of portfolio development 
strategies by individual industries. In this way, the Bank pro-
vides that adopted business policies are carried out within the 
framework that will result in an acceptable level of credit risk 
at the level of individual sales and adequate diversification and 
general quality of the loan portfolio. The Bank also takes into 
account the analysis of money laundering and terrorist financ-
ing risk when deciding on the assumption of credit risk.

The focus in 2023 was on assessing and controlling the poten-
tial negative effects induced by overall crisis related to world 
conflicts but also negative market trends in several industries 
(e.g. Agriculture, Construction), and its impact on our portfolio.

Identification, measurement, control and management of cred-
it risk on the portfolio level is based on the reporting system, 
which provides information about the condition, quality and 
evolution of the loan portfolio. During 2023, there was a conti-
nuity of credit risk measurement process improvement through 
implementation of methodological changes relating to IFRS 9 
and CRWA, as well as the calculation of economic capital for 
certain risks within pillar 2. The main focus was placed on the 
quantification of the potential negative effects resulting from 
geo-political situation, the growth of energy costs, inflation and 
interest rates on assessment of expected credit losses for cer-
tain vulnerable segments of portfolio, as well as on quantifica-
tion through the stress test results..

When it comes to Basel Standard implementation, the focus of 
activities was on developing new internal rating model for legal 
entities, development of new exposure at default model, termi-
nation of application model for internal rating for cash based 
entrepreneurs and automatizing the rating approval process in 
segment of entrepreneurs and small business as well as adjust-
ing the flat rating for Leasing. In the field of IFRS 9 standards, 
IFRS9 methodology simplification project has been initiated by 
the Group, in which we have developed a new transfer logic 
model which is used for quantifying significant increase in cred-
it risk.

During 2023, several projects/initiatives were implemented 
and launched that provided continuous monitoring of key risk 
indicators from various fields:

 – Start of implementation Basel 4 project regarding change 
of regulation related to RWA calculation with the first time 
adoption from January 2025 (CRR III Regulation),

 – Activities on establishment and implementation of the regu-
latory framework related to the improvement of second level 
control (2LC framework) have been initiated;

 – The framework for calculation of economic capital for exist-
ing risks under Pilar 2 was improved, ESG risk quantification 
approach was established in line with Group methodology.

 – An agreement on participation in the risk between the Bank 
and Leasing was implemented for few cases through the so-
called Risk Participation Agreement, through which the Bank 
accepts to participate in risk sharing through the insurance of 
a part of the Leasing portfolio,

 – The back testing framework for individual assessment (hair-
cuts for collaterals), for the effectiveness of implemented 
forbearance measures, as well as reporting related to annual 
and lifetime recovery, was improved,

 – Intensive activities on adjustment of the credit process for 
the largest corporate clients have been initiated in terms of 
the impact of the climate risks (transition and physical risk) 
in such a way that the exposure to climate risks becomes 
part of the credit strategy towards these clients during 2024.

Regarding Corporate monitoring, bearing in mind overall world 
crisis, the increased monitoring of warning signals, clients and 
portfolios, and the implementation of various measures aimed 
at reducing risks in cooperation with clients who are on high-
risk client watch lists, is continued. In addition to the existing 
monitoring list of clients with increased risk (“watch list”). 
Beside this, additional measures in automation of warning sig-
nal with optimizing process for SME segment were taken.

The bank continued with the comprehensive analysis of the ex-
isting monitoring process, both on its own initiative and in ac-
cordance with audit measures and process changes dictated by 
the Group, all with the aim of improving its efficiency and effec-

47

Risk M
anagem

ent

UniCredit 2023 Annual Reports and Accounts



tiveness, in order to recognize risks earlier and to ensure a time-
ly reaction of the Bank. During 2023, the trend of fluctuations of 
clients to and from watch lists continued, while the number of 
clients on watch lists is increased along with increased number 
of clients transferred from Watch list to worse categories.

Regarding the Corporate Special Credit, besides its regular ac-
tivities, Corporate Restructuring remained focused on timely 
recognition of problematic exposures (NPE) also by utilization 
of more intensive communication and coordination with Corpo-
rate Underwriting structures and Corporate Monitoring. Also, 
effects that global crisis has on general business environment 
and possibilities of clients’ recovery are regularly monitored. 
Just like in previous year, during 2023 significant reduction in 
problematic loans in restructuring was recorded, through reg-
ular collection, collection from collateral and non-core assets 
(voluntary sale), as well as the return of a number of clients 
to performing status. The fluctuation of clients in restructur-
ing portfolio was on a regular basis. At the end of 2023, the 
number of restructuring clients has not changed significantly 
compared to the end of the previous year, which is the result 
of a balanced influx of new clients and the return of exist-
ing clients to the standard portfolio or referral to collection. 
Besides the fact that a few large exposures were transferred 
to Corporate Restructuring, some of the clients with large ex-
posures were transferred to Standard portfolio or fully closed 
(repaid). Some restructurings included larger number of banks 
and were based on INSOL principles for managing problematic 
exposures and clients.

Corporate Workout continued with collection for Client from 
CWO portfolio, through court processes. In 2023 in several oc-
casions CWO realized selling of receivables, for clients on off 
balance and balance accounts, which had positive results on 
NPL reduction on Bank level.

In the Retail segment, for private individuals, small businesses, 
entrepreneurs, registered agricultural holdings, as well as com-
panies, the focus in 2023 was on increasing the efficiency of all 
processes, through the audit of the process steps and activities 
on the development of new automated technical tools for loan 
approval, as well as the improvement of existing ones, then on 
the improvement of the process of loans monitoring and collec-
tion, as well NPL reduction.

During 2023, Collateral Statistical Monitoring was completed 
as well as further improvement of cooperation with external 
associates: valuation companies, licensed appraisers, insur-
ance companies, monitoring companies and lender supervi-
sors. Aside from that, general improvements of collateral man-
agement process and practice were also implemented through 
more agile acquisition of valuations, insurance policies, more 
detailed tracking of mortgage inscriptions, increased involve-
ment of lawyers in the registration of mortgages etc. The Bank 
was adequately delivering regular monthly reports regarding 
real estate valuations to NBS, which are used for loan process-
ing purposes.

In the area of financial risks management, the focus of activity 
was on the improvement of standards in the control and man-
agement of market, interest and liquidity risk.

In the area of market risk management, significant part of the 
activity was devoted to the careful monitoring and analysis of 
events on the local and world markets, as well as the move-
ment of the main macroeconomic indicators.

In the area of interest rate risk management, the scenarios used 
in monitoring interest rate risk exposure in the banking book 
were updated in accordance with the latest EBA standards.

In the domain of liquidity risk, structural liquidity reports were 
improved, activities were carried out to update scenarios and 
assumptions used during stress tests, risk identification pro-
cesses that could lead to increased exposure to liquidity risk 
were improved, as well as processes for independent assess-
ment of the adequacy of the bank’s financing plan in regular 
and in unforeseen circumstances.

One of the very important goals of the Bank in the field of risk 
management is to achieve and maintain all standards in the 
control and management of non-financial risks, in accordance 
with the established system of identification, assessment 
and control of these risks. The Bank manages operational risk 
through: collection and validation of data on internal losses, 
analysis of scenarios in order to estimate maximum losses, 
monitoring of key risk indicators (KRI), self-assessment of oper-
ational risks (RCSA), analysis of key risks for the Bank, analysis 
of operational and reputational risk of entrusting the relevant 
activities of the Bank to a third party, analysis of operational 
and reputational risk when introducing a new product or signif-
icant product changes, analysis of operational risk of informa-
tion systems and cyber risk. Evaluation of the reputational risk 
of clients/initiatives/transactions/projects/ and other topics 
for which there is identification of potential high reputational 
risk is carried out within the Committee for Non-Financial Risks 
(NFRC) - Subcommittee for Reputational Risk.

Based on the foregoing, it can be concluded that during 2023 
the Bank enhanced risk management system, which, along 
with its capital adequacy and profitability levels, guarantying 
an adequate management and coverage of the risks to which 
the Bank is exposed.

Integrated risk management function within which, in ac-
cordance with the Law on financial leasing, UniCredit Leasing 
entrusted the tasks of identifying, measuring, assessing and 
managing risks to the risk management function of the Bank, 
was dedicated to improvement of economies of scale in credit 
business, support in commercial actions and credit process op-
timization.

Risk Management will continue with the efforts and actions 
aimed at improving the system of management of all risks to 
which the Bank is exposed in its operations. Special focus is 
planned towards further enhancement of the credit process in 
order to improve efficiency, as well as on creating a compara-
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tive advantage in the market through process optimization on 
one hand, and through improvement of the tools for identifying 
and mitigation of credit risk, on the other hand. In that way, ad-
equate support to all organizational structures will be secured. 
In 2024 one of the main goals is to maintain and improve port-
folio quality and enable base for sustainable growth with focus 
on further portfolio diversification, but always using proactive 
approach toward risk management enabling new client acqui-
sition.
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Banking Support
During 2023, additional focus of employees was placed on pro-
cess optimization and digitization, modernization and energy 
efficiency, all with the aim of improved client experience, more 
efficient work of employees, and the adoption of the principle of 
reasonable energy use.

In 2023, we continued with further industrialization of the Bank’s 
microservice architecture aligning with the strategic plan to use 
the DevOps methodology. In this sense, several applications 
based on the “modern stack” (for example, modern JavaScript 
frameworks like Angular, as well as modern backend technolo-
gies and databases) were developed relying exclusively on the 
internal resources. The applications were automated using the 
DevOps methodology and the microservice framework, all in line 
with the modern industrial standards.

Also, the focus was on the development and improvement of the 
platform for credit processes and further digitization in both seg-
ments, as well as on the presence and promotion of digital chan-
nels through digital services and platforms for document ex-
change.

Agile methodology was applied in the implementation of several 
projects with the aim to increase efficiency and faster achieve-
ment of project goals.

In cooperation with the Digital & Information structure, Security 
has initiated and implemented a series of improvements in the 
field of cyber security, focusing on the protection of information 
and the constant action against numerous cyber threats that are 
on the rise, by implementing new as well as upgrading existing 
tools and processes, not neglecting education and spreading 
awareness among employees, as well as investing in the profes-
sional knowledge of employees. Particular challenges are repre-
sented by the increasing activities of ransomware groups as well 
as phishing campaigns. In the aforementioned process, and in 
accordance with the local and group strategy, the implementa-
tion of initiatives as well as their planning is carried out in close 
cooperation with colleagues from the group, firmly adhering to 
the principles of standardization and optimization of processes 
and solutions.

In order to meet the demands and growing needs of clients, in 
parallel with the development of digital channels, during the 
year 2023, two (3) branches were moved to a new location. 
The offices were furnished in accordance with the new modern 
concept and design.

In cooperation with colleagues from organizational units in charge 
of retail business and small enterprises, the process of qualita-
tive and quantitative control of archived active documentation 
of clients is continuously improved. The control measurement 
of the completeness of the documentation as well as the qual-
itative verification of the documentation is performed monthly.

In 2023, it was ensured that 100% of the electricity from direct 
billing used by the Bank for regular business would come from 
renewable sources. Additional energy saving initiatives were im-
plemented. Old equipment in Head Office Building for heating 
and cooling has been replaced by equipment with higher energy 
efficiency level in order to decrease the CO2 emissions and elec-
tricity consumption.

Real Estate, Procurement, Cost and Third Party Management 
structure defined decentralized procurement process which 
corresponds cooperation with third parties with whom budget 
owners are establishing cooperation by themselves directly and 
process enabled single contract management repository with 
all suppliers.

Operations Back Office continued with further optimization and 
automation of processes through the implementation of robots 
in banking processes and improvement of existing applications 
to reduce operational risks, increase customer satisfaction and 
increase productivity. Additional application solutions were im-
plemented in the process of booking of loans, overdrafts and 
credit cards for PIs to provide more efficient support to our cli-
ents.

In 2023 we managed to implement automated KYC evaluation 
process which affected 50% of the client portfolio and helped us 
additionally optimize our resources.

At final stage of the automation, it is expected to establish the 
process that does not require any intervention and assistance 
from clients and also from the bank employees.

By joining the initiative of the National Bank of Serbia in the de-
velopment of the platform for E-bills of exchange, we achieved a 
notable role in test scenarios defining that was recognized by the 
NBS and the Association of Banks of Serbia as a standard for fur-
ther implementation of testing activities of the aforementioned 
application solution. Also, during 2023, intensive work was done 
on initiatives within the process of Foreign Exchange Payments 
with the aim of automated processing of payment orders and 
collections from abroad, as well as entrusting the processing of

 citizens’ checks to a third party, which leads to higher efficiency 
and improvement in servicing the Bank’s clients, full effects of 
these initiatives are expected during 2024.

Thanks to efficiency, flexibility and expertise, Operations Back 
Office structure significantly contributed to the bank’s business 
success in 2023..

The focus of COO (Chief Operations Office) in 2024 will be on 
continuous digitization, constant improvements and further rais-
ing of employees’ awareness of the “green way of thinking” with 
the aim of preserving the environment, increasing client and em-
ployee satisfaction.
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People & Culture - P&C
The operations of the People & Culture in 2023 were focused 
on providing strategic support to the realization of the Bank’s 
planned business activities through:

 – Strengthening the organization in the direction of main-
taining business continuity and adequate adaptation to re-
mote work

 – Empowering leaders through leadership development pro-
grams

 – Empowering women leaders in the organization

 – Strong focus on promoting organizational values

Having in mind the strategic development plans of the bank, in 
2023, P&C strived to support operations in the most adequate 
way, primarily with overcoming challenges, achieving goals, 
which was carried out via the improvement of organizational 
culture and competencies in the field of skills and expertise, a 
culture of teamwork, communication and presentation skills, 
digital transformation and innovation.

This year, as well, the Bank also paid special attention to the 
development of leadership skills on all managerial level and 
talents of the Bank and motivating and retaining employees 
who achieve high achievements and have potential for further 
development. Leveraging on internal capacities and in coopera-
tion with external consulting companies’ numerous workshops 
and trainings were organized during 2023 with having more 
than 37.000 hours of learning. For the Bank’s Management, the 
development programs were focused on leadership skills with 
main focus on Change Management, while for the organization-
al parts of the Bank which cooperate with clients the focus was 
on improving presentational and sales skills.

In this year workshops were organized for all organizational lev-
els on the topic of effectiveness of the meetings with the aim 
to improve mutual communication, overcoming the challenges 
and better understanding of the needs of the team. In parallel, 
in order to strengthen the leadership skills and provide ade-
quate support to UniCredit leaders, the P&C in cooperation with 
a global provider, focused on a young talent of the Bank pro-
gram, selecting the new generation of future leaders, aiming 
to strengthen and increase their digital and leadership skills as 
future leaders in an era of constant market change.

We also launched new program: ‘Wisdom’ for reskilling and up-
skilling of our most senior employees.

In 2023, the P&C has continued the initiative started in the pre-
vious years and launched 4th edition of the program which aim 
is to support and empower women leaders in our organization 
by providing support on the path of personal growth and fur-
ther career progress. This pragmatic program supports building 
women’s leadership in our organization.

During 2022 P&C developed Retail Management Academy “Ef-
fective Management Practices” – new development program 

for Branch Manager, that we continued to implement during 
2023. The program has been customized to address our or-
ganization’s particular needs, topics such as: giving feedback, 
delegating, leading teams, personal organization, motivat-
ing teams.

P&C supported employees through a changed communication-
al approach and regular information in providing new career 
opportunities and promotions, as well as in enabling to change 
positions within various organizational parts of the Bank.

Striving to adequately empower and support employees in 
achieving their business goals and improve their performance, 
the P&C has supported employees in improving their expert 
and social skills by organizing and providing budget for various 
trainings, domestic and foreign certificates, and international 
seminars and conferences that employees attended online dur-
ing 2023. Special focus on developing digital skills in order to 
boost attracting new digital profile talents and retaining the 
current ones. We continued with Digital Learning Pills initiative.

 In 2023 strong focus was also on promoting organizational val-
ues, recognition of the ones that are true value promoters, and 
of course promotion of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion as our 
core value. In 2023. Serbia was host of the Culture Roadshow, 
were we welcomed employees from all over Group so that we 
can share best practises.

As in previous years, in 2023 UniCredit Bank provided private 
health insurance for all employees. In 2023 the Bank continued 
to provide free online psychological counselling for its employ-
ees.

Moreover, UniCredit Bank has continued to implement previ-
ously adopted benefits and initiatives such as Birthday Holiday, 
Free Day for employees whose children are in the first grade of 
primary school, and Parental Support, for the father of a new 
born child to have 20 days of paid leave

Also, we continued to support all our employees who are facing 
with challenges on their path to parenthood (covering the cost 
of one IVF procedure).

New benefit was introduced in 2023, after long term leave 
moms can work part-time, with a full salary.

In order to encourage employees to take more care of their 
health and good life habits, P&C in 2023. continued with the 
“Really Important Knowledge” initiative, and in that sense or-
ganized a set of workshops held by specialist doctors, through 
which employees are encouraged to take care of their physical 
and mental health.

Cooperation with universities was continued through internship 
programs, study visits and scholarships for the best students.

51

People & Culture - P&C

UniCredit 2023 Annual Reports and Accounts



Bank gain two important certifications in 2023. Top Employer 
legitimate for 2024 and EDGE certificate, recognizing our com-
pany as gender equality company.

In 2024, the P&C will continue to work on strengthening the 
organization and strengthening the organizational culture and 
employees of the Bank in the field of transformation towards 
digital business, development of talents and leaders in order 
to build a stable network of successors to leadership positions. 
It will also continue to promote a flexible work culture, create a 
balance between business and private life, support in the form 
of more comprehensive medical services and the promotion of 
healthy life habits.
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Identity and Communication
The global unfavourable geopolitical situation throughout the 
year 2023 spilled over to economic events in all markets in 
the world, and various challenges arose for the banking sector 
as well. Nevertheless, as during all previous years and various 
changes, our bank responded to everything in a timely and thor-
ough manner. Identity and Communications sought to align 
priorities and key messages in a highly coordinated manner to 
respect all stakeholders.

As in previous years, it was extremely important during 2023 
that bank employees, clients, the community and regulators 
were convinced that UniCredit Bank would proactively and con-
tinuously provide support, invest and empower them. In the re-
lationship with clients, the prioritization of timely notification of 
all developments, new products and services, current campaigns 
and promotions, bank successes, work changes through all avail-
able channels, both in the bank’s operations locally and through-
out the Group, continued. Through daily communication, through 
all available channels, everything necessary has been done to 
meet the highest criteria of transparency, as well as to provide 
clients with accurate and up-to-date information at all times.

During the whole year, in a transparent and clear manner, clients 
as well as employees were informed about all the decisions and 
goals of the Bank. Also, the results of the Group and the Bank 
were communicated locally on a quarterly basis.

Identity and Communications continued to work on the promo-
tion of all products and services, with the aim of increasing the 
number of users, while we tried to regularly inform existing cli-
ents and guide them to all the advantages provided by our prod-
ucts and services, with a special focus on products and services 
for Young people and students, highlighting the advantages of 
digital platforms and channels, such as mBanking, eBanking ser-
vices, but also multifunctional ATMs.

In cooperation with colleagues from the Sector of cooperation 
with the population, as well as the Bank’s partners, we worked on 
the promotion of Cash loans, Credit cards, packages for students, 
digital channels, through direct and paid channels.

In March, we started the promotion of Cash loans, through a 
campaign under the slogan “Extra cash”, which focused on the 
interest rate as well as the Gold package account.

 Strengthening the brand and contributing to the Bank’s image 
was also done by the Cash Credit campaign called “Happy Cash 
Credit”, which we announced in May as part of the first wave 
of the campaign and since October as part of the second wave 
of the campaign. The aim of the campaign was, in addition to 
the acquisition of new customers and the increase in the volume 
of loan products, and the empowerment of local communities 
through the Prize Contest, the basic idea of which is the realiza-
tion of the winning idea on the topic - How to improve local com-
munities.

In order to strengthen loyalty in the segment of clients, small 
businesses and entrepreneurs, for the first time we launched a 
loyalty campaign called “We reward when we cooperate success-
fully”, which was current in the period July-December. As part of 
the loyalty campaign, a prize contest was organized where cli-
ents had the opportunity to compete in achieving certain criteria. 
After the end of the campaign, we awarded three clients with 
three commemorative prizes for first, second and third place.

Throughout the year there was continuous promotion of the Flexi 
POS service for small legal entities in order to promote the new 
payment option.

Listening to the needs of the clients, in the summer period we 
advertised a campaign that promoted a combo package of 
products: Cash loan, credit cards and allowed minus, where the 
client could get an additional benefit if he decided to apply for 
more products.

A large focus is directed at direct communication with the stu-
dent base, where through various campaigns and special offers, 
we provided our customers with the opportunity to achieve addi-
tional benefits as bank clients.

Last year too, we were focused on cooperation and strengthening 
of relations with the bank’s partners, in order to create additional 
benefits for all of us by joining forces. We promoted Flexia Mas-
tercard credit cards, highlighting benefits such as purchasing in 
12 instalments without interest at our clients’ points of sale, but 
also for online payments. Such partner campaigns, in addition to 
client acquisition, aim to create loyalty at the time of purchase, at 
various points of sale, and strengthen the Bank’s positive image.

At the end of the year, we continued advertising the Flexia Mas-
tercard credit card through external channels in order to present 
benefits such as: card payments abroad, via the Internet, as well 
as the benefits of interest-free instalments.

In December, we also announced the Cool account package for 
young people, where we presented the benefits of this package 
for all young people up to the age of 26 through an external cam-
paign and direct channels. In 2023, UniCredit Bank also strove 
to enthrone and highlight its presence in the media and thus 
further contribute to the growth of the Bank’s recognition, its 
reputation and positioning as an expert in the field of banking, 
economics and finance, as well as the ESG field. At the beginning 
of the year, a formal lunch was organized for the most important 
representatives of all media in Serbia, where the president and 
members of the Bank’s Executive Board spoke with members of 
the seventh power. When we look back at communication with 
the media, apart from focusing on highlighting products and 
services, we continued to pay great attention to promoting the 
Bank’s socially responsible projects, responsible behaviour and 
business, as well as the Bank’s aspirations towards sustainable 
green business, and not only our business, but also the business 
of our clients. Through various media formats and relevant inter-
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locutors, as well as participation in conferences, an effort was 
made to emphasize the expertise of employees, the importance 
of the Bank’s digital services, but also the Bank’s contribution to 
investing in the community and the environment in which it op-
erates. Thanks to the cultivation of good relations with the me-
dia, with mutual respect, appreciation and trust, the goals were 
successfully achieved.

In April, in accordance with the goals of empowering the com-
munity and empowering women’s entrepreneurship, an exhibi-
tion “100 women, 100 miniatures” was organized in the Bank’s 
branches, where unique handicrafts of 10x10 cm format, made 
by women and young people in craft associations and coopera-
tives throughout Serbia, using traditional technique.

During the year, two cycles of a unique prize contest called 
“Lucky Cash Loan from UniCredit Bank” were successfully organ-
ized and implemented, through which the winners were able to 
have the bank pay off the cash loan early instead of them, in the 
maximum amount of up to 10,000 euros. Through each cycle 
of the award contest, the Bank awarded a total of five awards 
for the best ideas and project proposals aimed at improving the 
quality of life of the local community. In this way, UniCredit Bank 
became the first bank on the domestic market that offered the 
possibility that five clients do not have to repay the cash loan. 
In addition, in both cycles of the competition, one of the five win-
ning Projects, which the expert jury declared the best, is realized 
by UniCredit Bank. Thus, in the first cycle, money was donated 
for the purchase of necessary equipment for the oncology de-
partment of the general hospital in Paraćin, and in the second 
cycle, according to the winning idea, funds were donated for the 
purchase of instruments for the Music School in Niš.

In the last quarter of 2023, a festive cocktail was organized for 
the most important stakeholders and clients of the bank, during 
which the winners of the successfully conducted contest “We re-
ward when we cooperate successfully” were awarded.

 In 2023, internal communication had a very significant and 
recognized role among employees. Realizing the importance of 
maintaining business continuity, but at the same time transpar-
ency of work, communication with employees via email and the 
internal portal of the Bank and UniCredit Group, as well as com-
munication via notifications on computers, was very frequent 
and regular. In order for all employees to be informed about 
achievements and goals in a timely manner, management meet-
ings are regularly organized, as well as visits by bank manage-
ment representatives to the regions where we operate. This year, 
Serbia hosted the representatives of all member countries of the 

Group during the organization of Culture Day, which contributed 
to the spread of a culture in which we cherish the three basic 
values of Integrity, Responsibility and Care. On that occasion, the 
bank in Serbia hosted about 100 guests, showing them the cul-
tural heritage of our country and preparing them various rich and 
interesting contents to familiarize them with the culture of Ser-
bia. On that occasion, the top management of UniCredit Group 
was hosted. Also, during the year, they hosted representatives of 
the Group’s management on several other occasions.

With various internal campaigns, we tried to promote collegial-
ity, team spirit, but also a healthier way of life, as well as new 
ways of learning and personal development. During 2023, we 
continued to communicate the individual stories and successes 
of our employees, colleagues who achieved the best results in 
our branches and who were at the service of clients all the time. 
We also devised different ways to stay closely connected not 
only with our colleagues but also with our families, as well as 
the community in which we operate. Family UniCredit Day, this 
year, after several years, was again organized live, in the bank’s 
premises, as well as on the plateau in front of the entrance to the 
head office in New Belgrade. On that day, the festive and family 
spirit was highlighted through the gathering of employees and 
their family members. A New Year’s bazaar, a children’s choir per-
formance, workshops for children and adults and performances 
by various animators were organized. In addition, in anticipation 
of the holidays, the employees, together with their families, pre-
pared gifts for the children who attend the elementary schools 
“Boško Buha” in Zvezdara and “Novi Beograd”, thus supporting 
the UniCredit Group’s donor initiative “Kids4Kids”, which collect-
ed during December a large number of packages in all thirteen 
countries in which the Group operates.

Through various channels of internal communication, employ-
ees were regularly and transparently informed about all strategic 
changes and decisions of the local Bank and UniCredit Group. 
The campaign of presenting and reminding of all the current 
products that the bank offers to our employees continued.

In 2024, Identity & Communications will remain focused on pro-
viding support to the bank’s operations through informing clients 
through various communication channels. Also, great attention 
will be devoted to further improving the Bank’s reputation by 
continuing to implement various initiatives aimed at empower-
ing the local community. Internal communication will continue 
to be one of the basic types of communication between different 
sectors of the company, but also support for all employees to 
realize their full potential and to feel integrated in the Bank’s 
activities and projects.
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  Consolidated  
Non-financial  
  Report for 2023

2023 Annual Reports  
and Accounts
GENERAL MEETING DRAFT

For our clients, our people,  
and our communities.



Foreword
At UniCredit, we believe bank is represented by more than just finance and numbers. It is also represented by 
people and communities. With the enduring energy crisis, global climate emergency and wars across different 
territories supporting the regions has never been more important to lead the communities toward better future. 
Trough our values: integrity, ownership and caring we are committed to providing tools, support and know how 
needed on this road. That is why we’ve embedded the principles of ESG in our business model, our processes 
and strategy. In this way this topic is a priority in all our decisions and activities.

During 20 years of presence in Serbia bank was committed in pro-
viding positive influence on society being more than just a bank 
through its activities focused on communities. 2023 was one of 
the most important and successful years for UniCredit in the area 
of green project and positive influence on communities together 

with number of projects providing positive and measurable influ-
ence, which gave us additional motivation to provide even more 
support for green transition and promotion of ESG pillars.
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Environmental protection
Climate risk and portfolio steering
UniCredit Group, including local bank, defined ESG strategy which is presented in publicly available document 
integrated report22. The document is covering details of quantitative and qualitative targets and initiatives 
while implementation of group strategy and its integration in local processes is expected in the following pe-
riod.

2  https://www.unicreditgroup.eu/content/dam/unicreditgroup-eu/documents/en/sustainability/sustainability-reports/2022/
UC_INTEGRATO_2022_ENG.pdf

In line with Group strategy significant attention during financing 
process is devoted to environmental protection and by defining 
financial targets bank is focused on green financing. Additional-
ly, Group has signed Net Zero alliance initiative covering green 
house gas emission with additional focus to financing sectors 
with significant GHG emissions and their transition to clean ener-
gy. In this respect Group is in process of seeing specific financial 
goals per each GHG intensive industry with the idea to steer in-
vestments and support clients in their transition path. Group has 
also defined sensitive industries with the idea to assists those 
clients in transition to more sustainable business.

Banks ESG strategy and focus to green financing has been also 
formalized trough processes, setting clear criteria for green fi-

nancing trough internal documents, respecting EU taxonomy 
which is recognized by the Group as relevant legal frame in 
this area.

ESG aspect is also included in credit process trough specific ques-
tionnaire covering area of environment and climate changes and 
client analysis in respect of climate and environment focusing 
on specific dimension. Questionnaire is based on scaling, trough 
list of key indicators which are positioning the client related to 
risk, vulnerability and exposure, adding also potential economic/
financial influence. At the end of process client is provided with 
final classification of ESG risk which can be low, medium or high.

Key policies related to climate risk
UniCredit Bank Serbia deals with environmental protection matter indirectly, as well as other ESG principles, in 
relation to clients and third parties, through defining policies in field of reputational risk. Key policies regulating 
Bank’s behaviour in this subject are as follows:

1. Reputational risk management policy in UniCredit Bank Ser-
bia

2. Policy on Management of Sensitive Industries in UniCredit 
Bank Serbia

3. ESG Product guidelines
4. ESG Working instruction
5. Working instruction for Climate and Environmental question-

naire
6. Defence/Weapons Industry Reputational Risk working in-

struction
7. Nuclear energy Environmental, Social and Reputational Risk 

working instruction

8. Water infrastructure (Dam) Environmental, Social and Repu-
tational Risk working instruction

9. Mining industry Environmental, Social and Reputational Risk 
working instruction

10. Coal sector Environmental, Social and Reputational Risk 
working instruction

11. Oil & gas industry Sector Reputational Risk working instruc-
tion

12. General Principles for Credit Activity
13. Corporate credit process procedure
14. Environmental and social framework in corporate credit pro-

cess
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Sustainability as a part of banking product offer
For many years now, the green economy has been an important part of the corporate business of UniCredit 
Bank, who is already market leader in financing wind energy projects, and increasingly strong market competi-
tor when it comes to solar energy.

Based on that, during the year 2023, in partnership with the 
Green for Growth Fund, two credit facilities were available to the 
domestic economy in the amounts of RSD 1,76 billion and EUR 
10 million, to support the recovery of green projects in Serbia.

Guided by the values of sustainable development and, above all, 
social responsibility, Corporate, in addition to individual infra-
structure projects, participated in the initiatives of international 
investment and development banks. These programs are intend-
ed mostly for the segment of small and medium enterprises that 
have a very important role and impact on both economic and 
social development. Corporates continued to identify needs and 
support the development of this economic segment by providing 
them an easier access to funding sources.

Transitional impact is achieved via loan facilities and guarantee 
instruments based on funding from the EU, governments of EU 
members, Government of Serbia and various donor funds which 
have social and environmental goals, as well as the general 
growth of the economy.

Aforementioned environmental goals serve to support the path 
to green transition. Thanks to the support from EU, German 
government and other donors, the impact is achieved through 
dedicated EBRD, KfW and GGF facilities. The function of the 
facilities is to finance projects which reduce the energy usage 
and the emission of CO2, by stimulating green energy sources. 
Client range stretches from private individuals to large scale re-
newable energy project financing. Also by adopting EU standards 
the companies will be more competitive on the EU market which 
will lead to more export of the final products on the high quality 
demand markets.

In cooperation with the EBRD, last year the Corporates, through 
the EBRD Competitiveness Program, provided small and medi-
um-sized enterprises with a combination of loans, incentives and 
technical assistance to strengthen SME’s know-how. The funds 
were used to upgrade technology, processes or services, particu-

larly those related to product quality, health and safety and EU 
environmental requirements. This method of financing enables 
companies to improve competitiveness and trade both in the 
region and in the EU countries, through targeted, grant-support-
ed investments.

UniCredit Leasing also participated in the EBRD program, financ-
ing investments in line with EU standards in the field of ecology, 
energy efficiency, health and safety hence contributing to a bet-
ter quality of products relevant for society preservation.

In 2022. UniCredit Leasing has signed with EBRD The Sustainable 
Reboot SME Programme. Aim of this Programme is to encour-
age SMEs which are weathering the current crisis to ‘reboot’ their 
activities, improve their resilience and productivity by investing 
in sustainable and competitive technologies thus increasing the 
implementation of EU and other international standards, through 
the provision of financing, investment incentives and technical 
assistance at SME level in the field of environmental protection, 
occupational health and safety and product quality and safety.

 The Bank is also a beneficiary of the funds of the German KfW 
bank, and during 2023 the focus was on credit lines that contrib-
ute to the reduction of carbon dioxide emissions, with a purpose 
of financing in energy efficiency and renewable energy. Namely, 
with the financing of machines and machinery that reduce CO2 
emissions by more than 20% compared to the old machine that 
is being alienated, the client receives a grant in the amount of 
10% of the amount of financing, as well as for renewable ener-
gy projects.

Finally, in 2022. Bank has signed with EBRD The SME Programme 
for financing SMEs business, with first tranche disbursed in 
2023,with commitment, on best efforts base, to utilize minimum 
10% for the Green Loans. Unicredit Leasing signed with EBRD in 
2023 similar Program, but with usage of minimum 30% for the 
Green Loans on best effort base.
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Sustainability of Banking Operations
Optimization of everyday business is the precondition for achieving goals in environmental protection. Accord-
ingly, decisions made related to business travel, office heating and cooling, use of business cars and paper 
consumption should contribute to making positive impact in terms of environmental protection, and in general 
lead to decreasing the consumption of non-renewable energy sources.

During 2022 below described initiatives were undertaken with achieved results:
 – Banka daje prednost nabavci klima uređaja koje ne štete ozonu 
kada god je to izvodljivo, i visokog nivoa energetske efikasnos-
ti;

 – Implementacijom zelene politike uvedeno je isključivanje rad-
nih stanica svakog dana u 21h;

 – Sprovedene su inicijative za uštedu energije u cilju smanjen-
ja potrošnje energije u narednim godinama (zamena stare 
opreme novom energetski efikasnijom opremom, smanjenje 
radnog vremena svetlećih reklama, implementacija senzora 
pokreta u cilju povećanja kontrole rada svetla);

 – Potrošnja papira je u periodu između 2019. i 2020. smanjena za 
31%, dok je u 2021. godini ona povećana za 6,88% u odnosu 
na 2022. U 2022 potrošnja je porasla za 6,11% u odnosu na 
2021, dok je u 2023 umanjena za 20%. Praćenje potrošnje pa-
pira za štampu omogućeno je zahvaljujući posebnom softveru 
koji se koristi za tu namenu. Potrošnja goriva i potrošnja papira 
tokom izveštajnog perioda, u odnosu na period između 2019. 
i 2020. godine uslovljena je poboljšanjem epidemiološke situ-
acije izazvane virusom COVID- 19 što je rezultiralo povratkom 
većeg broja koleginica i kolega u kancelarije.

 – Prilikom nabavke proizvoda, vodi se računa da se izaberu oni 
koji poseduju ekološke sertifikate poput: FSC, PEFC, Green 
Range, Eco Label.
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Consumption of water and energy, paper saving and waste management 

Electricity Consumption

Description Unit Quantity

Direct energy consumption (for premises) by primary energy source

Total direct energy consumption kWh 79,552

01 - Natural gas kWh 79,552

02 - Diesel kWh 0,00

03 -  Other crude oil and petroleum products (e.g. Fuel Oil, Gasoline, etc). Please 
exclude all fuels used for travel transportation kWh 0,00

Total indirect energy consumption

01 - Electricity energy consumed from purchased sources kWh 4,043,728

02 -  District heating, and if applicable cooling, consumed from purchased 
sources kWh 717,400

Percentage of indirect renewable electricity from special agreements

01 - Total amount of renewable electricity purchased from special agreements kWh 1,950,104

02 - Total amount of indirect electricity consumption kWh 4,043,728

03 –  Percentage of indirect renewable electricity from special agreements on total 
indirect electricity consumption % 48,23%

Percentage of indirect renewable heating from special agreement

01 –  Total amount of indirect heating consumption kWh N/A

02 –  The total amount of indirect heating consumption 
(INCLUDING DATA PROCESSING CENTERS) kWh 717,400

03 –  Percentage of indirect heating from special agreements on total indirect 
heating consumption % N/A

Total energy consumption from all sources  
(consumed purchased energy sources and self- generated self-consumed 
electricity from renewable sources)

kWh 
 GJ

4.840.680 
17.427
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Waste Management

Total weight of waste creation by type Unit Quantity

Paper and cardboard - EWC codes: 200101, 150101 and others 
(please specify adding a note) Kg 5,560

Other waste (steel) Kg 2,500

Total waste Kg 8,060

Water Consumption

Description Unit Quantity

Total water withdrawal

01 – Total water consumption m3 11,759

Total water consumption including tap water and water from water gallons.

Copy Paper Consumption

Type of paper used Unit Quantity

Total amount of paper used Kg 63,111

Quantity of used paper that is labelled as FSC or PEFC (out of total 
amount of paper used) Kg 60,693

Quantity of the remaining total paper consumption, that is labelled 
with other environmental certifications/labels. Kg 8,781

Details of these other environmental
certifications/labels..

ISO 9706, ISO
9001, ISO

14001, OHSAS
18001

How much of the total paper is not included in any of the above 
categories Kg 88
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Responsibility in registration and qualification of suppliers
The sustainability segment is also integrated into the selection of suppliers with which the Bank cooperates. 
A qualification questionnaire is used for this purpose, and each supplier is obliged to fill in the mentioned doc-
ument in order to qualify to become a supplier of UniCredit Bank. One part of this questionnaire is the section 
“Sustainability Requirements”, which consists of the minimum requirements in the field of sustainability that a 
potential supplier must meet. The questionnaire requires the submission of the following information: the ex-
istence of an environmental policy; compliance with the basic principles of the United Nations Global Compact; 
compliance with ILO requirements; compliance with local regulations in the field of environmental protection; dis-
closure of aspects relevant to the environmental protection of products and services sold or offered by the sup-
plier; whether the company is subject to audit in accordance with ISO 19011; confirmation that no proceedings 
have been instituted against the company in connection with the violation of labour rights and environmental 
laws. During 2023, a total of 78 suppliers successfully met the criteria from the questionnaire.

Social Responsibility
Key Social Projects, Initiatives and Results in 2022

“Lucky Cash Loan”
UniCredit Bank Serbia organized two cycles of a unique prize compe-
tition called “UniCredit Bank’s Lucky Cash Loan”, through which the 
winners were able to have the bank pay off the cash loan early on 
their behalf, in a maximum amount of up to 10,000 euros.

Through each cycle of the award contest, the Bank awarded a to-
tal of five awards for the best ideas and project proposals aimed 
at improving the quality of life of the local community. In this way, 
UniCredit Bank became the first bank on the domestic market that 

offered the possibility that five clients do not have to repay the 
cash loan.

In addition, one of the five winning projects, which was declared the 
best by the expert jury, is realized by UniCredit Bank. Thus, in the first 
cycle, money was donated for the purchase of necessary equipment 
for the oncology department of the General Hospital in Paraćin, and 
in the second cycle, according to the winning idea, funds were do-
nated for the purchase of instruments for the music school in Niš.

Empowering women
On the occasion of International Women’s Day - March 8, we or-
ganized an internal event in our office buildings - the Women’s En-
trepreneurship Fair. The handicrafts of female entrepreneurs were 
presented, because it is real and essential support when we em-
power someone to be able to live from their work. With this act, 
we gave hardworking and brave women the opportunity to offer us 
their products, but also to make it easier for us to choose a gift for 
Women’s Day.

The role of women in society is becoming more and more important 
because the business world is becoming aware that their participa-
tion in the economy is extremely important for business. For this 
reason, we joined the project “Women entrepreneurs - the strength 
of the economy” in partnership with the Serbian Chamber of Com-
merce. Within this project, we will empower women entrepreneurs 
to be confident in their financial decisions, through education and 
sharing the knowledge and expertise of our colleagues.

Exhibition “100 women, 100 miniatures”
As a socially responsible company, UniCredit Bank Serbia continued 
to strengthen the community in which it operates in 2023, and in 
April, through cooperation with Ethno Network, an association of 
handicraft producers from all over Serbia, it emphasized the preser-
vation of cultural heritage and support for female entrepreneurship. 
Thus, the exhibition “100 women, 100 miniatures” was officially 
opened in the branches of UniCredit in Belgrade. The exhibition pre-
sented unique handicrafts in the 10x10cm format, which are made 

by women and young people in craft associations and cooperatives 
throughout Serbia using traditional techniques.

The exhibition of works was organized by the Bank in cooperation 
with the Ethno network, with the support of the National Alliance for 
Local Economic Development (NALED). It was officially opened with 
a performance by the cultural and artistic society “Čukarica”, and the 
exhibition was exhibited in four branches of the Bank in Belgrade.

Volunteers Club
After the establishment of the “Volunteer Club” in 2022, the volun-
teer work of employees at UniCredit Bank Serbia was recognized and 
visible in a systematized and organized manner, and it continued its 
activities in 2023. During the year, a considerable number of em-
ployees joined the Club, so that it now has 221 people. As a place 

that brings together all employees interested in contributing to the 
community through participation in various initiatives of the

 company and the bank, through the Volunteer Club interested col-
leagues were given the opportunity to opt for participation in vol-
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unteer actions from various fields such as: education, environmen-
tal protection or humanitarian actions . There is also the option of 
participating in actions from all three mentioned areas. During the 
spring, volunteer actions were organized where employees arranged 
locations in National Parks and picnic areas in which the Bank invest-
ed funds for equipping and adapting the previous year, as part of the 
jubilee celebrations. Thus, more than 200 employees participated in 
the decoration of the Resava Cave and the most visited picnic spots 
on Fruška Gora. Volunteer work throughout the year was maintained 
continuously through several workshops and lectures for high school 
and university students, which the employees of the bank were very 

happy to implement. Also in the second half of the year, employees 
gladly responded to the call for traditional mentoring in the Project 
of the organization “Youth Achievements”, which the bank supports, 
and then through engagement in delivering prepared gifts to chil-
dren with disabilities and developmental disabilities. In anticipation 
of the holidays, the employees of the bank, together with their fam-
ilies, prepared and packed gifts for the children attending the ele-
mentary schools “Boško Buha” in Zvezdara and “Novi Beograd”, thus 
supporting the UniCredit Group’s donor initiative “Kids4Kids”, which 
is ongoing In December, a large number of packages were collected 
in all thirteen countries in which the Group operates.

Financial dictionary
This year, the initiative called “Financial Dictionary” was continued, 
which was created by employees of UniCredit Bank. In this way, for 
the third year in a row, that is, the third edition of the dictionary, the 
aspiration to contribute to the financial literacy of the high school 
and student population in an interesting, attractive and understand-

able way for young people has been strengthened. Thanks to these 
programs and initiatives, thousands of young people, high school 
students and students have gone through the basics of financial 
business and education.

“Youth Achievements”
As in previous years, during 2023, the Bank provided support to the 
“Junior Achievements” association, through whose project, bank em-
ployees help high school students to better understand the world of 
business and finance through mentoring and volunteering activities. 
However, that cooperation was raised to a much higher level this 
year, bearing in mind that the UniCredit Foundation, the corporate 
foundation of the UniCredit Group and the European network of 
Youth Achievement (Junior Achievement) entered into a partnership 
and launched the program “Strengthen for the future” in order to 
jointly prevent early leaving schools. Through this partnership, the 

UniCredit Foundation will invest 6.5 million euros for the implemen-
tation of a three-year program in ten countries in which UniCredit 
operates: Serbia, Austria, Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Germany, 
Hungary, Italy, Romania, Slovakia and Slovenia. Employees of Uni-
Credit Bank Serbia, through this program, got the opportunity to be 
part of numerous projects of the “Achieving Youth” organization, 
such as the traditional “Business Challenge”, “Student Companies” 
but also the new project “Financial Literacy”. They were very happy 
to share their knowledge and experience with high school students, 
and the same the projects will continue in 2024.

Belgrade Marathon with BELHospice
With the participation of our patients in the 36th Belgrade Mara-
thon in the team of the BELhospice Association, the Association that 
helps oncology patients in the advanced stages of the disease, as 
well as their families, was traditionally supported and additionally 

sponsored. Employees of UniCredit Bank Serbia ran a marathon as 
part of the BELhospice team and thereby achieved both their per-
sonal and the Bank’s goals of strengthening the community in which 
it operates.

Cooperation with UniCredit Foundation
UniCredit Foundation, in accordance with its purpose to unlock the po-
tential of Europe’s next generation, organized the “Call for education 
2023” competition to support programs that fight educational problems 
in all countries where the Group operates. For that initiative, which also 
included Serbia, the UniCredit Foundation allocated a total contribution 
of three million euros with the aim of identifying and supporting pro-
grams for schools, i.e. for students (aged 11-19), which are implemented 
by non-profit organizations, with special attention to: addressing early 
school leaving, encouraging university education and acquiring adequate 
skills for entering the labor market.

The winner from Serbia is the non-profit organization “Friends of Children 
of Serbia” and their project: “Steps to independence: Helping children in 

institutions for successful education and choosing a career”. The project 
will include 80 young people from 11 to 19 years old, throughout the 
country, and in order to support vulnerable children (victims of violence, 
abuse, human trafficking, forced begging, and those involved in criminal 
activities due to difficult socio-economic conditions) by providing direct 
support to their education, promoting higher education, learning em-
ployability skills, and connecting them with potential employers.

In addition, during the year, UniCredit Foundation implemented a spe-
cial initiative “Special donation” through which it supported one project 
from each member country of the Group, and thus funds were allocated 
in Serbia to the “Vojvoda Živojin Mišić” Elementary School from Rajković 
near Mionica.

Key policies in the field of social issues
 – At the end of 2023, we adopted the “Group principles and guide-
lines for managing sponsorships and donations” and the Business 
Rule “Sponsorship and Donation Policy”

 – Global policy on banking with a positive impact

UniCredit Bank’s global policy aims to explain the concept and way 
of functioning of the Bank’s innovative business concept called 
Social Impact Banking, which regulates the Bank’s activities in the 
field of supporting the development of local communities, through 
the following areas: 1. microcrediting, 2. impact financing, 3. 
financial education and volunteer work.
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Social responsibility as a part of banking product offer
As a financial institution – UniCredit Bank has an opportunity to provide solutions to social challenges directly 
through offering inclusive banking products to vulnerable society groups and economy subjects that have re-
stricted access to finance under commercial terms.

Banking products with social impact aim to support youth and 
women employment with special focus on the micro enterprises 
and start-ups. The support for latter is channeled through EIF 
guarantee instruments – EaSI (Program for Employment and So-
cial Innovation), intended for microenterprises which has been 
present in the bank’s offer since 2021 and Western Balkan En-
terprise Development & Innovation Facility (WBEDIF) intended 
for small and medium enterprises according to the EU defi-
nition, which has been present in the bank’s offer since 2019. 
In comparison to regular lending conditions, there is a reduction 
in interest rates, fees and the requirement for collateral for loan 
users. These instruments provide first loss guarantee protection 
facilitating more clients being reached by loans.

The product development under European Investment Bank 
(EIB) leadership “The Social Impact Banking”, using funds from 
Economic Resilience initiative (ERI Fund) was launched on the 
market in second half of 2022. The loan from the EU bank is 
being complemented by a grant provided by ERI and the grant 
will reward companies that meet specific targets to foster wom-
en’s employment and entrepreneurship, youth employment 
and professional development as well as the social inclusion of 
underserved or vulnerable demographic groups (e.g. minorities, 
people with disabilities, refugees, etc.) who often face additional 
barriers to entry job market. Companies that apply for funds from 
this facility at UniCredit Bank will define a list of goals for in-
creasing their positive impact on the community, and only those 
who accomplish them will receive additional financial incentive 
from EIB. “The Social Impact Banking” program is another way to 
build a fair-minded and more inclusive society with main goal of 
this innovative financial instrument is to stimulate the employ-
ment of persons from vulnerable groups, ensure their training 
and long-term retention.

In order to achieve the goals of the green transition, the sup-
port of the EU, the German government and other donors is 
used through the dedicated facilities of the EBRD, KFW and GGF. 
The function of the facilities is to finance projects which reduce 
the energy usage and the emission of CO2, by stimulating green 
energy sources. Client range stretches from private individuals to 
large scale renewable energy project financing. Also, by adopting 
EU standards the companies will be more competitive on the EU 
market which will lead to more export of the final products on 
the high-quality demand markets.

Through micro financing, the Bank aims to support development 
of small businesses not only through offering its financial ser-
vices, but as well through consulting and nurturing good client 
relationship, that is believed to be in the core of further business 
development. By doing this, the company wants to be involved 
in making positive surroundings for creating positive impact and 
supporting its clients through special products tailored to their 
needs and opportunities.

Client range stretches from private individuals to large scale re-
newable energy project financing. Also by adopting EU standards 
the companies will be more competitive on the EU market which 
will lead to more export of the final products on the high quality 
demand markets .

“The Social Impact Banking” program is another way to build a 
fair-minded and more inclusive society. The goal of the program 
is to recognize, finance and promote people and companies that 
have a positive impact on society. The model is based on three 
main pillars: Microfinancing, Impact Financing and Financial Ed-
ucation, supported by the volunteer work of UniCredit Bank em-
ployees.

The corporate investment sector focuses on raising positive im-
pact in society (Impact financing pillar) through the financing of 
projects and activities that, in addition to economic benefits, in-
tend to generate positive and measurable social impact.

For that reason, UniCredit Bank has established cooperation with 
the European Investment Bank (EIB) alongside the support of 
Frankfurt School of Finance and Management with aim to im-
plement above mentioned project, in which the main focus will 
be on supporting the Bank and clients in raising social impact in-
cluding:

 – Gender equality;

 – Inclusion of as many young people as possible, (Youth 
inclusion) and

 – Inclusion of people with disabilities as well as those who are 
traditionally excluded from society (Social inclusion).

Through micro crediting, the Bank aims to support development 
of small businesses not only through offering its financial ser-
vices, but as well through consulting and nurturing good client 
relationship, that is believed to be in the core of further business 
development. By doing this, the company wants to be involved 
in making positive surroundings for creating positive impact and 
supporting its clients through special products tailor made to 
their needs and opportunities.
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Labour Matters
The four important directions of people management, through the implementation of our strategy, essentially 
target the four key domains of human resources and are structured as follows:
A. Managing and planning of workforce, support the basic principles of mutual respect and fair dealing, transparent working methods 

and open communication; determining compensation in accordance with the criteria of the labour market, all in terms of new 
environmental requirements, digitalization and especially by changing the approach and understanding the way of doing business.

B. Improving labour skills, by encouraging the requirements for personal development of employees, both through training, qualifica-
tion and training, as well as the implementation of retaining and the acquisition of new skills. Also, refreshing youth teams, by joining 
the youth programs, approved by Government of Republic of Serbia in cooperation with relevant Ministry of Labour, Employment, 
Veterans and Social Affairs and National Employment Agency, by implementing multi-annual employment planning strategies;

C. Better functioning of the operational model, with a special focus on reducing staff turnover and better organization of the work 
model and the organization as a whole, and further improving mobility within the Group and

D. Fairness, gender equality and promotion of internally equal opportunities for all employees.

Key projects, initiatives and results in 2023
Behaviour based on UniCredit values and personal responsibil-
ity of management and employees are among our core prin-
ciples and are embedded deep in the values of our company. 
By promoting the basic postulates of our company: cooperation 
and energy, focus on what is important, discipline and focus on 
achieving results, builds a fair and functional relationship of em-
ployees with each other and towards work.

The success of UniCredit is mainly due to the highly qualified and 
motivated employees of the company, because the innovation 
comes from the employees themselves who are dedicated to 
work and the company. This is the reason why training and profes-
sional development, as well as the promotion and development 
of talents, managers and experts, are carried out continuously.

Encouraging the young generation by promoting talent, ad-
vancement, training and working in the UniCredit Group, in oth-
er member countries, gives employees great opportunities for 
their professional advancement and career, as well as person-
al achievement.

Employee development is implemented, except through oppor-
tunities for advancement and career development, through the 
provision of personal development plans, giving benefits, and 
training, rewarding in accordance with the work and cultivating a 
culture of equality and respect for others as well.

Flexible working environment
Following trends, the Bank has organized its work as remote 
working model respecting all proposed safety in regards to all 
jobs and positions that are applicable for that model without 
negative impact on productivity and having in mind nature and 

features of work activity itself. New working model requires two 
days working from home per week and three days of working 
from employee premises with previously assuring that all sug-
gested measures for healthy and safety work are met.

Regular review and assessment
At UCB, all employees have the opportunity to participate in 
the creation of personal development plans, while the formal 
evaluation of work performance and individual development 
is conducted, also for all employees, once a year. At the end of 
each year, goals for the next year are defined for each employee. 
The final assessment of the realization of goals, successes and 
challenges achieved in the previous year is assessed at the meet-
ing of the employee and the superior in the first quarter of the 
next year. Performance assessment also includes assessment of 
competencies, and from the overall performance assessment, 
opportunities for career development and total contracted earn-

ings are assessed. During 2023 we continued with new applica-
tion for performance appraisal.

Salaries of employees in the Bank are calculated in accordance 
with the Labour Law and the Labour Rulebook. Net salary is the 
same for full-time employees that performed same tasks and 
job description regardless of the gender structure of employees. 
The level of earnings in accordance with market conditions and 
the employee’s contribution to the company’s results is an im-
perative for UniCredit in managing compensations and reward-
ing in accordance to performance.
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Health and safety
People & Culture and FM Department are in charge for occupational health and safety of Employees in UniCredit.

The bank has hired an external company that is specialized in occupational health and safety and from which the Person for health 
and safety at work has been appointed in compliance with the law.

In accordance with the law and according to the necessary dynamics, the organization of training on safe and healthy at work, ba-
sic training of employees in the field of fire protection, training for first aid (for which all managers and a certain number of other 
employees are trained), measurement of microclimate, testing of electrical installations, simulation of fire protection procedure, 
are conducted.

Safety and health at work is carried out in accordance with the Rulebook on safety and health at work, adopted by the Employee.

Health protection
In accordance with the needs imposed by the environment, 
employees are provided with a package of health services that 
includes physical exams and selection of other expert examina-
tions by doctor’s specialist, according to the needs of employ-
ees, at the expense of the Bank. Investing in safety and health 
and disease prevention leads to employee satisfaction, great-
er commitment to work and overall well-being of employees. 
Health care does not include only one physical exam per year, as 
is usually the case on the market, but also includes the possibili-
ty for employees to use the specialist services of various doctors 
throughout the year as needed and up to a limit of RSD 117.000 
per employee. Dentist and ophthalmologist are included in the 

package. In addition, the Bank has enabled the family members 
of the employee to acquire the same types of medical services in 
a certain medical institution under more favourable conditions. 
In 2023, the bank continued to provide free online psychological 
counselling for its employees.

Regarding occupational diseases that employees could be ex-
posed to due to prolonged sitting and working in front of a com-
puter, as well as due to the most common diseases of modern 
society, online lectures were organized by advisory experts in 
the field of medicine referring various topics (cancer prevention, 
workplace ergonomics, challenges in parenting, etc.).

Other benefits
Also, the bank continued to implement previously adopted ben-
efits and initiatives such as paid day off for birthday, days off 
for employees whose children are enrolling the first grade of el-
ementary school, and parental support, such as the possibility 
for father of new-borne child to use up to 20 days of paid leave 

right after child birth. In 2022 the bank launched whole new way 
of parental support for employees by allowing refinancing costs 
for the first attempt of in-vitro fertilization up to EUR 5.000 net, 
that continued in 2023.

Employee training and education
At UniCredit Bank, we believe that knowledge is a rare thing that 
is multiplied by sharing. We nurture a culture of learning and 
development and we are committed to the implementation of 
trainings that are in the development plans of all employees, we 
further nurture talents through specially created programs and 
try to always keep up with trends through our optional initiatives.

In 2023, the Bank paid special attention to the development of 
leadership skills and talents of the bank and motivation and re-
tention of employees who perform high achievements and have 
the potential for further development.

Numerous workshops and trainings were organized in 2023 in 
cooperation with external consulting companies. When it comes 
to the Bank’s Management Team, the development programs 
were focused on improving leadership skills and change man-
agement, while for the organizational parts of the bank which 
cooperate with clients the focus was on improving presentation 
and sales skills. In this year workshops were organized for all or-
ganizational levels of on the topic of effectiveness and meetings 
with the aim to improve mutual communication, overcome chal-
lenges and better understand the needs of team members when 
working remotely. At the same time, in order to strengthen lead-
ership skills and provide adequate support to UniCredit leaders, 

P&C in cooperation with a global provider, focused on the bank’s 
young talent program, future leaders, striving to strengthen and 
increase their digital and leadership skills as future leaders.

 In 2023, the P&C has continued the initiative started in the pre-
vious year and finished the program which aim is to support and 
empower women leaders in our organization by providing sup-
port on the path of personal growth and further career progress. 
This pragmatic program supports building women’s leadership 
in our organization.

Striving to adequately empower and support employees in 
achieving their business goals and improve their work perfor-
mance, P&C has supported employees in improving their expert 
and social skills by organizing and providing budget for various 
trainings, domestic and foreign certificates and international 
seminars and conferences that employees attended online dur-
ing 2023.

The topics we dealt with were, among other things:
 – Leadership, set of trainings for successors for 2nd line posi-
tions
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 – Effectively management practise (feedback, delegation, per-
sonal organization and prioritization, motivation and develop-
ment of employees)

 – External training for the population of employees within CIB 
Division (focusing on Social Impact Banking…)

 – Effective meetings and team culture
 – Training for all employees in the Head Office and for regional 
managers in order to develop skills referring conducting meet-
ings in effective manner

 – Training dedicated to new employees,
 – Onboarding for new employees,
 – Regulatory required training such as: Mandatory training for 
cash management (recognizing false money in RSD and EUR 

currency), mandatory trainings for insurance representatives 
in branches, for licensing maintaining, as well as education of 
employees who obtain insurance licence; sales of saving insur-
ance for employees in all the Branches

 – Local talent program
 – Wisdom, program for strengthening and development of lead-
ership and digital skills for senior employees

 – Emberin – program for strengthening leadership of women
 – Mentoring – cross country mentoring
 – • Group trainings on various topics actual in Banking in-
dustry

 – • ESG trainings
 –

This resulted in 37.675 employee training hours in 2023. 

Supporting youth
Starting a professional career by gaining the first practical knowl-
edge and experience in professional internships is extremely im-
portant for young people, primarily because it helps them to bet-
ter position themselves in the competitive labour market.

UniCredit Bank strives to help young people to take their first 
professional steps and to get used to working in a business envi-
ronment by cooperating with educational institutions.

In 2023, UniCredit Bank continued cooperation with the Faculty 
of Computer Science, University of Belgrade, for the second year 
in a row, aiming to provide scholarships to the best students, 
where, after completing the scholarship study program, the se-
lected student will be offered a job in the Bank on the basis of 
this scholarship.

Global mobility
At UniCredit, we believe that every voice, culture and experi-
ence enriches the diversity of our ideas that inspire us to grow 
and change.

Our international presence enables us global cooperation and 
teamwork both through different sectors and between differ-
ent countries.

What makes our Group unique is that we are united in diversity.

Our differences encourage us to be more opened, flexible and 
tolerant, for new knowledge, new perspectives and new tastes. 
How successful the team of different profiles is best confirmed 
by our successful results and satisfied clients, and so on from 
year to year.

Increasing the functionality of the operating model and lowering fluctuations
The fact is that we are transforming as a Bank, but also as a 
Group, and our business models and patterns are changing as 
well. In order to make this really happen, UniCredit is following 
these transformations in the organizational terms as well.

The goal of the changes we are implementing, which include 
simplification of the structure, is to strengthen our Bank, achieve 
greater flexibility, build a culture of personal responsibility of 
each employee individually, simplify processes

and provide greater connectivity and interaction between col-
leagues, so that we get speed, quality, and thus the satisfaction 
of our clients and employees.

UCB’s business is structured and dynamically managed, capable 
of quick reaction and faster response to opportunities and chal-
lenges.

To achieve this, the Bank seeks to establish fewer hierarchies 
in relationships and responsibilities, and more concrete and ef-
fective communication, engagement and visibility of everyone’s 
work, less bureaucracy and unnecessary work procedures, and 
more space for a qualitative approach that gives real value, faster 
decision making, and less workload and greater job satisfaction, 
and a shift towards a culture of work based on the qualifications 
of our staff, strengthening of their expertise and space for further 
professional development.

Fairness, gender equality and promotion of internally equal opportunities for all employees
Taking into account legal norms, expertise and qualifications in 
employment, the Bank actively worked on preserving and im-
proving the established gender equality and balance in 2023. 
The Bank has paid special attention to equality in the workplace 
and provides equal opportunities for women and men in terms 
of career and personal development, as evidenced by the fact 
that women occupy 3 out of 7 positions in the Management 
Board of the Bank.

The awareness of the need for gender equality of employees is 
at a satisfactory level and numerous activities are dedicated to 
this topic.

There is no need to make gender differences for the purpose of 
employment in the Bank, as well as in terms of promotion or 
changing job position. All employees have the right to materni-
ty leave, and we especially support the return of the colleagues 
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to work after the end of maternity leave. The Bank appointed 
local Diversity Manager for the purpose of implementing all of 
the above. This policy is a way to continue to have a fair ap-
proach and to ensure a fair and respectful work environment, 
in which women and men have equal opportunities and rights, 
and whose work is valued on the basis of personal merit and po-
tential, regardless of gender and other personal characteristics. 
Respect of diversity is an important part of our Strategic Plan to 
foster growth, a sense of belonging to the UniCredit Group and 
create a competitive advantage.

Our personal commitment and strong responsibility are ex-
tremely important for creating a positive work environment and 
for changing the way of thinking to real cultural change.

Accordingly, we have created a special training for all em-
ployees in management positions called “Unconscious Bias”. 
Greater awareness and understanding of this phenomenon 
makes our work environment more inclusive, because during this 
training we learn how not to succumb our own and others’ preju-
dices. When we are aware that we may be unconsciously biased, 
it can actually become our strength.

Thanks to our strategic approach, in our bank women make up 
almost 68% of the total number of employees, and more 
importantly, the percentage of women in management posi-
tions is around 50%. We strive to become one of the best em-
ployers in Serbia, and in order to achieve that goal, it is clear to 
us that it is necessary to constantly invest in diversity and gender 
equality through numerous initiatives.

The full gender structure of employees in UniCredit Bank on 31st December 2023 is as follows

Description Total number Woman Man

Number of employees 1372 926 446

Managerial positions 212 104 108

Executive positions 1160 822 338

Women on maternity  
leave 67 67 0

Women returning from 
maternity leave 41 41 0

During 2023, a total of 67 colleagues used the right to go on a 
maternity leave. In the same year, 41 colleagues returned to their 
jobs after the end of maternity leave, which began in 2022.

In 2019, we launched a program called “Women empowered” 
which aims to empower women in their career development. 
The fourth generation started its program in 2023. Every moment 
in career can be a step towards something new, and the changes 
we are already experiencing today can become part of a compre-
hensive plan towards fulfilling personal potentials. It is impor-
tant that we always move forward towards development. Talent, 
strength, empathy, self-confidence, are just some of the motives 
that adorn our community of Brave Women.

 We are proud that after maternity leave, mothers can work 4 
hours a day to make the period of separation from the child as 
painless as possible, and this benefit, with a similar goal of sup-
porting the private and family lives of employees was also made 
available to fathers in 2022, who can use up to 20 working days 
of paid leave after child birth, which also continued in 2023. 
Work-life balance is important, so for that reason, parents will 
get a day off for the day their children start school, as well as 
work from home and flexible hours.
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Key labor policies
Compliance with regulatory requirements is an important aspect 
of our corporate philosophy, and management is directly respon-
sible for this aspect.

In order to implement the strategy described above, the People & 
Culture has carried out appropriate activities in accordance with 
the Bank’s strategic documents relating to various areas of re-
sponsibility towards employees:

 – Framework for P&C policies

 – UCB Employment Rulebook

 – Compensation policy

 – Global mobility

 – Employee training

 – Law on Safety and Health at Work and Occupational Health 
and Safety Rulebook adopted by Employee.

Human Rights Protection
Integrity, Accountability, Caring
These values unite and define the culture of UniCredit Group: 
the way in which decisions are made and how those decisions 
are implemented. Together, they represented an evolution of the 
Integrity Charter. One simple guiding principle is to live in accord-
ance with these values every day, in all parts of our operations: 
Win. The right way. Together. Basic principles and values become 
Integrity, accountability, caring.

Applying these values and guiding principles in everything the 
company is doing, at every moment, supports our path to be-
coming the Bank we have always wanted to be:

Primena ovih vrednosti i vodećih principa u svemu što kompani-
ja radi, u svakom momentu, podržava put da postanemo Banka 
kakva želimo da budemo:

 – guide the interactions of all colleagues across the Group

 – highlight the promotion of diversity and a work-life balance as 
crucial for our Group

 – strengthen our culture of free expression (speak up culture) 
and protect against reprisal

 – are applied to all business policies of the Group about sustain-
ability and client interactions

 – represent fairness to all stakeholders, at any moment, in order 
to achieve sustainable results.

UniCredit Bank’s P&C policy framework is a fundamental doc-
ument, which principles, implemented through procedures, are 
strictly adhered to in our day-to-day business. The mentioned 
document is based on the international principles of human 
rights, which are included in the Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights and the Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights 
at Work of the International Labour Organization.

UniCredit Bank provides a work environment free of discrimina-
tion, harassment and sexual harassment, which protects the dig-
nity of employees and promotes a safe and professional working 
environment that develops teamwork, diversity and trust.

Prohibition of discrimination refers to direct and indirect discrim-
ination based on sex, birth, language, race, colour, age, pregnan-
cy, health, disability, nationality, religion, marital status, family 
obligations, sexual orientation, political or other beliefs, social 
origin, property status, membership in political or trade union 
organizations or some other personal characteristics.

In that sense, already on the induction day, during the onboard-
ing of new employees, we dedicate some time to acquainting 
colleagues with the basic postulates on which our company op-
erates and the principles of respect of human rights that all em-
ployees are obliged to adhere to.

Key human right protection policies
 – Prohibition of abuse of sexual harassment and abuse  – Anti-retaliation Policy

Anti-corruption and Anti-bribery
UniCredit Bank Serbia and its subsidiary UniCredit Leasing as 
members of UniCredit Group have declared zero tolerance for 
acts of bribery and corruption. The Local banking Group has rules 
and mechanisms in place to prohibit facilitation payments and 
does not permit any transfer of value to public officials with-
out approval.

The approach to anti-corruption and anti-bribery is set out in 
the Business Rule on Anti-Corruption and associated working in-
struction. The Business Rule sets out the minimum anti-corrup-

tion standards throughout the local group, by implementation of 
UniCredit Group wide standards and local regulation. Based on 
these rules, the entities have implemented an effective Anti-Cor-
ruption Programme.

In line with internal rules, an act of corruption is defined as the 
giving, offering, promising, receiving, accepting, demanding or 
soliciting directly or indirectly of monetary or non-monetary and 
tangible or intangible benefits in order to obtain or retain an un-
due advantage in the course of business activities, irrespective of:
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 – whether the recipient of the act of corruption is a domestic 
or a foreign individual, a public official or a private individual;

 – where the act is committed;
 – whether the result of such an act entails an actual undue ad-
vantage or the improper performance of a function or activity.

All employees are responsible for complying with the internal 
rules and all applicable anti-corruption laws in the performance 
of their duties. There are also in place mechanisms to assess 
bribery and corruption risk deriving from cooperation with var-
ious third parties. All contracts with third parties have in place 
adequate clauses to ensure adherence to zero tolerance stand-
ards for acts of corruption.

All employees shall report to the Anti-Corruption Officer or the 
Head of Compliance any instances of actual or attempted acts 
of bribery or corruption they become aware of, whether they be 
offered, given or received. Although any reports must be made 
according to the established internal procedure, they must first 
be made to the Anti- Corruption Officer and, where actual or 
suspected money laundering is involved, also to the local AML 
Officer. Failure to make such a report may give rise, in certain 
jurisdictions, to individual criminal liability of the employee con-
cerned, as well as exposing the bank or the Group to potential 

legal or regulatory action. Potential acts of bribery and corrup-
tion may be reported also under the Business Rule on Whistle-
blowing.

The following mechanisms have been put in place to monitor the 
effectiveness of methods to preventing corruption and bribery:

 – escalation procedures for significant and strategic issues;

 – regular training cascaded to all employees;

 – quarterly report to the management on risk level and results 
of second level controls;

 – compliance risk assessment performed;

 – internal audit reviews.

The last two mechanisms result in risk mitigation actions that 
must be completed on time to ensure the management of iden-
tified risks.

As of end of 2023, the areas of anti-bribery and anti-corruption 
area in the bank showed medium-low level of risk as a result of 
the risk assessment and second level controls. Mitigation actions 
were identified as a result of performed activities and prescribed 
to relevant organizational units, which are regularly monitored.

Key projects, initiatives and results in 2023
For the reporting period, the Bank and its subsidiaries have engaged 
in improvement of the processes related to records of cooperation 
with third Parties and records of gifts and business representations. 
The improvement refers to the automation of certain registers, the 
implementation of which is expected by the end of 2024. Additional-
ly, regarding cooperation with third parties, the process was revised 
at the Group level and the process was relaxed by introducing a rel-

evant control threshold of EUR 5,000. On the other hand, mecha-
nisms were created for the unified risk assessment of Third Parties 
at the group level, not only in the local entity. As a regular activity, 
online trainings were conducted for all new employees, which are 
mandatory, and in addition to them, additional ad hoc trainings were 
organized during the aforementioned process changes.

Key Anti - Co rruption and Ant i-br ibery policies
1.  Anti-Corruption business rule
2.  Business rule on whistleblowing
3.  Rulebook on internal whistleblowing
4.  Anti-Corruption working instructions
5. Working instruction on whistleblowing
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T R A N S L A T I O N

Independent Auditor's Report 
To the Shareholders
of UniCredit Banka Srbija a.d., Beograd Group

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of UniCredit Banka Srbija a.d., Beograd Group 
(the “Group”), whose parent entity is UniCredit Banka Srbija a.d., Beograd, which comprise:

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023;

and, for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2023:

• the consolidated statement of profit or loss;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity;

• the consolidated statement of cash flows;

and

• notes, comprising material accounting policies and other explanatory information;

(the “consolidated financial statements”).

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS 
Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Accounting 
Standards).
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T R A N S L A T I O N

2

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Law on Auditing and the Law on Accounting of the 
Republic of Serbia, the Decision on External Audit of Banks and applicable auditing standards in the 
Republic of Serbia. Our responsibilities under those regulations are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibility for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements in the Republic of Serbia and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
consolidated Annual Business Report for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and, except 
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.

With respect to the consolidated Annual Business Report, we are also required by the Law on 
Accounting of the Republic of Serbia to express an opinion on whether the consolidated Annual 
Business Report:

• is consistent with the consolidated financial statements; and

• has been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.

Based solely on the work required to be undertaken in the course of the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, in our opinion, the information given in the consolidated Annual Business Report 
for the financial year for which the consolidated financial statements are prepared, in all material 
respects:

• is consistent with the consolidated financial statements; and

• has been prepared in accordance with the applicable legal requirements.

In addition, in the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and its environment obtained 
in the course of our audit, we are required to report if we identify material misstatements in the 
consolidated Annual Business Report. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process.
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T R A N S L A T I O N

3

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Law on Auditing of the Republic of 
Serbia, the Decision on External Audit of Banks and applicable auditing standards in the Republic of 
Serbia will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Law on Auditing of the Republic of Serbia, the Decision on 
External Audit of Banks and applicable auditing standards in the Republic of Serbia, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control;

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control;

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management;

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern;

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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T R A N S L A T I O N

4

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

KPMG d.o.o., Beograd

Signed on the Serbian original

Nikola Đenić
Licensed Certified Auditor

Belgrade, 19 February 2024

This is a translation of the original Independent Auditor's Report issued in the Serbian language.
All due care has been taken to produce a translation that is as faithful as possible to the original.

However, if any questions arise related to interpretation of the information
contained in the translation, the Serbian version of the document shall prevail.

We assume no responsibility for the correctness of the translation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

KPMG d.o.o., Beograd

Nikola Đenić
Licensed Certified Auditor

Belgrade, 19 February 2024
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Consolidated income statement

 Year Ended December 31, 2023 (Thousands of RSD)

Note  2023 2022
Interest income 3.d, 7 35,914,759 19,653,118
Interest expenses 3.d, 7 (10,998,408) (4,015,857)
Net interest income 24,916,351 15,637,261
Fee and commission income 3.e, 8 12,172,964 11,387,453
Fee and commission expenses 3.e, 8 (3,961,686) (3,978,066)
Net fee and commission income 8,211,278 7,409,387
Net gains on changes in the fair value of financial 
instruments 3.f, 9 112,762 688,600

Net gains on derecognition of the financial instruments 
measured at fair value 3.g, 10 182,916 -

Net losses on derecognition of the financial instruments 
measured at fair value 3.g, 10 - (65,855)

Net gains on risk hedging 3.h, 26 - 17,333
Net losses on risk hedging 3.h, 26 (5,044) -
Net foreign exchange losses and negative currency clause 
effects 3.c, 11 (107,678) (225,929)

Net losses on impairment of financial assets not measured 
at fair value through profit or loss 3.k, 12 (1,746,337) (3,449,330)

Net gains on derecognition of the financial assets measured 
at amortized cost 3.i, 13 - 35,056

Net losses on derecognition of the financial assets 
measured at amortized cost 3.i, 13 (1,999) -

Other operating income 14 47,205 6,958
Total operating income, net 31,609,454 20,053,481
Salaries, salary compensations and other personal expenses 15 (4,023,523) (3,635,777)
Depreciation and amortization charge 3.q, 3.r, 3.t, 16 (1,341,495) (1,359,333)
Other income 17 896,448 731,063
Other expenses 18 (6,184,982) (6,388,712)
Profit before tax 20,955,902 9,400,722
Current income tax expense 3.j, 19 (2,441,457) (993,730)
Deferred tax gains 3 j, 36.2 - 93,298
Deferred tax losses 3 j, 36.2 (107,683) -
Profit after tax 18,406,762 8,500,290
Result of the period - profit 18,406,762 8,500,290
Profit attributable to the parent entity 18,406,762 8,500,290
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income

 Year Ended December 31, 2023 (Thousands of RSD)

Note  2023 2022
DOBITAK PERIODA 18,406,762 8,500,290
Ostali rezultat perioda
Komponente ostalog rezultata koje ne mogu biti reklasifikovane u dobitak 
ili gubitak:
-  Povećanje revalorizacionih rezervi po osnovu nematerijalne imovine i 

osnovnih sredstava 7,094 45,454

- Aktuarski dobici 20,122 24,142
- Aktuarski gubici - -
Komponente ostalog rezultata koje mogu biti reklasifikovane u dobitak ili 
gubitak:
-  Pozitivni efekti promene vrednosti dužničkih instrumenata koji se 

vrednuju po fer vrednosti kroz ostali rezultat

2,102,414

-  Negativni efekti promene vrednosti dužničkih instrumenata koji se 
vrednuju po fer vrednosti kroz ostali rezultat - (3,596,846)

-  Dobici po osnovu instrumenata namenjenih zaštiti od rizika novčanih 
tokova 350,957 -

- Gubici po osnovu instrumenata namenjenih zaštiti od rizika novčanih 
tokova - (805,337)

Dobitak po osnovu poreza koji se odnosi na ostali rezultat perioda 36.2 - 649,889
Gubitak po osnovu poreza koji se odnosi na ostali rezultat perioda 36.2 (372,088) -
Ukupan pozitivni ostali rezultat perioda 39.2 2,108,499 -
Ukupan negativan ostali rezultat perioda 39.2 - (3,682,698)
UKUPAN POZITIVAN REZULTAT PERIODA 20,515,261 4,817,592
Ukupan pozitivan rezultat koji pripada matičnom entitetu 20,515,261 4,817,592
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Consolidated statement of financial position

As of December 31, 2023 (Thousands of RSD)

Note  2023 2022
Cash and balances held with the central bank 3.1, 20 130,511,716 69,758,831
Pledged financial assets 21 - 7,220,590
Receivables under derivative financial instruments 3.m, 22 2,055,657 2,808,749
Securities 3.k, 3.p, 23 104,445,786 103,771,881
Loans and receivables due from banks and other financial 
institutions 3.k, 3.0, 24 63,006,391 75,893,639

Loans and receivables due from customers 3.k, 3.0, 25 344,469,707 328,843,714
Receivables under derivatives designated as risk hedging 
instruments 3.n, 26 636,909 1,083,998

Intangible assets 3.r, 3.u, 27 2,522,455 2,469,691
Property, plant and equipment 3.q, 3.t, 3.u, 28 3,036,516 3,103,911
Investment property 3.S, 29 7,734 7,274
Deferred tax assets 3.j, 36 904,256 1,384,026
Other assets 30 1,918,501 1,996,573
Total assets 653,515,628 598,342,877

Liabilities under derivative financial instruments 3.m, 31 2,119,142 2,819,396
Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other financial institutions 
and the central bank 3.k, 3.v, 32 146,166,777 139,195,655

Deposits and other liabilities due to customers 3.k, 3.v, 33 389,735,404 358,140,581
Liabilities under derivatives designated as risk hedging instruments 3.n, 26 734,550 924,644
Provisions 3.w, 3.y, 35 5,449,407 5,647,543
Current tax liabilities 3.j, 19.4 1,529,868 302,396
Other liabilities 3.t, 37 10,315,537 7,149,535
Total liabilities 556,050,685 514,179,750
Issued (share) capital 39.1 24,169,776 24,169,776
Profit 39.1 19,760,286 9,732,221
Reserves 39.1 53,534,881 50,261,130
Total equity 97,464,943 84,163,127
Total liabilities and equity 653,515,628 598,342,877
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Consolidated Statement Of Changes In Equity

Year Ended December 31, 2023 (Thousands of RSD)

Share and other 
capital Share premium

Reserves from 
profit and other 

reserves

Positive 
revaluation 

reserves

Negative 
revaluation 

reserves
Profit Total

Opening balance as at 1 January of the previous year 23,607,620 562,156 53,740,761 203,067 - 7,107,136 85,220,740

Adjusted opening balance as at 1 January of the previous year 23,607,620 562,156 53,740,761 203,067 - 7,107,136 85,220,740

Total negative other comprehensive income for the period - - - (203,067) (3,479,631) - (3,682,698)
Profit for the current year - - - - - 8,500,290 8,500,290
Transfer from reserves to result due to reversal of reserves-increase - - - - - 2,545 2,545
Dividend payments - - - - - (5,877,750) (5,877,750)
Total transactions with owners - - - - - (5,877,750) (5,877,750)
Balance as at 31 December of the previous year 23,607,620 562,156 53,740,761 - (3,479,631) 9,732,221 84,163,127
Opening balance as at 1 January of the current year 23,607,620 562,156 53,740,761 - (3,479,631) 9,732,221 84,163,127
Adjusted opening balance as at 1 January of the current year 23,607,620 562,156 53,740,761 - (3,479,631) 9,732,221 84,163,127
Total positive other comprehensive income for the period - - - - 2,108,499 - 2,108,499
Profit for the current year - - - - - 18,406,762 18,406,762
Transfer from reserves to result due to reversal of reserves-increase - - - - - 2,130 2,130
Distribution of profit - increase - - 1,165,252 - - - 1,165,252
Distribution of profit, and/or loss provisions - decrease - - - - - (1,165,252) (1,165,252)
Dividend payments - - - - - (7,215,575) (7,215,575)
Total transactions with the owners - - 1,165,252 - - (8,380,827) (7,215,575)
Balance as at 31 December of the current year 23,607,620 562,156 54,906,013 - (1,371,132) 19,760,286 97,464,943
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Year Ended December 31, 2023 (Thousands of RSD)

Note 2023 2022 
Cash inflows from operating activities 42,143,699 26,915,255
Interest receipts 29,986,614 15,040,117
Fee and commission receipts 12,139,450 11,344,674
Receipts of other operating income 17,635 530,464
Cash outflows from operating activities (22,942,786) (15,923,054)
Interest payments (9,143,106) (2,832,002)
Fee and commission payments (3,932,531) (3,928,333)
Payments to, and on behalf of employees (3,965,103) (3,675,707)
Taxes, contributions and other duties paid (716,783) (652,466)
Payments for other operating expenses (5,185,263) (4,834,546)
Net cash inflows from operating activities prior to increases/decreases in 
financial assets and financial liabilities 19,200,913 10,992,201

Decrease in financial assets and increase in financial liabilities 45,860,139 45,901,982
Decrease in receivables under securities and other financial assets not intended 
for investment 5,214,214 -

Increase in deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other financial institutions, 
the central bank and customers 40,363,360 45,267,235

Increase in other financial liabilities 129,986 634,747
Increase in liabilities under derivatives designated as hedging instruments and 
changes in the fair value of hedged items 152,579 -

Increase in financial assets and decrease in financial Liabilities (1,814,569) (88,453,002)
Increase in loans and receivables due from banks, other financial institutions, the 
central bank and customers (1,814,569) (83,773,373)

Increase in receivables under securities and other financial assets not intended for 
investment - (4,638,702)

Decrease in liabilities under derivatives designated as hedging instruments and 
changes in the fair value of hedged items - (40,927)

Net cash inflow by operating activities before income taxes 63,246,483 -
Net cash outflow by operating activities before income taxes - (31,558,819)
Income tax paid (1,214,196) (760,298)
Dividends paid (7,215,575) (15,043,750)
Net cash inflow by operating activities 54,816,712 -
Net cash outflow by operating activities  - (47,362,867)
Cash inflows from investing activities 30,268,560 22,255,049
Proceeds from investing in investment securities 30,266,364 22,251,943
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment 2,196 3,106
Cash outflows from investing activities (22,967,956) (18,544,501)
Cash used for investing in investments securities (21,960,261) (17,862,589)
Cash used for the purchases of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment (1,007,695) (681,912)
Net cash generated by investing activities 7,300,604 3,710,548
Cash inflows from financing activities 16,256,532 21,425,049
Borrowings, inflows 16,256,532 21,425,049
Cash outflows from financing activities (16,675,059) (16,882,626)
Cash outflows from loans taken (16,171,662) (16,438,775)
Other outflows from financing activities (503,397) (443,851)
Net cash generated by financing activities - 4,542,423
Net cash used in financing activities (418,527) -
Total cash inflows 134,528,930 116,497,335
Total cash outflows (72,830,141) (155,607,231)
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Note 2023 2022 
Net cash increase 61,698,789
Net cash decrease - (39,109,896)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 3,1, 40 39,123,223 78,211,971
Foreign exchange Gains, net 53,603 21,148
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR 3,1,40 100,875,615 39,123,223
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1. Banking group’s establishment and activity

The Banking Group (hereinafter: the “Group“) is comprised of the parent entity UniCredit Bank Srbija a.d. Beograd (hereinafter: the 
“Parent Entity“ or the “Bank“) and its subsidiaries UniCredit Leasing Srbija d.o.o. Beograd and UniCredit Partner d.o.o. Beograd until 
the end of the liquidation procedure. In January 2016 the Bank became the sole (100%) owner of each of the aforesaid subsidiaries. 
During 2023, the liquidation procedure of UniCredit Partner d.o.o. was initiated and completed.

(a) Establishment and Activity of the Bank
UniCredit Bank Srbija a.d. Beograd (the: “Bank”) was originally established as HVB Banka Jugoslavija (“HVB”) in 2001 after obtaining 
an operating license from the National Bank of Yugoslavia on July 2, 2001. On October 1, 2005, a status change of merger and acqui-
sition of entities HVB Banka Srbija i Crna Gora A.D. Beograd, as the Acquirer and Eksport-Import banka Eksimbank A.D. Beograd as the 
Acquiree, was registered. The Bank changed its name to UniCredit Bank Srbija a.d. Beograd on March 30, 2007.

The Bank is a member of UniCredit Group. In accordance with the reorganization of the Banking Group’s activities in Central and 
Eastern European countries, under the Demerger and Takeover Agreement executed by and between UniCredit Bank Austria AG and 
UCG Beteillingsverwaltung GmbH on August 31, 2016 and Merger and Acquisition Agreement executed by and between UCG Beteil-
lingsverwaltung GmbH and UniCredit SpA on September 30, 2016, UniCredit Bank Austria AG transferred its sole (100%) ownership 
of the Bank to the Austrian holding company UCG Beteillingsverwaltung GmbH. Through merger of UCG Beteillingsverwaltung GmbH 
with UniCredit SpA, UniCredit SpA became the sole shareholder of UniCredit Bank Srbija a.d., Beograd.

The Bank is registered in the Republic of Serbia to provide banking services associated with payment transfers, lending and depositary 
activities in the country and abroad and other activities defined by the Law on Banks and the Bank’s own Statute.

In January 2016 the Bank became the sole owner of entities UniCredit Leasing Srbija d.o.o., Beograd and UniCredit Partner d.o.o., Be-
ograd.

As of December 31, 2023, the Bank comprises of the Head Office in Belgrade, 72 branch offices and 3 counters located in towns 
throughout the Republic of Serbia (December 31, 2022: 72 branch offices and 2 counters).

As of December 31, 2023, the Bank has 1,336 employees (December 31, 2022: 1,359 employees).

(b) Establishment and Activity of the Subsidiary UniCredit Leasing Srbija d.o.o. Beograd
The Subsidiary UniCredit Leasing Srbija d.o.o. Beograd (hereinafter: “Leasing“) was established under Decision of the Commercial Court 
in Belgrade, registry card no. 1-92733-00, dated May 18, 2004 under the name of HVB Leasing d.o.o. Beograd. The founder of Leas-
ing was Bank Austria Creditanstalt Leasing GmbH, Vienna. On April 11, 2007, Leasing changed its name into UniCredit Leasing d.o.o. 
Beograd. Change of the founder was registered with the Serbian Business Registers Agency under no. 4109/2009 dated February 10, 
2009 with UniCredit Global Leasing S.p.A, Milan registered as the new founder. In January 2016, in accordance with the Agreement 
on Sale and Purchase of Equity Interest and upon obtaining the National Bank of Serbia’s approval, the Bank became the sole (100%) 
owner of Leasing. The aforedescribed change in ownership was registered with the Serbian Business Registers Agency on January 26, 
2016.

The Leasing Company is principally involved in finance lease activities.

As of December 31, 2023, Leasing has 36 employees (December 31, 2022: 33 employees).

(c) Establishment and Activity of the Subsidiary UniCredit Partner d.o.o. Beograd
The Subsidiary UniCredit Partner d.o.o. Beograd (hereinafter: “Partner”) was founded on May 3, 2006 under the name of HVB Partner 
d.o.o. za zastupanje u osiguranju Beograd [HVB Partner Limited Liability Company for Insurance Agency Services, Belgrade]. Partner’s 
founder was BA-CA Leasing Versicherungs Service GmbH, Vienna, Austria. The Company’s foundation was registered with the Serbian 
Business Registers Agency under Decision no. BD 3370/2007 on March 13, 2007. On June 2008, Partner Changed its name to Uni-
Credit Partner d.o.o. za zastupanje u osiguranju Beograd [UniCredit Partner Limited Liability Company for Insurance Agency Services, 
Belgrade]. Change of the founder to a new founder Allegro Leasing Gesellschaft m.b.H. was registered under Decision of the Serbian 
Business Registers Agency no. BDŽU 30358/2013/01-01 dated April 9, 2013.

1. Banking group’s establishment and activity
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1. Banking group’s establishment and activity

In January 2016, in accordance with the Agreement on Sale and Purchase of Equity Interest and upon obtaining the National Bank of 
Serbia’s approval, the Bank became the sole (100%) owner of Partner. The aforedescribed change in ownership was registered with 
the Serbian Business Registers Agency on January 12, 2016.

Partner is registered to perform the activities of an agent and intermediary in insurance. On April 16, 2007 Partner executed the Agen-
cy Agreement with Wiener Staedtische osiguranje a.d. Beograd, (headquartered at no. 1, Trešnjinog Cveta St., Belgrade) as the main 
insurer. Based on the written approval obtained from the main insurer and other insurance companies, Partner acted as an agent of 
the following insurers: Generali osiguranje a.d. Beograd, DDOR Novi Sad a.d., Novi Sad, Dunav osiguranje a.d., Beograd, AMS osiguranje 
a.d., Beograd, Triglav osiguranje a.d., Beograd, Milenijum osiguranje a.d, Begrad, Sava neživotno osiguranje a.d, Beograd, UNIQA osigu-
ranje a.d., Beograd and the insurance company taken acquired by UNIQA osiguranje Basler osiguranje“ a.d., Beograd.

During 2023, the liquidation procedure of UniCredit Partner d.o.o. was initiated and completed.
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2.  Basis of preparation and presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements

(a) Basis of Preparation and Presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Legal entities and entrepreneurs incorporated in Serbia are required to maintain their books of account, to recognize and value as-
sets and liabilities, income and expenses, and to present, submit and disclose financial statements in conformity with the Law on 
Accounting. As a large legal entity, the Bank is required to apply International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), which as per 
the aforementioned law comprise the following: the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (the 
“Framework”), International Accounting Standards (“IAS”), International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as well as the related 
interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) and additional related interpreta-
tions issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are presented in the format prescribed under the Decision on the Forms and 
Contents of the Items in the Forms of the Financial Statements of Banks (Official Gazette of RS no. 93/2020).

These consolidated financial statements were prepared at historical cost principle, except for the measurement of the following sig-
nificant statement of financial position items:

- financial assets stated at fair value through other comprehensive income,

- financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss,

- derivative financial instruments stated at fair value, and

- investment property stated at fair value and

- property used for performance of the Group’s own business activity that are stated at revalued method

-  recognized financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost designated as hedged item in qualifying fair value hedging relation-
ships at amortized cost adjusted for hedging gain or loss.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of consideration paid in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between the market 
participants at the measurement date under current market conditions regardless of whether that price is directly observable or esti-
mated using another valuation technique according to IFRS 13. Upon estimating the fair value of assets or liabilities, the Group takes 
into account characteristics of assets or liabilities that other market participants would also consider upon determining the price of 
assets or liabilities at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the accompanying consoli-
dated financial statements was determined in the aforesaid manner, except for share-based payment transactions, which are in the 
scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions, which are in the scope of IAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but 
are not fair value, such as the net realizable value in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.

According to IFRS 13, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree 
to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in 
its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date;

- Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either di-
rectly or indirectly; and

- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

In the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Group adhered to the accounting policies described in 
Note 3.
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2.  Basis of preparation and presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are stated in thousands of dinars (RSD). Dinar is the official reporting currency in the 
Republic of Serbia.

Standards/amendments to the existing standards and interpretations issued that came into effect in the current period are disclosed 
in Note 2(b). Standards/amendments to the existing standards and interpretations in issue but not yet in effect are disclosed in Note 
2(c).

(b)  Adoption of the New Standards and Revised/Amended Standards Effective for the Current 
Year

In 2023, the Group has adopted and applied the following new standards and amendments to the existing standards that are effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023:

- Amendments to IAS 1 „Presentation of financial statements“ – disclosure of accounting policies

-  Amendments to IAS 8 „ Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors - definition of accounting estimates

- Amendments to IAS 12 „ Income Taxes “ – deferred taxes related to assets and liabilities from the same transaction

- Amendments to IFRS 17 „Insurance Contracts“ – initial application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 - comparative information

- IFRS 17 „Insurance Contracts “, including changes

- Amendments to IAS 12 „Income Taxes“ – international tax reform

The adoption of these new standards, amendments to the existing standards and interpretation has not led to any material changes 
in the Group’s unconsolidated financial statements.

(c) New and Revised IFRS Standards in Issue but not yet Effective
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the following new standards, amendments to existing standards and new 
interpretation were in issue, but not yet effective:

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: classification of obligations as current or permanent - postponement 
of the date of application and current obligations with covenants that are applicable to periods after January 1, 2024

• Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback - leasing obligations in a sale and repurchase transaction 
applicable to periods after January 1, 2024

• Amendments to IAS 7 “Statement of cash flows” and IFRS 7 “Financial instruments” - disclosure of financial arrangements of sup-
pliers

• Amendments to IAS 21 “Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates” - lack of substitutability

The Group’s management has elected not to adopt these new standards, amendments to the existing standards and new interpre-
tations in advance of their effective dates. The Group anticipates that the adoption of these standards, amendments to the existing 
standards and new interpretations will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group in the period of initial ap-
plication.

(d) Financial reporting under conditions of uncertainty
Despite of geopolitical tensions caused by Russia-Ukraine war and potential energy crises, the total economic activity of the Republic 
of Serbia in 2023, measured by the real movement of gross domestic product (GDP), that is estimated at RSD 7,097 billion, which is 
an estimated growth of 2.5% y-o-y. According to latest information, gross investments in fixed assets in 2023 grew 3.5% comparing 
to last year. Trade in EUR has an upwards trend with exports growing a 4% estimated annual growth rate, while imports fell 6%. 
According to the latest data agricultural production made the physical volume growth of 9%, with industrial production growing 2.4%. 
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The value of construction works carried out in 2023 was lower by 8.9% comparing to last year. Throughout 2023, unemployment re-
mained unchanged, standing at 9% in Q3 2023 according to Labor Force Survey, unchanged from previous quarter. In the same time, 
the employment rate in Q3 was 50.7%. Average monthly salary amounted to RSD 86,738, which represents a 15% (nominal) and 1.4% 
(real) y-o-y growth rate. The largest growth of wages since the beginning of 2023 was recorded in the financial sector.

According to the Statistical Office, y-o-y inflation was 8.0% at the end of November 2023, while m-o-m inflation in November was 
0.5%. . Core inflation rose slower than overall inflation (7.0%) mostly due to stability of the exchange rate. Since the start of the 
Ukraine crisis, NBS hiked its key policy rate by 550 bps in total, bringing the KPR from 1.0% to 6.5% at the end of 2023. Despite the 
stricter conditions and tighter monetary policy, the liquidity in the banking sector remains high at more than RSD 600 billion surplus. 
The surplus is mostly the result of NBS interventions on the FX market.

Calculation of the expected credit loss
During 2023, the uncertainties on the economic activities arising from Geo-political situation, increase of energy costs, inflation and 
interest rates during 2022 are still in focus and intensively analyzed in order to identify potential negative impacts. The spill-over 
effects of Russian-Ukrainian conflict continued leading to revise the outlook for the euro area economy, also pushing up inflationary 
pressures and interest rates. In light of interest rates steadily remaining on higher level and plunging of real estate assets value due 
to contractions of the sector, an increasing Real Estate Risk has been arisen leading Commercial Real Estate financing perimeter as 
particularly vulnerable in case of stressed severe evolution of scenario, both in terms of default risk due to impacted debt repayment 
capacity as a consequence of higher interest rates, and recovery risk due to lower values of real estate assets.

In order to factor-in into the risks underlying the sharp rise in interest rates for both Corporate and private individuals, furthermore the 
geopolitical overlays which were adopted during 2022, during the 2023 the Group has implemented additional overlay in term of ECL 
calculation regarding Commercial Real Estate financing (CREF overlay).

In this regard the adoption of this overlay is a complementary measure to the IFRS 9 models that, by their structure, have been already 
properly and directly proving to recognize the effect of geo-political crises. In this context while IFRS 9 models and in particular delta 
satellite models which are used to incorporate forward looking information and to capture the effect of macro-economic scenario at 
portfolio level, the overlays act on specific sub-portfolios considered particularly vulnerable in case contingent situation may evolve 
to severe stressed conditions

Indeed as of 31 December 2023 overall overlays applied amount to RSD 1,507,918 thousand and is broken- down according to the 
following components:

• Regarding Geo-political overlay:

- Corporate energy-intensive industry sectors prone to be more affected by spill-over effects linked to Russian-Ukrainian conflict, 
specifically impacting the energy supply and related price soaring

- Retail clients, for: (i) floating rate mortgages (not having overdue instalments), given the sensitiveness in this context of in-
creasing interest rate/inflation, and (ii) at least 1 unpaid instalment on their exposures, considered a perimeter with already 
difficulties in payments and as such particularly vulnerable in this specific contingency.

• Regarding CREF overlay:

- Corporate clients rated by IPRE model (Income Produced Real Estate) as well as clients classified within construction industry

Pregled komponenti 
manadžerskog overlaya

31. decembar 2022 Efekat 2023. godine- 
dodatno/(ukidanje)

31. decembar 2023

Overlay - Geopolitički 1,218,260 (74,347)* 1,143,913

Overlay - CREF - 364,005 364,005

Ukupno 1,218,260 289,658 1,507,918

2.  Basis of preparation and presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements
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* 245.255 thousand RSD released due to inflow to Default while +170.909 thousand RSD allocated due to recalibration (change of 
exposure in scope of Geo/political overlay)

As far as the calculation is concerned, credit exposures belonging to the above categories are identified according to their specific fea-
tures. Starting from this, satellite models are run by applying - as macro-economic conditions - the Multi Year Plan recessive scenario 
to determine the adjustment to be applied to the default rate. Such adjusted default rate is then applied to the relevant categories 
to estimate the expected new inflows of defaulted exposure, whose LLPs are then calculated according to the average coverage rate 
applied to Unlikely to Pay.

(e) (e) Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (IBOR)
A comprehensive reference rates reform is currently taking place following the concerns raised in recent years about the integrity and 
reliability of major financial market benchmarks. In order to assess the relevant risks associated with the global benchmark reforms 
mandated by the Financial Stability Board (FSB), and taking appropriate actions to ensure an adequate transition to alternative or 
reformed benchmark rates ahead of the deadline of the end of 2021 specified in the revised EU Benchmark Regulation BMR, UniCredit 
Group launched in October 2018 a Group wide project in order to manage the IBORs discontinuation. Accordingly, a multiyear roadmap 
has been defined based on both Group exposure (mainly focused on Euro) and transition timeline.

To address potential source of uncertainty on the effect of the Interbank offered rates (IBOR) reform on existing accounting hedge rela-
tionships the “Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform” (in further text: the Amendments) clarifies 
that the reform does not require to terminate such hedge relationships. In order to closely follow the developments on IBORs and to 
proper manage the transition and the discontinuation impacts, UniCredit Group is continuously monitoring the market, participating 
to the relevant public consultations and working groups.

The Amendments do not have an impact on the financial statements prepared for both 2023 and 2022 bearing in mind that the Group 
has active contracts of fair value hedging related only to the EURIBOR benchmark.

There are no financial instruments which are yet to transition to alternative rate as of 31st December 2023.

(f) Comparative Information
Comparative information in the accompanying consolidated financial statements represents the data from the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements for 2022.

(g) Use of Estimates
Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Group’s management to make the best 
possible estimates and reasonable assumptions that affect the application of the accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, as well as income and expenses arising during the accounting period. Actual amounts of assets and liabilities 
may vary from these estimates.

These estimations and underlying assumptions are subject to regular review. The revised accounting estimates are presented for the 
period in which they are revised as well as for the ensuing periods.

Further explanations have been reported in Note 5.

(h) Statement of Compliance
The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS) 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

2.  Basis of preparation and presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

The accounting policies presented hereinafter have been consistently applied by the Group for all years presented in the accompany-
ing consolidated financial statements. The Group’s main accounting policies applied to the current and previous reporting periods are 
presented in greater detail hereunder.

(a) Consolidation
The Group’s consolidated financial statements include the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2023 
and the related consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 include the financial statements of 
the Parent Entity (the Bank) and financial statements of the following subsidiaries:

Equity Interest %
2023 2022

Subsidiary:
UniCredit Leasing d.o.o., Beograd 100% 100%
UniCredit Partner d.o.o., Beograd - 100%

During 2023, the liquidation procedure of UniCredit Partner d.o.o. was initiated and completed. These consolidated financial state-
ments include transactions with the aforementioned subsidiary up to the moment of derecognition. All materially significant amounts, 
transactions and balances derived from intercompany relationships are eliminated in consolidation.

(b) Going Concern
Considering the circumstances caused by COVID-19 pandemic, Russian-Ukrainian conflict and uncertainty related to economic recov-
ery, the Group’s management believe with reasonable certainty that the Group will continue to operate profitably in the foreseeable 
future. As a result, the Group’s financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, assuming that the Group will con-
tinue its operations for an indefinite period in the future.

(c) (c) Foreign Exchange Translation
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into dinars at official middle exchange rates effective at the date of 
each transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, as well as those indexed to a currency clause, 
are translated into dinars by applying the official middle exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Gains and losses incurred in 
realized transactions of purchase and sale of foreign currency and effective foreign currency with individuals and legal entities during 
the period are stated in the Group’s income statement, within the position “Net fee and commission income”. Exchange differences 
resulting from the translation of one currency into another currency at different exchange rates, including exchange rate differences 
based on the currency clause, are stated in the Group’s income statement under “Net foreign exchange gains/losses and currency 
clause effects”.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies measured at fair value are translated to the functional currency 
at the exchange rate effective at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are stated at 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates effective at the dates of the transactions.

The official exchange rates determined by the NBS and applied in the translation of the statement of financial position’s components 
into dinars for the following major currencies were as follows:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
USD 105,8671 110,1515
EUR 117,1737 117,3224
CHF 125,5343 119,2543
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(d) Interest Income and Expenses

(i) The Effective Interest Method
Interest income and expenses are recognized in the income statement in the period they relate to using the effective interest method 
for all interest-bearing financial instruments measured at amortized cost (AC) and securities at fair value through other comprehen-
sive income (FVtOCI).

The effective interest rate is the rate that precisely discounts estimated future payments or receipts over the expected life of the 
financial instrument or over a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying value of the financial asset or financial liability. 
In calculation of the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows taking into account all the contractually agreed terms 
of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit losses. The effective interest rate calculation includes all fees and 
amounts paid or received between the counterparties and transaction costs that form an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Transaction costs are costs directly attributable to the acquisition or the issuance of a financial asset or liability. These include fees and 
commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers, fees from regulatory agencies and stock exchanges, as well as taxes and 
fees related to the transfer if exist. Transaction costs do not include premiums or discounts, financing costs or internal administrative 
costs or maintenance costs. Only transaction costs that are certain or determinable are included in the amortized cost at the initial 
recognition of a financial asset. If the Group receives a fee from a client that offsets similar charges paid by the Group, only the net 
amount is included in the amortized value of the asset.

Fees that are integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument include:

a) “origination fees” – fees charged by the Group in connection with issuance or acquisition of a financial asset; such fees include 
fees for evaluation of the financial position of borrowers, for evaluating and recording guarantees, collaterals and other security 
arrangements, for negotiating the terms of an instrument, preparing and processing documents and closing transactions;

b) “commitment fees” - fees received for the issue of a loan when it is probable that the loan arrangement will be realized,

c) “origination fees” - fees payable based on the issue of financial liabilities that are measured at amortized cost.

Interest income on debt securities at FVtPL is recognized at the nominal coupon interest rate and is included in interest income. 
Interest income and expense on derivative financial instruments are also included in interest income and expense.

The Group calculates interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial assets other 
than those that are credit-impaired. Regular interest income from impaired financial assets is calculated based on the net value of the 
financial asset using the effective interest method. Calculation of penalty interest income from impaired financial assets is suspended 
from the moment when the client becomes credit-impaired and is recorded from then on within off-balance sheet items, except for a 
portion of the legally prescribed penalty interest on written-off loans without debt acquittal, which is recorded when collected.

Impaired loans and receivables are those loans and receivables due from clients who are in the status of default (internal ratings 8-, 9 
and 10), i.e., classified in Stage 3 under IFRS 9. If the status of a financial asset is improved so that it is no longer impaired, the Group 
resumes calculation of interest income on a gross basis. For financial assets classified under IFRS 9 as POCI (“purchased or originated 
credit-impaired” assets), the Group calculates interest income by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate on the amortized 
cost of an asset. Credit-adjusted effective interest rate is the interest rate that, on initial recognition, discounts expected cash flows 
including credit losses to the amortized value of the POCI financial asset.

(ii) Presentation
Interest income and expenses recognized in profit or loss include:

• interest on financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at amortized cost (AC) calculated using the effective interest 
rate method;

• interest on securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVtOCI) calculated using the effective interest 
rate method; and

• interest on coupon securities held for trading.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(e) Fee and Commission Income and Expenses
Fee and commission income and expenses that are integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial asset or liability are includ-
ed in the calculation of the effective interest rate and therefore stated within interest income and expenses.

Fees that are not integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument and are therefore accounted for in accordance 
with IFRS 15 include:

a) “monitoring” or “management” fees – fees charged by the Group for loan servicing;

b) “commitment fees” – fees for issuing a loan when it is unlikely that the loan arrangement will be realized; and

c) syndicated loan fees received by the Group as a transaction agent/arranger.

In accordance with IFRS 15, two approaches for the recognition of fee and commission income are provided: “at a point in time” and 
“over time” as the related services are performed. Fee and commission income includes revenues from international and domestic 
payment services, issuance of guarantees, letters of credit and other banking services as well as income from realized transactions of 
foreign exchange purchases/sales and effective foreign currency transactions.

Fee and commission expenses mostly relate to fees for transactions and services provided and are recorded upon receipt of services. 
Fee and commission expenses also include expenses from realized transactions of foreign exchange purchases/sales and effective 
foreign currency transactions.

(f) Net Gains/Losses on Changes in the Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Net gains/losses on the change in the fair value of financial instruments include the effects of fair value adjustment of derivatives, 
except for derivatives designated as risk hedging instruments and fair value adjustment of financial assets and financial liabilities 
carried at fair value through profit or loss.

(g) Net Gains/Losses on Derecognition of Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value
Net gains/losses from derecognition of the financial instruments measured at fair value include the effects of the derecognition of 
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, as well as financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income.

(h) Net Gains/Losses on Risk Hedging
Net gains/(losses) on risk hedging include net gains on the value adjustment of financial derivatives designated as risk hedging instru-
ments as well as on the fair value adjustment of loans, receivables and securities as hedged items, these adjustments arising from 
the risk against which the item is hedged.

(i) Net Gains/Losses on Derecognition of Financial Instruments Measured at Amortized Cost
Net gains/losses from derecognition of the financial instruments measured at amortized cost include the effects arising from derecog-
nition of financial assets at amortized cost.

( j) Income Tax Expenses
Tax expenses comprise current taxes and deferred taxes. Current taxes and deferred taxes are recognized in profit or loss except to the 
extent that they relate to items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

(i) Current Income Tax
Current income tax is an expected tax payable or receivable as per taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to the tax payable in respect of previous years. Current income tax represents an 
amount calculated in accordance with the Republic of Serbia Corporate Income Tax Law. The prescribed tax rate for 2023 equals 15%. 
The taxable income is the profit before taxes shown in the income statement, adjusted in accordance with the tax regulations of the 
Republic of Serbia.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(ii) Deferred Income Taxes
Deferred income tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the 
temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted by the reporting date.

Based on their future tax consequences, temporary differences can be:

• taxable temporary differences, which will result in taxable amounts in determining taxable profit (tax loss) of future 
periods when the carrying amount of the asset is recovered or the liability is settled in accordance with the appropriate 
tax regime; or

• deductible temporary differences, which will result in amounts that can be deducted in determining the taxable profit 
(tax loss) of the future period in which the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered or the liability settled in 
accordance with the appropriate tax regime.

(iii) Other Taxes and Contributions
According to the relevant legislation in the Republic of Serbia, the Group pays various taxes, contributions, and duties payable, such as 
property tax, payroll contributions charged to the employer and other public duties. These are included under other expenses within 
the income statement.

(k) Financial Assets and Liabilities

(i) Recognition and Initial Measurement
The Group initially recognizes financial assets and liabilities at the settlement date.

A financial asset or liability is initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or 
issue, except for financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, whose measurement does not include such costs.

(ii) Classification and Subsequent Measurement

Financial Assets

Upon initial recognition, the Group classifies its financial assets in one of the following three categories:

• financial assets at amortized cost (AC);

• financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVtOCI); and

• financial assets through profit or loss (FVtPL).

The requirements regarding the classification of debt and equity instruments are described below:

Debt Instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the perspective of the issuer, such as 
loans, securities, and other similar receivables.

Classification and measurement of financial assets depend on the following two main criteria:

a) business model based on which the Group manages a financial asset; and

b) characteristics of the contractual cash flows of a financial assets (the so-called SPPI criterion).

Business Model

The business model reflects the manner in which the Group manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows therefrom, i.e., 
the business model determines whether the cash flows will result from holding the assets (“hold to collect” business model) or from 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

their holding as well as sales (“hold to collect and sell” business model). If neither of the aforesaid is applicable (e.g. a financial asset 
is held for trading), such an asset is held within the “other” business model and classified as measured at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVtPL). Business model assessment is performed at the level of a group of financial assets such as portfolio or sub-portfolio level, 
taking into account all the relevant and objective information such as sales of assets that were realized in the past, management’s 
intentions regarding future sales, risk management, valuation the assets’ performance and reporting thereon to the management, 
etc. Business model assessment is based on realistic future expectations. Reclassification of a financial asset is made if the business 
model within which the asset is managed is changed. The Group does not expect frequent changes of its business models.

SPPI Criterion

In instances of “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” business models, the Group assesses whether the contractual cash flows 
of the financial asset represent solely payments of the principal and interest payment (“SPPI test”). For the purpose of this assess-
ment, “principal” is defined as the fair value of a financial asset at the date of initial recognition. “Interest” is defined as consideration 
for the time value of money, the accepted level of credit risk of the borrower, other basic lending risks as well as an appropriate margin. 
If the contractual terms of a financial asset include exposure to risks that are not in accordance with the underlying loan arrangement, 
a financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Based on the above explained criteria, debt instruments are classified into the following asset categories:

1) Financial Assets at Amortized Cost (AC)

A financial asset that is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash 
flows and contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and is not irrevocably classified as financial 
asset at fair value through profit or loss, is measured at amortized cost. The amortized value of these financial assets is subsequently 
adjusted for estimated impairment as explained in Note 3.(k)(viii). Interest income on these financial assets is recognized using the 
effective interest method and is included in the item of interest Income within in the income statement.

2) Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVtOCI)

A financial asset that is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets and whose contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and is not irrevocably classified 
as financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, is classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
The effects of the change in fair value in the subsequent measurement of these assets are recorded in the other comprehensive in-
come. As with financial assets at amortized cost, the impairment, interest income and foreign exchange gains/losses are recognized 
in the income statement. The loss allowance is not recognized in balance sheet but in other comprehensive income considering that 
book value of those assets should be equal to fair value.

Upon derecognition, cumulative gains and losses previously recognized in the other comprehensive income are reclassified and pre-
sented within net gains/losses on derecognition of financial assets measured at fair value in the income statement. Interest income 
on these financial assets is recognized at the effective interest method and is included in the item of interest Income within the 
income statement.

3) Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVtPL)

A financial asset that does not meet the criteria for classification at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive in-
come is measured at fair value through profit or loss. In addition, the following assets are classified as FVtPL:

• held-for-trading financial assets if they are acquired for purpose of sale or repurchase in the near term or when they are initially 
recognized as part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together in order to achieve short-term profits;

• financial assets that the Group, upon initial recognition, designates as assets at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the 
business model and cash flow characteristics, in order to eliminate or significantly reduce the so-called “accounting mismatch”.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

Subsequent changes in the fair value of these assets are recorded through profit or loss within the line item of net gains/losses on 
the change in the fair value of financial instruments. Interest income on coupon securities held for trading is included in the interest 
income within the income statement.

Equity Instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective, i.e., instruments that do not con-
tain the contractual obligation of payment and represent a share in the net assets of the issuer.

The Group ‘s equity instruments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, except when they are traded, in 
which case they are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Such a classification is performed for each equity instrument individually. Equity instruments at fair value through other compre-
hensive income are initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs directly attributable to their acquisition, unless the Group 
assesses in some cases that the cost is the best estimate of their fair value.

Effects of the changes in the fair value of equity instruments that are measured at FVtOCI in subsequent measurement are recog-
nized in the other comprehensive income and are never reclassified to the income statement, even when the asset is derecognized. 
The provisions of IFRS 9 regarding impairment of financial assets relate only to debt instruments. For equity instruments at FVtOCI, 
the effects of impairment are not recognized through the income statement. Instead, all changes in their fair value are recorded within 
the other comprehensive income. Dividends are recognized within the line item of other operating income in the income statement 
when the Group ‘s right to receive a dividend is established. Effects of changes in the fair value of equity instruments at FVtPL are 
recorded under the item of net gains/(losses) on the change in the fair value of financial instruments in the income statement.

Financial Liabilities

The Group classifies financial liabilities, except for irrevocable commitments for loans and financial guarantees, as liabilities measured 
at amortized cost or as fair value through profit or loss (please refer to Note 3.(v)).

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in a 
trading book) and other financial liabilities that are designated at FVtPL on initial recognition. However, in respect of the measurement 
of financial liabilities initially designated at FVtPL, IFRS 9 requires that the changes in the fair value of a financial liability that relate to 
changes in the Group’s own credit risk are presented in the other comprehensive income, unless the presentation of the effect of the 
change in the liability’s credit risk would cause or increase an accounting mismatch in the income statement. Changes in the fair value 
of liabilities arising from credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to the income statement.

(iii) Derecognition

Financial Assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when:

• the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire;

• when the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards associated with ownership of the financial asset or it neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but does not retain control over a 
financial asset;

• when contractual terms of a financial asset are significantly modified contractual terms (please refer to Note 3.(k)(iv)).
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion 
of the asset transferred), and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset acquired less any new liability assumed) and (ii) 
any cumulative gain or loss that was previously recognized in other comprehensive income is recognized in profit or loss.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized in its statement of financial position, but retains either all or 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion thereof. If all or substantially all risks and rewards are retained, 
then the transferred assets are not derecognized. Transfers of assets with retention of all or substantially all risks and rewards include, for 
example, repo transactions. When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total rate of return swap on the transferred assets, the 
transaction is accounted for as a secured financing transaction similarly to repo transactions since the Group retains all or substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of such assets.

In transactions in which the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it 
retains control over the asset, the Group continues to recognize the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the asset, determined 
by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.

Financial Liabilities

The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or have expired.

(iv) Modification

Derecognition due to Significant Modification of Contractual Terms

In instances of amendments to the contractual terms, the Group assesses whether cash flows have been significantly modified. If the 
cash flows of a financial asset/liability are significantly modified in relation to originally contracted, asset/liability is derecognized and 
new financial asset/liability is recognized at fair value increased by any transaction costs (referring to new financial asset/liability). 
Any difference between the carrying amount of the existing asset/liability and fair value of a new financial asset/liability is recognized 
in the income statement within the net gains/losses on derecognition of the financial instruments recognized at fair value and net 
gains/losses on derecognition of the financial instruments recognized at amortized cost.

Under significant modification of cash flows, the Group considers: changes of contracts due to commercial reasons that are in accord-
ance with market conditions, changes in the currency or debtor, as well as changes that introduce contractual provisions resulting in 
non-compliance with the SPPI criteria. In accordance with IFRS 9, a new financial asset is classified in Stage 1 for ECL measurement of 
expected credit losses (in further text: ECL), unless it is a POCI asset (purchased or originated credit-impaired asset).

Modifications of a Financial Asset that do not Lead to Derecognition

Amendments to the contracts due to the financial difficulties of the borrower are not considered a significant modification and do not 
lead to derecognition of a financial asset.

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Group determines the new gross carrying amount of a financial asset and recognizes a modification 
gain/loss in the income statement (the line item of net gains/losses on impairment of financial assets not recognized at fair value 
through profit or loss).

The gross carrying amount of the financial asset is determined as the present value of the modified cash flows discounted at the 
original effective interest rate. Any transaction costs adjust the carrying amount of a modified financial asset and are amortized over 
its useful life.

(v) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the statement of financial position when, and only when, 
the Group has a legal right to offset the recognized amounts and it intends either to settle the liability on a net basis or to realize the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses arising from a group of sim-
ilar transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(vi) Amortized Cost Measurement

The amortized cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is subsequently measured, mi-
nus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization, using the effective interest method, of any difference between 
the initial amount recognized and the maturity amount, less any reduction for impairment.

(vii) Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in the principal (or 
most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market conditions regardless of whether that price is directly 
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. Whenever possible, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument 
using quoted prices in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly 
available and represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

If a market for a financial instrument is not active, the Group establishes fair value using a valuation technique. Valuation techniques 
include using recent arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), reference to the current fair value 
of other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analyses and other optional models.

The selected valuation technique makes maximum use of market inputs, relies as little as possible on estimates specific to the Group, 
incorporates all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price, and is consistent with accepted economic meth-
odologies for pricing financial instruments.

Inputs to valuation techniques reasonably represent market expectations and measures of the risk-return factors inherent in the fi-
nancial instrument. The Group calibrates valuation techniques and tests them for validity using prices from observable current market 
transactions in the same instrument of based on other available observable market data. Assets and long positions are measured at 
a bid price and liabilities and short positions are measured at an asking price.

When the Group has position with offsetting risks, mid-market prices are used to measure the offsetting risk positions and a bid or 
asking price adjustment is applied only to the net open position.

Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Group and coun-
terparty where appropriate. Fair value estimates obtained from models are adjusted for any other factors, such as liquidity risk or 
model uncertainties to the extent that the Group believes a third- party market participant would take them into account in pricing 
a transaction.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price, i.e. the fair value of the consid-
eration given or received. However, in some cases, the fair value of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable 
current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e., without modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique 
whose variables include only data from observable markets, then the difference is recognized in profit or loss on initial recognition 
of the instrument. Otherwise the difference is not recognized in profit or loss immediately but over the life of the instrument on an 
appropriate basis or when the instrument is redeemed, transferred or sold, or the fair value becomes observable.

(viii) Impairment Identification and Measurement

In accordance with IFRS 9, upon impairment of financial instruments existence of objective evidence of impairment is not necessary 
for recognition of credit losses. Expected credit losses are also recognized for unimpaired financial assets. In other words, the Group 
calculates provisions for credit losses for all credit exposures other than those already measured at fair value through profit or loss 
(including both performing and non-performing financial assets).

Expected credit losses (ECL) are recalculated on each reporting date in order to reflect the changes occurred in the credit risk since 
the initial recognition of a financial instrument. Such an approach results in earlier recognition of credit losses as it is necessary to 
recalculate expected credit losses over a 12-month period for all credit exposures (the so-called Stage 1). It is necessary to recalculate 
lifetime expected credit losses for all exposures that have significant increase in the credit risk (the so-called Stage 2).
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

In ECL calculation, the Group uses forward-looking information and macroeconomic factors, i.e., the Group considers not only the 
historical information adjusted to reflect the effects of the present conditions and information providing objective evidence of the 
financial asset being impaired or actual losses incurred, but reasonable and supportable information as well, which include projections 
of future economic conditions in calculation of expected credit losses, both on individual and at collective bases. The amount of pro-
visions for credit losses will increase with deterioration of the projected economic conditions and decrease with their improvement.

The Basic Principles and Rules Used by the Group in Calculation of Allowances under IFRS 9

The Group calculates 12-month expected credit loss or a lifetime expected credit loss of financial instruments depending on the 
significance of the change in its credit risk occurred since the instrument’s initial recognition. For these purposes, the Group uses the 
following three stages of impairment:

• Stage 1 includes all new financial assets at initial recognition and instruments without significant credit quality deterioration since 
their initial recognition or low-risk instruments;

• Stage 2 includes financial instruments with significant credit quality deterioration since their initial recognition yet with no objec-
tive evidence of impairment based on credit losses;

• Stage 3 includes financial instruments where objective evidence of impairment exists at the reporting date.

Stages 1 and 2 include only performing financial assets. Stage 3 includes only non-performing financial assets

For financial assets in Stage 1, the Group calculates 12-month expected credit losses. For financial assets in Stage 2, the Group calcu-
lates lifetime expected credit losses.

For financial assets in Stage 3, the Group calculates lifetime expected credit losses

Financial assets are transferred from Stage 1 to Stage 2 when the credit risk has increased significantly since the instruments’ initial 
recognition. The transfer logic is based on quantitative and qualitative criteria and must be applied to on exposures that are within the 
scope of the ECL model. Deterioration of the probability of default (PD) is the key parameter underlying the quantitative criterion of 
the transfer logic. The PD is calculated at counterparty level and also that the staging process takes place by transaction. The transfer 
logic model in the Group is based on a quantitative approach named “quantile regression model” where 1) the term significant is 
translated in term of percentile leading to the determination of a transfer threshold (depending on PD at inception, age and residual 
maturity), representing a theoretical increase reputed by the quantitative model as “significant” from the statistical standpoint; the 
quantile regression model uses 3 input variables (PD at inception, age and residual maturity) to describe the target variable which 
is the quantile; 2) the term increase is translated in term of relative increase/decrease in Lifetime PD from the inception date to the 
reporting date of the financial instruments. Whenever the realized variation of the IFRS 9 Lifetime PD violates the transfer threshold 
estimated by the model the financial instruments is classified in Stage 2.

The average increase in PD that leads to transfer to Stage 2 for each segment is given in the table below:

Local Portfolio Average TL Threshold
Retail 3,23x

Business 2,66x
Corporate 5,65x

Note: This is relative change (i.e. threshold given as multiplier) of current period PD in comparison to PD at inception that will move 
Stage 1 transaction into Stage 2 (and vice versa).

The following qualitative criteria are applied after the said quantitative parameter:

• Forbearance status classification results in automatic classification to Stage 2 for the following at least 24 months (probation 
period). After that period, if there are no other significant indicators of credit risk deterioration, the transaction may be reclassified 
to Stage 1;

• 30 days past due – if a transaction reaches 30 days past due, it should be classified into Stage 2;
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

• All performing exposures included in Watch List 2 or worsening managerial classification (all performing exposures transferred to 
the remit of the Loan Restructuring and Workout departments) should be classified into Stage 2;

Watch list 2 means clients with higher risk, showing structural/strategic problems, bad business health, profitability issues. Of course, 
this Watch list 2 status cannot be assigned to financial instrument at origination, this status is assigned in case of deterioration in 
credit risk compare to initial credit risk at inception.

In order to improve transfer logic model, Bank has implemented additional quantitative backstop indicators must be classified as 
Stage 2 :

• facilities with threefold increase in the lifetime credit risk

• facilities related to counterparties with a Basel PD higher than 20%

These backstop indicators are complementing the transfer logic model in sense that at origination no transaction could have a greater 
Basel PD of 9.222% as that is the upper bound of rating 7 from the master scale which is used as a cutoff in the origination process. 
The transfer logic model could have a more loose threshold applied on these transactions depending on the age, remaining maturity 
and initial IFRS9 PD so the 20% Basel PD backstop triggers the Stage 2 allocation before the transfer logic model. Similarly, the three-
fold increase in the lifetime credit risk is there for the transactions in the better rating groups so that if there is a deterioration in their 
rating the threefold increase will be triggered before the breach of the transfer logic threshold.

The transfer approach from stage to stage forth and back is symmetrical. Specifically, if in subsequent reporting periods the credit 
quality of a financial asset assigned to Stage 2 improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition, then the asset is reassigned to Stage 1. Nevertheless, an additional probation period after an improvement of the credit 
rating and before a re-transfer to Stage 1 is required and equal to 3 months

In the impairment process, the Group applies a special treatment to the purchases of already impaired assets from the so-called NPL 
portfolios and to the approval of new loans to the borrowers with already impaired loans within its portfolio, i.e. those already in NPL 
status. In accordance with the Standard, such assets are defined as POCI (purchased and/or originated impaired credit assets) and are 
separately measured through cumulative changes in lifetime expected credit losses of the instruments after their initial recognition. 
Positive changes in the lifetime expected credit losses of the instrument are recognized as gains on the impairment of instruments if the 
expected credit loss in lower than the amount of expected credit losses included in the estimated cash flows upon initial recognition.

(ix) Write-Off

When certain financial assets are determined to be irrecoverable, these are written off. Write-off of an asset represents derecognition 
of that asset within the statement of financial position, where write-off of assets without debt acquittal is distinguished from write-off 
with debt acquittal.

Assets are written off without debt acquittal in instances where the Group has estimated that the assets will not be collected, but 
does not waive its contractual and legal rights in respect of such assets. In such cases, the Group estimates that it is economically 
justified to undertake further activities related to the collection of a financial asset. The Group also has the right to calculate legally 
prescribed penalty interest after write off without debt acquittal, but ceases to record it until collection.

The Group performs write-offs without debt acquittal (accounting write-offs) based on the decisions of its competent bodies and/or the rele-
vant NBS decision for financial assets with low collectability rates that are fully impaired (100% provided for). Given that the Group does not 
waive the right to collect financial assets, write-off without debt acquittal, (accounting write-off) represents derecognition of the financial 
assets in the statement of financial position and recording those within the off-balance sheet items. When the Group estimates that there is 
no justification for undertaking further activities related to the collection of a financial asset (completed bankruptcy or liquidation procedure, 
court ruling and the like), the Group’s competent bodies enact a decision on derecognition of the asset from the off-balance sheet items.

The Group writes off financial assets with debt acquittal when these are estimated as irrecoverable and that it is not economically 
justifiable to take further actions toward their collection. In such instances, the written- off financial assets are derecognized from the 
statement of financial position without any further recording.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

In the event that the Group collects a financial asset previously written-off, the income is recognized in the income statement under 
the net gains/losses on impairment of financial assets not recognized at fair value through profit or loss.

(l) Cash and Balances Held with the Central Bank
Cash and balances held with the central bank include cash on hand, balances held on the Bank’s gyro account, other cash funds and 
the obligatory foreign currency reserve held with the central bank. Cash and balances held with the central bank are stated at amor-
tized cost within the statement of financial position.

For the purposes of cash flow statement preparation, cash and cash equivalents include funds held on the accounts with foreign 
banks, while the obligatory foreign currency reserve held with the central bank is not included in the cash flow statement.

(m) Receivables and Liabilities under Derivatives
Derivatives are derivative financial instruments or other contracts that have three basic characteristics: their value changes depend-
ing on changes in some basic or underlying value, they require no or relatively little initial net investment, and they are settled on a 
specific future date. Derivatives include forward transactions, currency swaps, interest rate swaps as well as interest options. In the 
statement of financial position they are presented within assets if their fair value is positive and within liabilities if their fair value 
is negative. They are initially recognized at fair value and the effects of the change in fair value on subsequent measurement are 
presented in the income statement, within the line item of net gains/losses on the change in the fair value of financial instruments.

(n) Derivatives Held as Risks Hedging Instruments and Hedge Accounting
Derivatives held for risk management purposes include all derivative assets and liabilities that are not classified as trading assets or 
liabilities. Derivatives held for risk management purposes are measured at fair value in the statement of financial position. The Group 
has exercised the option to continue applying the existing IAS 39 hedge accounting requirements for all its hedging relationships.

The Group designates certain derivatives held for risk management as hedging instruments in qualifying hedging relationships. 
On initial designation of the hedge, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged 
item, including the risk management objective and strategy in undertaking the hedge, along with the method that will be used to 
assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. The Group assesses, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as 
on an ongoing basis, whether the hedging instrument is expected to be highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or 
cash flows of the respective hedged item during the period for which the hedge is designated, and whether the actual results of each 
hedge are within a range from 80% to 125%.

(i) Fair Value Hedges

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge against a change in the fair value of a recognized asset or 
liability that could affect the profit or loss, changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognized immediately in the profit or loss 
(income) statement, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged item that are attributable to the risk hedged. If only certain 
risks attributable to hedged items are subject to hedging, the recognized changes in fair value of the hedged items that are not as-
sociated with the risk subject to hedging are recognized in accordance with the Group’s policy on financial instrument measurement 
depending on the instrument classification.

(ii) Cash Flow Hedges

When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge against a change in the cash flows of a recognized asset, liability 
or highly probable future transaction that could affect the profit or loss, changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognized:

• the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge shall be recog-
nized in other comprehensive income; and

• the ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument shall be recognized in profit or loss.

The recognized changes in fair value of the hedged items are recognized in accordance with the Group’s policy on financial instrument 
measurement depending on the instrument classification.

98

No
te

s t
o 

th
e 

co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

  | 
 D

ec
em

be
r 3

1,
 2

02
3

UniCredit 2023 Annual Reports and Accounts



3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(o) Loans and Receivables
Line items “loans and receivables due from banks and other financial institutions” and “loans and receivables due from customers” in 
the Group’s statement of financial position include financial assets that are measured at amortized cost or at fair value through profit 
or loss (please refer to Note 3(k)(ii)). If they are measured at amortized cost, loans and receivables are presented net of allowances for 
impairment in the statement of financial position (Note 3(k)(viii)). Allowance for impairment is made by reducing the carrying amount 
of a loan or receivable. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases, the previously recognized impairment 
loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount of reversal is recognized in the income statement within the line item 
of net gains/losses on the reversal of impairment/impairment of financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

(p) Securities
The line item of securities in the statement of financial position includes debt securities that can be classified into all three categories of 
financial assets depending on the business model and SPPI criteria. For classification and measurement, please refer to Note 3(k)(ii).

(q) Property, Plant and Equipment
(i) Recognition and Measurement

Items of property and equipment are initially measured at cost or purchase price. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attrib-
utable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized 
as part of such equipment. Subsequent to the initial recognition:

- the Group measures equipment at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses,

- while property items are measured at revalued amounts, being their fair values at the revaluation date net of accumulated depre-
ciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Revaluation is made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying value of the property does not depart materially from the 
fair value thereof at the end of the reporting period. According to the instructions received from the Group, the ”desktop” revaluations 
should be performed by certified appraisers on a semi-annual basis. If such a revaluation reveals that fair value deviates by more than 
10% from the carrying value, the “full” fair value assessment is to be undertaken.

Recording of the revaluation effects depends on whether the difference between the carrying value and the fair value is positive or 
negative at the revaluation date. Positive revaluation effects are recognized as increase in the revaluation reserves and/or gains on the 
change in the fair value of the asset to the extent of the of the decrease previously charged for the same property due to revaluation. 
Negative revaluation effects are recognized as decrease in the previously made revaluation reserves and/or losses on the change in 
the fair value of the asset. Revaluation reserves made in this respect are fully reclassified to the retained earnings upon derecogni-
tion of the property. Revaluation reserves are reclassified/transferred to the retained earnings even during the use of the property, 
on a straight-line basis. However, revaluation reserves cannot be reclassified to the profit or loss. When parts of an item of property 
or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. 
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the 
carrying amount of the item of property and equipment, and the difference is recognized net within other income/expenses in the 
profit or loss statement.

(ii) Subsequent Expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that the future economic benefits thereof will flow to the Group. 
The cost of replacing part of an item of property or equipment is recognized within the carrying amount of the item if it is probable 
that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of 
the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(iii) Depreciation

Items of property and equipment are depreciated from the month following the month when they become available for use. Depreciation is 
recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of each part of an item of property and equipment since 
this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. Leased assets are 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

The depreciation rates used for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Assets Estimated Useful Life (Years) Minimum Annual Rate %
Buildings according to estimated useful life -
Furniture Maximum 25 4 %
IT equipment and electronic systems Maximum 15 6.67 %
Other Maximum 10 10 %

The base for depreciation calculation is the cost of assets or, in case of property, the revalued amount of property. Depreciation methods, 
useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each financial year-end and adjusted as appropriate.

(r) Intangible Assets
The Group’s intangible assets comprise software, licenses and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are stated at cost less ac-
cumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets is capitalized only 
when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed 
as incurred.

Amortization is recognized in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of an intangible asset, from the 
month following the month when the asset becomes available for its intended use.

The estimated useful life of intangible assets is five years and amortization rate used equals 20%, except for the assets whose usage 
periods are contractually defined, when these assets are amortized over the contractually defined periods.

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values of intangible assets are reassessed at each financial year-end and adjusted 
as appropriate.

(s) Investment Property
Investment property is property held by the owner either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both.

Upon acquisition, investment property is initially measured at cost or purchase price. After initial measurement, Group use the fair val-
ue model for investment property measurement. The Group’s investment property is no longer depreciated or subject to impairment 
assessment Gains or losses arising from the fair value adjustment of investment property are recognized as income or expenses in 
the period when realized/incurred.

(t) Leases
(i) The Group as the Lessee

IFRS 16 defines a lease as a contract or a part of a contract that conveys the right to control the use an identified assets for a period 
time in exchange for a consideration. A right-of-use (ROU) asset is recognized if the following conditions are cumulatively met:

- the underlying assets may be either explicitly or implicitly identified;

- the lessee has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset throughout the lease period; 
and

- the lessee has the right to direct the use of the identified asset, i.e., decide about how and for what purpose the asset will be used 
throughout the period of use.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

As allowed by the standard, the Group does not apply the accounting required for lessee to low value leases assets i.e. value up to EUR 
5,000 in RSD counter value, to short term leases with lease terms of up to a year and leases of intangible assets. Typical low-value 
underlying assets are: printers, water dispensers, POS terminals, tablets, computers, telephones and small office furniture items. 
Such leases are recognized as expenses in the Group’s income statement on a straight-line basis.

When a contract is assessed to be/contain a lease, the right-of-use asset is recognized within assets, while the lease liability is recog-
nized within equity and liabilities on the Group’s statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, 
which comprises:

- the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

- any lease payments made and deposits placed at or before the commencement date;

- any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee;

- decrease for any lease incentives received from the lessor; and

- an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it 
is located, or restoring the underlying asset to its original condition.

After the initial recognition, the right-of-use (ROU) asset is measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumu-
lated impairment losses, adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liability. ROU assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis. 
Calculation of the depreciation charge commences on the first calendar following the month when the asset became available to 
the Group.

The lease liability is initially measured at the net present value of the future lease payments (net of value added tax), discounted using 
the interest rate implicit in the lease, or, if it cannot be readily determined, at the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The incremental 
borrowing rate is determined based on the cost of financing of liabilities with a similar term and with a similar security to the liability 
defined by the lease contract.

Future lease payments that are included in the amount of the lease liability after discounting encompass:

- fixed lease payments less any lease incentives received;

- variable lease payments, which depend on an index or a rate;

- amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

- the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group, as the lessee, is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group, as the lessee, exercising an option to termi-
nate the lease.

After initial recognition, the lease liability is decreased by the amount of the lease payments made and increased by the interest 
accrued on the lease liability and adjusted for the following:

- a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate initially used to determine those payments,

- a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset;

- a change in the amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

- a change in the lease term.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

Adjustment to the amount of the lease liability requires a corresponding adjustment of the right-of-use assets. In respect of each lease, 
the Group recognizes depreciation charge and interest expenses in its income statement.

(ii) The Group as the Lessor

As a lessor, the Group needs to assess whether a lease is a finance or an operating lease. If the Group assesses that a lease contract 
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, such a lease is classified 
as a finance lease. Otherwise, it will be an operating lease. IFRS 16 does not introduce any significant changes for the lessor lease 
accounting in comparison to IAS 17.

(u) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than investment property and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recover-
able amount is estimated. Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested for impairment on annual basis. An impairment loss 
is recognized in the amount that the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 
In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or a cash-generating unit.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount (as the difference between the 
two). Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment 
loss had been recognized.

(v) Deposits, Borrowings and Subordinated Liabilities
Deposits, borrowings and subordinated liabilities are the Group’s main source of debt funding.

The Group classifies equity instruments as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractu-
al terms of the instruments. Deposits, borrowings and subordinated liabilities are initially measured at fair value increased by directly 
attributable transaction costs and are subsequently measured at their amortized cost using the effective interest method.

(w) Provisions
A provision is recognized if, as a result ofa past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. The Group does not perform discounting of the future cash flows that are, as per 
the best estimates, expected to arise in the near term.

(x) Financial Guarantees
Financial guarantees represent contracts whereby the Group is obligated to make the designated payment to the guarantee holder for 
the loss incurred due to the designated debtor’s failure to make the relevant payment in timely manner in accordance with the debt 
instrument terms.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies

(y) Employee Benefits
In accordance with regulatory requirements of the Republic of Serbia, the Group is under obligation to pay contributions to tax au-
thorities and state social security funds, which guarantee social security insurance benefits to employees. These obligations involve 
the payment of contributions by the employer, in amounts computed by applying the specific, legally prescribed rates. The Group is 
also legally obligated to withhold contributions from gross salaries to employees, and, on behalf of its employees, transfer the with-
held portions directly to the government funds. These taxes and contributions payable on behalf of the employee and employer are 
charged to employee salaries and personal expenses in the period in which they arise.

Pursuant to the Labor Law, the Group has an obligation to disburse an employment retirement benefit to a retiree. Long-term provi-
sions for retirement benefits payable upon fulfillment of the prescribed criteria reported at December 31, 2023 represent the present 
value of the expected future payments to employees determined by actuarial assessment using actuarial assumptions. In determining 
provisions for retirement benefits, the Group used data and assumptions such as the official statistical mortality rate tables, employee 
turnover and disability rates, the projected annual salary growth rate of 7%, and an annual discount rate of 6,1%. In addition, in 2023, 
the Group accrued expenses for unused annual leaves (vacations).

Liabilities for short-term employee benefits are recognized on undiscounted basis as an expense when the service is provided. Long-
term benefits refer to payments based on long-term remuneration schemes of employees which are included in these schemes based 
on the criteria of contributing to the long-term and growing profitability of the Group. Liabilities for long-term employee benefits are 
recognized using the appropriate discount rate.
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4. Risk management

(a) Introduction and Overview
The main types of material risks that the Group is exposed to are the following:

• Credit risk;

• Market risk;

• Operational risk

• Liquidity risk,

• Compliance risk;

• AML risk (Money laundering and terrorist financing risks);

• Strategic risk;

• Business risk;

• Reputational risk;

• Interest rate risk in the banking book;

• Model risk and

• Climate and environmental risk.

Risk Management Framework
The most important role in the risk management as a part of internal control system is assigned to the Supervisory Board (SB) of the Bank, 
which is responsible for risk management system establishing and monitoring. SB is defining strategies and policies for managing key risk types 
that the Group is exposed to in its operations. Also, SB is in charge of giving prior consent for the bank’s exposure to each single person or a 
group of related persons which exceeds 10% of the bank’s regulatory capital, and/or for the increase of this exposure in excess of 20% of bank’s 
regulatory capital. Audit Committee is supporting SB in its functioning by considering the most important internal regulations of the Group 
before final approval by SB. Management Board of the Bank is responsible for approval and implementation risk strategies and policies and for 
approval of risk management procedures i.e. procedures for identification, measuring, estimation and managing of risks. Important role in loan 
approval process is assigned to the Credit Committee, which is in charge of making decisions about credit applications within its competence 
level, or giving recommendation for higher credit approval competence level.
Internal organization of the Group ensures functional and organizational separation of risk management and other regular business activities. 
The Group has separate organizational unit that covers risk management – Risk Management.
Risk Management1 is organized in order to cover risk management, through the work of the following structures:
•  Strategic, Credit & Integrated Risks (within which there are structures: Collateral management, Credit risk control & Integrated risks, Credit 

risk modelling and Credit process & policies);
• Credit Risk Operations (within which there are structures: Retail credit operations, Large corporate underwriting, Small corporates 
underwriting, Corporate monitoring and Corporate Special credit);
• Financial risks;
• Internal Validation.

All organizational units are directly subordinated to the member of Management Board, who is in charge for risk management, which assures 
prevention of conflict of interests and separation of risk management and other regular operational activities of the Group.

Internal Audit
The Internal Audit conducts its activities based on the annual operating plan and multi-year internal audit plan approved by the Supervisory 
Board. Frequency of internal audit (frequency or length of an audit cycle) of a particular process/risk varies from one to five years and directly 
depends on the assessed risk level, regulatory and/or Group request. Internal Audit regularly monitors implementation of recommendations 
issued in its reports (action plans) and reports their statuses to the Management Board, Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board including 
delays in the implementation of the measures.

1 Within Risk Management there is also a structure in charge of non-financial risks.
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4. Risk management

(b) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of possible negative effects on financial result and capital of the Group caused by the Borrower’s default on its 
obligations to the Group.

Credit process in the Group is based on strict segregation of the competences and responsibilities in credit operations between risk tak-
ing activities, “business” function responsibilities on one side and credit risk management function on the other side. Business function 
is represented with structures that are dealing with client acquisition and relationship management, while credit risk management 
function is represented by mentioned structures in Risk Management in charge of loan underwriting, monitoring, restructuring and 
collection. According to “four eye” principle, decision on credit application is proposed by business side (first vote) and final decision or 
recommendation for credit approval decision is given by risk management function (second vote). Exception can be made for stand-
ardized products in retail segment, when due to a large number of relatively small loan amounts and simplification of the procedure, 
approval process can be completely realized within business function, with mandatory applied “4 eyes principle”, in accordance with 
predefined criteria and parameters, approved by risk management function.

With the aim to ensure adequate and timely risk management in the area of crediting activity, the Group applies the following internal 
bylaws: Risk Management Rulebook, Rules on Competences for Credit Business, documents which define rules for internal credit rating 
assignment, Rules of Procedure for the Credit Committee, Credit Risk Mitigation Policy, Policy, Real Estate Valuation Policy, Guidelines 
for the Management of Corporate Special Credit Clients, Guidelines for the monitoring of customers with increased risk and rules on 
management of Special Credit Clients, Rules on the IAS/IFRS Provisioning and other enactments. The Group’s goal is to protect itself 
from the negative impact and to optimize the level of the risks assumed by defining adequate procedures and individual responsibil-
ities in the risk management process.

In order to define consistent guidelines for the credit activity and a general framework for risk management, the Group enacts credit 
risk management strategies for the retail and corporate segments for each financial year. The strategies include general guidelines for 
the basic parameters of risk management, principles for analysis of the creditworthiness of each customer segment, and definition 
of the direction of development of individual products, as well as detailed strategy direction of portfolio development per certain 
industries. In this manner, the Group ensures that the adopted business policies are implemented resulting in acceptable credit risk 
exposure at the level of individual loans, as well as adequate diversification and general quality of the loan portfolio. The Group also 
considers analysis of the money laundering and terrorist financing risk in making decisions on the credit risk assumption.

Competences, responsibilities and authorities of persons involved in the risk management system are defined by the Rules on Com-
petences for Crediting Business. In credit process decision making, the “four eye” principle has to be followed irrespective of the de-
cision-making level in order to ensure that the two sides involved in the credit process check each other – the one proposing and the 
other approving a loan. The focus of Corporate Monitoring in 2023 was on assessing warning signals induced by overall crisis related 
to world conflicts but also negative market trends in several industries (e.g. Agriculture, Construction), and its impact on portfolio.

Regarding corporate portfolio monitoring, bearing in mind overall world crisis, the increased monitoring of warning signals, clients and 
portfolios, and the implementation of various measures aimed at reducing risks in cooperation with clients who are on high-risk client 
watch lists, is continued. In addition to the existing monitoring list of clients with increased risk (“watch list”). The bank continued 
with the comprehensive analysis of the existing monitoring process, both on its own initiative and in accordance with audit measures 
and process changes dictated by the Group, all with the aim of improving its efficiency and effectiveness, in order to recognize risks 
earlier and to ensure a timely reaction of the Bank. During 2023, the trend of fluctuations of clients to and from watch lists contin-
ued, while the number of clients on watch lists is increased along with increased number of clients transferred from Watch list to 
worse categories.

The main goal in 2023 was to ensure continuity to mitigate potential negative effects of geo political situation through intensive 
monitoring process where the portfolio was screened in order to identify clients with the negative impact of cooperation with the 
Russian or Ukrainian market, resulting in negative changes in the fruit export market and grain, as well as potential impact of the 
Israeli-Palestinian conflict. Quarterly monitoring of previously identified clients sensitive to the Russian-Ukrainian conflict continued 
in cooperation with sales function, loan approval function and portfolio monitoring function. For Retail clients Bank adopted more 
conservative criteria (restricted red and yellow zone approvals, restricted LTV, increased consumer bucket).
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4. Risk management

Credit Risk Reporting
The Group manages credit risk, sets credit risk limits and controls it in all segments of its business and for all relevant types of cor-
porate and retail loans. Timely identification, measuring, monitoring and managing of the credit risk on the Group’s portfolio level is 
supported by the Risk Management Information System (“RMIS”). By reporting at the total portfolio level or at the individual client 
level, RMIS provides complete, accurate and timely information about the balance, quality and movements of the loan portfolio. 
RMIS has to fulfil the following four main functions:

1. Collect and process data and credit risk indicators;

2. Analyze movements and changes of the entire loan portfolio and its structural characteristics;

3. Continuously monitor credit risk; and

4. Provide a basis for the process of decision-making on the credit risk management.

The scope of credit risk monitoring, management and reporting on a portfolio level includes monitoring of loan loss provisions (im-
pairment allowances of balance sheet assets and provisions for probable losses per off-balance sheet items).

Credit Risk Parameters

Credit risk is quantified by measuring the expected credit losses (ECL). Main indicators that are used to monitor credit risk and to cal-
culate expected credit losses are as follows:

• Exposure of the Group at default (EaD);

• Probability of default (PD); and

• Loss given default (LGD).

The Group uses internal credit rating models. Rating models define specific rating for clients with similar credit risk levels. Each rating 
grade is related to a certain PD parameter value on the master rating scale. The Group also internally calculates other credit risk pa-
rameters. Internal credit risk assessment models, credit risk parameters and collaterals are used for loan loss provisions calculation 
in line with IFRS, as defined by the Group’s special bylaws. In order to fulfil the aforesaid functions, RMIS uses IT systems of UniCredit 
Group and internally generated databases with information about the portfolio at the individual loan facility level. The Group’s sys-
tems provide rating and past-due days data as important client’s credit risk parameters.

Limits

The Group manages credit risk concentration of the portfolio by setting appropriate limits. Limits are defined by the Group’s internal 
bylaws and/or NBS regulations and compliance with those is monitored and reported on an ongoing basis.
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4. Risk management

Reports

In monitoring of the credit risk on the portfolio level, the following reports are used:

Report user

Report Responsible  
organizational unit Frequency CRO 

Division

Credit 
commltt 

ee
ALCO

Manage 
ment 
Board

Audit 
committ 

ee

Supervisor 
y Board

CRO report/SB 
presentation CFO / Risk management Quarterly (as 

needed) +* +* +

Credit Risk 
Dashboard

Credit risk control & 
Integrated risks monthly*** +

Credit portfolio 
overview Risk management quarterly + +** +

Risk appetite report Credit risk control & 
Integrated risks quarterly + + +

Bank's Risk profile Financial risks monthly +
Management 
summary report Financial risks daily +****

Operational risk 
report Non-financial risks monthly +*****

Reputational risk 
report Non-financial risks quarterly +******

**report is presented for consideration and analysis, before final presentation on Supervisory Board.

**report is presented to relevant Credit Committee after analysis on Management Board.

***the predefined report form is updated monthly according to the availability of the most recent data. The report is made available 
to the Head of the Risk Management and directors of the structures within the Risk Management function.

****Report recipients are the following organizational structures: Members of the Management Board (CEO and structures Heads: 
Finance, Corporates, Retail, Risk Management), Trading, Investment services, Finance, Financial risks, UCL CEO, but also and UniCredit 
Group representatives (on demand).

***** Report recipients are the following organizational structures: Management team of the Bank and CEO Leasing, Internal Audit, 
Compliance, Banking operations, Digital Governance & Control, Digital & Information, Security, Strategic, credit and integrated risks, 
the structure which is covering the Fraud Management. The report represents the monthly overview of operational risk events.

****** Report recipients are the Management team of the Bank. The report represents quarterly overview of the analysis results and 
effect on reputational risk.
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4. Risk management

CRO Report to the Supervisory Board is prepared quarterly or more frequently if necessary, depending on the schedule of the Su-
pervisory Board’s meetings. All organizational units within the Risk Management participate in preparation of the report while the 
Strategic, credit and integrated risks is responsible for coordination and delivery of the report. The report is prepared in the form of a 
presentation and includes, among other things, the following:

• Status overview of the most relevant activities of the Risk Management;

• Information on the structure and movements of the loan portfolio;

• Information on the key indicators of the portfolio quality, balance and movements of non-performing loans (NPLs), 
provisions for credit losses, risk costs and coverage of NPLs with credit loss provisions;

• Basic information on the portfolio concentration and compliance with the set limits, including the list of 10 largest 
client groups and 10 largest non-performing clients by their overall exposure.

Credit Risk Dashboard Report is updated on a monthly basis by the Strategic, Credit and integrated risks and delivered to the Man-
agement Board member in charge of the Risk Management and Directors of all structures within Risk Management. The information 
is presented at the sub-segment level (large corporate clients, middle-sized corporate clients, real estate financing, business clients 
and entrepreneurs and individuals) with comparative data for the previous month and previous year-end. The report includes the 
following information:

• Loan structure (type and currency);

• Portfolio structure per internal credit rating categories;

• Portfolio structure per (non)-default client status;

• Data on the asset quality at the sub-segment level (exposure, NPL volume and ratio, amount of credit loss provisions, 
NPLs coverage with credit loss provisions);

• PD and LGD per segment;

• Credit loss provisioning costs per sub-segment (charge and release/reversal as compared to the beginning of year and 
previous month); and

• cost of risk per sub-segment.

Credit Portfolio Overview is prepared on a quarterly basis and is presented to the Bank’s Management Board and thereafter to the 
Bank’s Credit Committees for their information. All organizational units dealing with the credit risk management within the Risk Ma-
nagement participate in preparation of the report. Among other things, the report includes the following information:

• detailed information on the structure and movements of the loan portfolio, overall and per segment;

• data on the key portfolio quality indicators and movements of NPLs, provisions for credit losses, costs of risk, NPLs 
coverage with credit loss provisions, portfolio distribution per rating, etc.;

• the list of 10 largest client groups and 10 largest non-performing clients by their overall exposure;

•  portfolio status and overview of the key activities and results according to the internal portfolio classification (Stand-
ard, WL, Restructuring, Workout);

• information on the portfolio concentration and compliance with the set limits.
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4. Risk management

The risk appetite report is compiled on a quarterly basis and presented at the ALCO board meeting. The organizational units of the 
Group that participate in the development of the risk appetite framework participate in the preparation of the report. The report in-
volves monitoring the behavior of key performance risk indicators over time, which aim to:

• to ensure that business is conducted up to risk tolerance at the level of the Group, which is additionally through the ‘bottom up’ 
process agreed with the Holding Company and adopted by the local Supervisory Board;

• to warn of potentially significant negative developments of key indicators and their components, as well as to provide an explana-
tion of the same;

• to support the development of future strategic decisions in accordance with its risk profile.

In addition to the standardized reports, there are many activities undertaken in order to provide accurate parameters used in credit risk 
monitoring: ad hoc analyses and reporting and other activities that contribute to the accuracy of the credit risk parameters.

Ad hoc analyses and reporting are applied in cases of the Group’s higher risk exposure, especially ifthe credit risk level is changing dras-
tically and abruptly and when timely reaction is expected – for example: deterioration of internally assigned rating grades, significant 
need for additional provisions, signs of mismatching in organization, implemented system or procedures, change of any of the credit 
risk parameters or in calculation of provisions.

Other activities conducted by the Group include: quality verification of data used in monitoring, managing of and reporting on the 
credit risk, improvement of the existing systems and procedures, annual process of budgeting and subsequent control and any adjust-
ments of the budgeted parameters.
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4. Risk management
Credit Risk Exposure

The table below shows the Group’s maximum credit risk exposure per financial instrument type:

Cash and balances held with 
the central bank (Note 20)

Securities including pledged 
financial assets (Note 23 and 

21)

Loans and receivables due 
from banks and other fin. 

institutions (Note 24)

Loans and receivables due 
from customers (Note 25)

Other financial assets** (Note 
30) Off-balance sheet items

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Individually impaired
Corporate clients, rating 10 - - - - - - 102,153 245,796 1,701 3,994 - 110,965
Corporate clients, rating 9 - - - - - - - - - - - -

Corporate clients, restructured 
loans * - - - - - - 9,134,163 8,192,206 6,421 4,565 460,808 471,747

Retail clients, > 90 days past 
due - - - - - - 4,533,856 4,350,486 74,132 66,245 4,406 4,423

Gross loans - - - - - - 13,770,172 12,788,488 82,254 74,804 465,214 587,135
Impairment allowance - - - - - - 8,357,800 8,283,019 76,725 63,776 313,283 371,023
Carrying value - - - - - - 5,412,372 4,505,469 5,529 11,028 151,931 216,112
Group-level impaired
Corporate clients, rating 1 - 6 130,511,724 69,758,834 102,262,512 109,529,196 63,008,821 75,899,871 209,801,628 187,837,320 195,501 163,358 269,035,254 212,423,246
Corporate clients, rating 7 - - - - - - 3,938,136 13,876,063 711 158 8,510,136 6,874,784
Corporate clients, rating 8 - - - - - - 1,026,004 843,917 2,228 21 29,180 556,903
Retail clients, Stage 1 - - - - - - 104,095,792 98,741,751 27,751 1,235 3,432,107 2,781,837
Retail clients, Stage 2 - - - - - - 25,284,784 28,904,331 - 25,473 2,363,597 1,927,441
Gross loans 130,511,724 69,758,834 102,262,512 109,529,196 63,008,821 75,899,871 344,146,344 330,203,382 226,191 190,245 283,370,274 224,564,211
Impairment allowance 8 3 271,187 72,397 2,430 6,232 5,089,009 5,865,137 315 401 1,224,641 771,794
Carrying value 130,511,716 69,758,831 101,991,325 109,456,799 63,006,391 75,893,639 339,057,335 324,338,245 225,876 189,844 282,145,633 223,792,417

Carrying value of rated assets
69,758,831 101,991,325 109,456,799 63,006,391 75,893,639 344,469,707 328,843,714 231,405 200,872 282,297,564 224,008,529

Carrying value of non-rated 
assets - - 2,454,461 1,535,672 - - - - 1,267,772 1,397,853 - -

Total carrying value 130,511,716 69,758,831 104,445,786 110,992,471 63,006,391 75,893,639 344,469,707 328,843,714 1,499,177 1,598,725 282,297,564 224,008,529

* Category “corporate clients – restructured loans” includes corporate customers with internal rating 8-, whose impairment allowance was made on a group-level and not individually.

** Difference compared to total other assets relates to non-financial assets with carrying value of RSD 422,005 thousand (2022: RSD 397,848 thousand) and impairment allowance of RSD 2,681 thousand 
(2022: RSD 3 thousand)
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4. Risk management

Implementation of Basel Standards

In the area of application of Basel standards related to credit risk models, the focus of activities was on developing new internal rat-
ing model for legal entities, development of new exposure at default model, termination of application model for internal rating for 
cash based entrepreneurs and automatizing the rating approval process in segment of entrepreneurs and small business as well as 
adjusting the flat rating for Leasing.

Internal Rating System (Rating Scale)

The ranking rules for customers are established at the level of UniCredit Group and as such are uniform for each member of the 
UniCredit Group. The UniCredit Group’s rating system was developed and has been in use since 2004 at the group level for clients in 
the corporate segment. For retail clients and entrepreneurs, the rating system was internally developed and has been in use since 
2010. The Group uses the UniCredit Group’s rating models for multinational companies, banks, insurance companies and exposures to 
states/governments. The master rating scale is used as a unique rating assignment method, which ensures that customers with the 
same rating have the same credit characteristics and the same probability that they will not settle their liabilities, in part or in full, 
within the period of 1 year.

The master scale is divided into 10 rating classes that are further broken down into a total of 26 rating subgroups.

Rating Notch Rating PD min % PD mid % PD max %
1 1+ 0.000% 0.020% 0.026%
2 1 0.026% 0.030% 0.035%
3 1- 0.035% 0.041% 0.048%
4 2+ 0.048% 0.056% 0.065%
5 2 0.065% 0.076% 0.089%
6 2- 0.089% 0.104% 0.121%
7 3+ 0.121% 0.141% 0.165%
8 3 0.165% 0.192% 0.224%
9 3- 0.224% 0.262% 0.306%

10 4+ 0.306% 0.357% 0.417%
11 4 0.417% 0.487% 0.568%
12 4- 0.568% 0.663% 0.775%
13 5+ 0.775% 0.904% 1.056%
14 5 1.056% 1.232% 1.439%
15 5- 1.439% 1.680% 1.961%
16 6+ 1.961% 2.289% 2.673%
17 6 2.673% 3.120% 3.643%
18 6- 3.643% 4.253% 4.965%
19 7+ 4.965% 5.796% 6.767%
20 7 6.767% 7.900% 9.222%
21 7- 9.222% 10.767% 12.570%
22 8+ 12.570% 14.674% 17.131%
23 8 17.131% 20.000% 100%
24 8- 100% 100% 100%
25 9 100% 100% 100%
26 10 100% 100% 100%

The internal master scale is compliant with Basel Standards, meaning that each rating subgroup has a PD parameter associated with 
it, with probability that a customer with particular characteristics will be unable to settle liabilities toward the Group and enter the 
default status. For the first 23 subgroups the probability of default ranges between 0.02% and 20.00%, where those clients are rated 
between 1+ and 8. Their probability of default is based on the statistical analyses of the historical data

Ratings from 1+ to 6-: These rating notches are reserved for customers determined in an internal credit assessment to have a credit 
standing of very good to just acceptable. For customers with this rating periodic review of creditworthiness is performed once a year.

Ratings 7+ to 7-: These cover three subgroups for transactions with low credit rating clients. Customers assigned these rating notches 
have substantially higher risk factors and must be constantly monitored.
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4. Risk management

Ratings 8+ and 8- cover those clients that are not determined for individual provisioning but are subject to special loan restructuring 
or debt reduction measures.

Rating 8- relates to customers in default according to the Basel Standards criteria.

Rating 9 refers to customers with loans provided for on an individual basis or those where a portion of the receivables has been writ-
ten off.

Rating 10 is assigned to the clients in the process of liquidation or bankruptcy.

Ratings 8-, 9 and 10 are by definition assigned to customers in default in accordance with Basel Standards criteria, with special credit 
loss provisioning calculation.

For IFRS 9 purposes the rating from the master scale is adjusted in such way that clients from the rating notches with the same rating 
(i.e. 1+, 1 and 1-) are grouped together in one rating class (i.e. rating 1). IFRS 9 PD model creates PD curves for rating classes from 1 to 
8 for 3 segments Retail, Business, Corporate. Afterwards these PD curves are adjusted for forward looking information. With FLI the PD 
values for the first 3 years will be adjusted in accordance with the macroeconomic outlook impacting the PD values to go up or down 
in value. In addition based on the policies of the Group, PDs need to be client-specific. Therefore, punctual cumulative PDs (cPDs) on 
a client level are derived from the cPDs on a rating class level. Clients are assigned to rating classes based on their punctual Basel PD 
at the reporting date. This Basel PD ofa client is compared to the PD mid values taken from the master scale, which is shown in the 
previous page, of the whole rating class and based on that the cPD curve is shifted upwards or downwards depending if the clients 
Basel PD is above or below the PD mid value.

Methodology for Calculation of Expected Credit Losses

In accordance with the current Rulebook on IFRS Loan Loss Provisioning, the Group calculates 12-month ECL or a lifetime ECL of a 
financial instruments depending on the significance of the change in its credit risk occurred since the instrument’s initial recognition. 
For these purposes, the Group uses the following three stages of impairment:

• Stage 1 includes all new financial assets at initial recognition (except POCI) and instruments without significant credit quality 
deterioration since their initial recognition, or instrument with low-level credit risk;

• Stage 2 includes financial instruments with significant credit quality deterioration since their initial recognition yet with no objec-
tive evidence of impairment based on credit losses;

• Stage 3 includes financial instruments where objective evidence of impairment exists at the reporting date.

Stages 1 and 2 include only performing financial assets. Stage 3 includes only non-performing financial assets. For financial assets in 
Stage 1, the Group calculates 12-month expected credit losses. For financial assets in Stage 2, the Group calculates lifetime expected 
credit losses.

Stage 1 12-month expected credit losses are calculated, except for maturity shorter than 12 months. It applies to all items (from 
initial recognition) as long as there is no significant deterioration in credit quality.

112

No
te

s t
o 

th
e 

co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

  | 
 D

ec
em

be
r 3

1,
 2

02
3

UniCredit 2023 Annual Reports and Accounts



4. Risk management

Allowances are calculated in accordance with the Group methodology the following way:

Where: 

•   Unsecured exposure at default for account at time ti, namely Exposure at default for account at time m ^, minus the 
allocated collateral amount  

•  Unsecured exposure at end of month (note: secured part assumed to have LGD 0%, thus ECL 0)

•  Cumulative punctional PD at month m

•  Unsecured loss given default at month m

•  Maturity in months

•  Effective interest rate

•  End of month

Financial instruments, for which significant deterioration in credit quality has occurred since initial recognition are assigned to Stage 2. 
However, these financial instruments are not in default yet. Lifetime expected credit losses are calculated. Allowances are calculated 
in accordance with the Group methodology using the following approach:

Where: 

•   Unsecured exposure at default for account at time ti, namely Exposure at default for account at time m, minus the 
allocated collateral amount  

•   Unsecured exposure at end of month (note: secured part assumed to have LGD 0%, thus ECL 0)

•  Cumulative punctional PD at month m

•  Unsecured loss given default at month m

•  Maturity in months

•  Effective interest rate

•  End of month

LGD is one of the key components of the credit risk parameters based ECL model presented in Equation above. LGD based on IFRS 9 
requirement, the LGD parameters are to be adjusted by Forward-looking information are calculated in the following manner:
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4. Risk management

Where LGD liquidation is the estimated pool based average values of LGD for default events resolved in liquidation for the 3 segments 
Retail, Business and Corporate, and the cure rate is the probability that the default event will return to the performing portfolio, thus 
be cured. The main goal of the FLI is to incorporate in LGD parameters the future macroeconomic tendencies and adjust the predicted 
portfolio RRs for following years. Specifically, based on a macroeconomic model, the Group forecasts the year-to-year percentage 
change (Δ) of the yearly recovery rates with respect to the current point in cycle, which is expected to be recovered within a 12-month 
time horizon, calculated as follows: 

Where:

RR_FLti, corresponding to the forecasted yearly recovery rates in 1 year, 2 years, and in 3 years 

RRt0, corresponding to the last yearly recovery rates.

Multi scenario overlay is applied to fulfill the requirements of IFRS 9 standard and the best practices in the banking industry for includ-
ing macro-economic effects, based on a range of possible outcomes, into the expected credit losses.

The table containing weights for four alternative scenarios (out of which baseline (BL), negative or contagion (CONT) and positive (POS) 
were communicated from the Group, and the average (AVG) scenario is simply the weighted average of aforementioned 3) that were 
applied to November’s LLP run is represented below:

Name Severity Weight Comment
Bl - 60% Baseline

Cont downturn 40% Contagion
Pos upturn 0% Positive

Avg - -

It has been created taking the weighted average of each “delta” i.e. change 
in PD/LGD values per segment among all the scenarios above. This is used 
only for Staging allocation, meaning that the final calculation of multi 
scenario overlay will take the stage from the average scenario and all other 
information from the previous 3 scenarios.

The forecasted default rates (as well as recovery rates) represent the input for the point in time (PIT)/FLI adjustment of the lifetime 
probability of default (and lifetime loss given default) parameters used to calculate the multi scenario overlay.
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4. Risk management

Sensitivity of EAD and ECL per local segment and stage is given in the following two tables.

Portfolio EAD Baseline EAD Negative
of which S1 of which S2 of which S3 Tot of which S1 of which S2 of which S3 Tot

Corporate 111,515,788 52,670,903 129,773 164,316,464 82,597,769 81,588,922 129,773 164,316,464

Small Business 21,439,887 8,946,955 1,018,150 31,404,991 21,410,717 8,976,124 1,018,150 31,404,991
Retail - Mortgages 34,674,612 5,237,149 443,657 40,355,418 34,671,703 5,240,057 443,657 40,355,418
Retail - Others 44,130,281 12,617,734 3,159,285 59,907,301 44,058,941 12,689,074 3,159,285 59,907,301

Total 211,760,568 79,472,741 4,750,865 295,984,174 182,739,131 108,494,178 4,750,865 295,984,174

Portfolio
ECL Baseline of which S2 ECL Negative ECL Final

of which S1 of which S2 of which S3 Tot of which S1 of which S2 of which S3 Tot of which S1 of which S2 of which S3 Tot 

Corporate 467,148 1,155,552 144,351 1,767,051 415,640 2,201,116 145,689 2,762,445 543,663 1,344,822 167,994 2,056,480
Small Business 172,458 317,563 804,111 1,294,132 174,305 329,590 810,721 1,314,617 174,,406 321,150 813,194 1,308,749
Retail - Mortgages 121,203 28,766 59,237 209,206 121,446 30,282 59,942 211,670 126,656 30,061 61,902 218,618
Retail - Others 549,041 1,161,190 2,402,302 4,112,532 615,156 1,303,216 2,462,705 4,381,077 573,743 1,213,434 2,510,386 4,297,563
Total 1,309,849 2,663,071 3,410,001 7,382,921 1,326,547 3,864,204 3,479,057 8,669,809 1,418,468 2,909,467 3,553,476 7,881,411

Multi scenario overlay for Q4 2023 and Q4 2022 is given in the table below. Overlay factor is added as a multiplier on top of ECL calculation for all performing transactions.

Local Portfolio Overlay Factor Q4 2023 Overlay Factor Q4 2022 GW Portfolio Overlay Factor Q4 2023 Overlay Factor Q4 2022

Business: 1.0113 1.0477 FI (Banks): 1.0145 1.0472
Corporate: 1.1638 1.1030 GPF: 1.6012 1.5216
Retail: 1.045 1.0830 MNC: 1.097 1.0476

SOV: 1.1589 1.3536

Rules and Principles for ECL Calculation for Non-Performing Financial Assets – Stage 3

In accordance with the current Rulebook on IFRS Loan Loss Provisioning, if there is objective evidence of impairment (default status) on the financial statements’ preparation date, all financial assets are 
classified into Stage 3. According to Art. 178 of the EU regulation n. 575/2013 a ‘default’ shall be considered to have occurred with regard to a particular obligor when either or both of the two following 
events have taken place:
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4. Risk management

1) the obligor is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation or/and 2) the obligor is unlikely to pay at least one of his 
credit obligations in full without recourse actions to be taken by the respective legal entity. For financial instruments classified into 
Stage 3, the rule is that impairment is based on the calculation of lifetime ECL. In this process, the Group specifically treats clients in 
the default status whose exposure is considered significant and such loans or clients are individually assessed by the Group on a case 
by case basis, whereas the loans that are not individually significant are assessed on a collective basis

A financial asset is impaired and impairment has occurred if there is an evidence of impairment arising from one or more events that 
occurred after the date of initial recognition of the asset, which have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial 
asset. If any such evidence exists, the Group is required to calculate the amount of such impairment in order to determine whether the 
impairment loss should be recognized. In other words, if there is any evidence of impairment, the Group should estimate the amount 
that can be recovered for that asset or group of assets and recognize the impairment losses. When determining the adequate amount 
of the provision, the Group must differentiate the need to calculate the specific provision on an individual basis and the specific provi-
sion on a collective basis for clients that are grouped into categories with similar risk characteristics, based on the segment to which 
the client belongs and the total amount of exposure at the client level. The total exposure of the client is comprised of the balance 
sheet and off-balance sheet receivables, including undrawn loan funds. The process of determining a specific provision on an individ-
ual basis is intended to measure the impairment loss at the client level. An individual provision is assessed as the difference between 
the carrying amount of the receivable and the present value of the expected future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate 
of the financial asset (e.g., the effective interest rate specified when upon contract execution). In other words, the provision will be 
determined in the amount of an individual receivable that is not expected to be recovered.

In the event that the effective interest rate is not available, an alternative interest rate that is defined in accordance with the Group’s 
bylaws will be used to calculate the provision. When determining the present value of the receivables, the discounted cash flow from 
the repayment of principal, interest or any other cash flow from a loan is calculated first. Thereafter, the discounted cash flow from 
the net realizable value of collateral for that loan is calculated. The final net present value of future cash flows of the loan is compared 
to its carrying amount and the amount of provision for impairment losses for the given loan that are recognized in the profit or loss 
statement is determined.

The calculation of provisions for exposures with impairment that are not classified as individually significant is carried out on a 
collective basis by grouping the default status clients into homogeneous categories with similar risk characteristics. When defining 
homogeneous categories, the Group applies the criteria used for segmentation when developing a model for calculating the loss rate 
due to default status (LGD model). The calculation of collective provisions in Stage 3 is performed for the default status clients that do 
not meet the requirements for an individual assessment of the provision. Calculation of the provision on the collective basis is made 
using the following calculation formula:

ECL = unsecEAD x LGDs3 (time in default)

Where:

• unsecEAD designates exposure in default reduced by the value of the collateral, and

• LGDs3 (time in default) designates loss at the moment of default.

If a receivable is fully collateralized and for this reason unsecEAD is equal to 0, the following formula is applied:

ECL = EAD x provisioning weight for Stage 1

The provisioning weight for Stage 1 is determined semi-annually, by recalculating this value based on the average level of provisions 
per portfolio segments. Values of LGDs3 (time in default) depend on the client segment, number of years the repayment lasts, and the 
period that the client has spent in the default status.

Client support as part of the COVID-19 support package refers to introduction of moratorium defined by the NBS and government 
guarantee scheme. Following tables present exposures covered by the public guarantee.
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4. Risk management

Overview of loans and receivables subject of the guarantee scheme as of 31.12.2023

Gross carrying amount
Maximum amount 

of the guarantee 
that can be 
considered

Gross carrying amount

of which: forborne* Public guarantees 
received

Inflows to non-performing 
exposures**

1
Newly originated loans and advances 
subject to public guarantee schemes

4,383,682 520,610 1,045,010 -

2
of which: Collateralized by residential 
immovable property

- -

3 of which: Non-financial corporations 4,383,682 520,610 1,045,010 526,735

4
of which: Small and Medium-sized 
Enterprises

4,377,433 526,735

5
of which: Collateralized by 
commercial immovable property

322,869 202,589

* Loans and receivables from customers as of December 31, 2023 by the presented categories.

** Category shows increase in Non-performing exposures after new approval under guarantee scheme (as of December 31, 2023).

Overview of loans and receivables subject of the guarantee scheme as of 31.12.2022

Gross carrying amount

Maximum amount 
of the guarantee 

that can be 
considered

Gross carrying amount

of which: forborne* Public guarantees 
received

Inflows to non-performing 
exposures**

1
Newly originated loans and 
advances subject to public 
guarantee schemes

17,062,666 557,930 4,088,948 550,885

2
of which: Collateralized by 
residential immovable property

17,992 -

3
of which: Non-financial 
corporations

17,058,867 557,930 4,088,037 550,885

4
of which: Small and Medium-
sized Enterprises

16,329,335 550,885

5
of which: Collateralized by 
commercial immovable property

452,292 21,792

* Loans and receivables from customers as of December 31, 2022 by the presented categories.

** Category shows increase in Non-performing exposures after new approval under guarantee scheme (as of December 31, 2022).

117

Notes to the consolidated financial statem
ents  |  Decem

ber 31, 2023

UniCredit 2023 Annual Reports and Accounts



4. Risk management

The table below shows a breakdown of gross and net non-performing loans due from banks and customers.

Securities (Note 23)
Loans and receivables due 

from banks and other financial 
institutions (Note 24)

Loans and receivables due from 
customers (Note 25)

Other assets (Note 30) Off-balance sheet items

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

December 31, 2023
Corporate clients, rating 10 – – – – 102,153 26,018 1,701 317 – –

Corporate clients, rating 9 – – – – – – – – – –
Corporate clients, restructured 

loans
– – – – 9,134,163 4,012,735 6,421 930 460,808 150,260

Retail clients, > 90 days past 
due

– – – – 4,533,856 1,373,619 74,132 4,282 4,406 1,671

Total – – – – 13,770,172 5,412,372 82,254 5,529 465,214 151,931
December 31, 2022

Corporate clients, rating 10 – – – – 245,796 34,231 3,994 1,135 110,965 55,550
Corporate clients, rating 9 – – – – – – – – – –

Corporate clients, restructured 
loans

– – – – 8,192,206 3,128,272 4,565 550 471,747 158,871

Retail clients, > 90 days past 
due

– – – – 4,350,486 1,342,966 66,245 9,343 4,423 1,691

Total – – – – 12,788,488 4,505,469 74,804 11,028 587,135 216,112

The aging structure of matured and unimpaired loans as of December 31, 2023 is provided in the table below:

Up to 30 days past due 31 to 60 days past due 61 to 90 days past due Over 90 days past due Total

Loans and receivables due from 
customers

Gross carrying value 9,593,022 738,780 238,416 4,349 10,574,567
Impairment allowance (414,454) (120,133) (69,302) (979) (604,868)

Net carrying value 9,178,568 618,647 169,114 3,370 9,969,699
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4. Risk management

Movements of the Gross Carrying Values of Assets per Class of Assets and per Impairment Stage

(i) Cash and balances held with the central bank

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2023 Increases (+) Decreases (-) Total 

transfers
S1 (-) to S2 

(+)
S2 (-) to S1 

(+)
S1 (-) to S3 

(+)
S3 (-) to S1 

(+)
S2 (-) to S3 

(+)
S3 (-) to S2 

(+) Exit (-) Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2023

Stage 1 69,758,834 60,752,890 - - - - - - - - 130,511,724
Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 69,758,834 60,752,890 - - - - - - - - - - 130,511,724

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2022 Increases (+) Decreases (-) Total 

transfers
S1 (-) to S2 

(+)
S2 (-) to S1 

(+)
S1 (-) to S3 

(+)
S3 (-) to S1 

(+)
S2 (-) to S3 

(+)
S3 (-) to S2 

(+) Exit (-) Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2022

Stage 1 67,572,925 2,185,909 - - - - - - - - 69,758,834
Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - -
Total 67,572,925 2,185,909 - - - - - - - - - - 69,758,834

(ii) (ii) Pledged financial assets

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2023 Increases (+) Decreases (-) Total 

transfers
S1 (-) to S2 

(+)
S2 (-) to S1 

(+)
S1 (-) to S3 

(+)
S3 (-) to S1 

(+)
S2 (-) to S3 

(+)
S3 (-) to S2 

(+) Exit (-) Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2023

Stage 1 7,225,280 - - - - - - - (7,225,280) - ,
Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 7,225,280 - - - - - - - - - (7,225,280) - -

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2022 Increases (+) Decreases (-) Total 

transfers
S1 (-) to S2 

(+)
S2 (-) to S1 

(+)
S1 (-) to S3 

(+)
S3 (-) to S1 

(+)
S2 (-) to S3 

(+)
S3 (-) to S2 

(+) Exit (-) Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2022

Stage 1 - 7,225,280 - - - - - - - - 7,225,280
Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total - 7,225,280 - - - - - - - - - - 7,225,280
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4. Risk management
 (iii) Securities at amortized cost (AC) and at fair value though other comprehensive income (FVtOCI)

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2023

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total  
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 31, 
2023

Stage 1 102,303,916 31,092,551 (24,980,194) - - - - (6,153,761) - 102,262,512
Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 102,303,916 31,092,551 (24,980,194) (6,153,761) 102,262,512

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2022

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total  
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+) Exit (-) Newly 

approved (+)
December 31, 

2022
Stage 1 109,210,970 11,126,574 (28,900,917) - - - - - (79,620) 10,946,909 102,303,916
Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 109,210,970 11,126,574 (28,900,917) - - - - - - - (79,620) 10,946,909 102,303,916

(iv) Loans and receivables due from banks and other financial institutions

Promene u okviru Nivo-a Transferi između Nivo-a uključujući otplate

Nivo January 1, 
2023

Increases  
(+)

Decreases 
 (-)

Total transfers 
and repayments

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 31, 
2023

Stage 1 75,622,390 5,557,015 (22,613,826) 283,009 (13,727) 296,736 - - (17,319,945) 21,442,107 62,970,750
Stage 2 277,481 - (1,808) (242,006) 12,688 (254,694) - - (681) 5,085 38,071
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Partial  repayments (41,003) 1,039 (42,042) - - - -
Total 75,899,871 5,557,015 (22,615,634) - - - - - - - (17,320,626) 21,447,192 63,008,821

Promene u okviru Nivo-a Transferi između Nivo-a uključujući otplate

Nivo January 1, 
2022

Increases  
(+)

Decreases 
 (-)

Total transfers 
and repayments

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 31, 
2022

Stage 1 42,216,853 391,997 (40,069,923) (282,572) (295,665) 13,093 - - (216,138) 73,582,173 75,622,390
Stage 2 36,528 - (1,016) 238,403 250,896 (12,493) - - (912) 4,478 277,481
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Partial  repayments 44,169 44,769 (600) - - - -
Total 42,253,381 391,997 (40,070,939) - - - - - - - (217,050) 73,586,651 75,899,871

(i) Gotovina i 
sredstva kod 
centralne banke
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4. Risk management
(v) Loans and receivables due from customers

U hiljadama dinara Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages including Repayments

Stage January 1, 
2023 Increases (+) Decreases (-)

Total 
transfers and 
repayments

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+) Exit (-) Newly 

approved (+)
December 31, 

2023

Stage 1 223,844,649 6,084,994 (28,757,893) (22,178,975) (33,387,009) 12,335,432 (1,170,019) 42,621 (38,441,346) 106,474,403 247,025,832
Stage 2 106,359,367 1,114,433 (12,494,032) 3,320,148 24,633,103 (16,450,832) (5,252,461) 390,338 (25,055,920) 23,873,342 97,117,338
Stage 3 12,787,854 55,977 (3,559,730) 4,491,133 962,134 (51,896) 4,154,596 (573,701) (1,550,821) 1,548,933 13,773,346
Partial 
repayments 14,367,694 8,753,906 4,115,400 207,885 9,275 1,097,865 183,363

Total 342,991,870 7,255,404 (44,811,655) - - - - - - (65,048,087) 131,896,678 357,916,516

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages including Repayments

Stage January 1, 
2022 Increases (+) Decreases (-)

Total 
transfers and 
repayments

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+) Exit (-) Newly 

approved (+)
December 31, 

2022

Stage 1 264,785,153 4,445,015 (29,982,176) (55,912,410) (64,221,400) 9,834,936 (1,558,786) 32,840 (49,921,088) 90,430,155 223,844,649
Stage 2 56,328,415 149,149 (8,629,882) 33,671,641 48,055,174 (12,004,684) (2,484,345) 105,496 (11,637,463) 36,477,507 106,359,367
Stage 3 13,937,931 30,843 (2,936,732) 2,764,729 1,129,920 (39,630) 1,801,490 (127,051) (1,831,967) 823,050 12,787,854
Partial 
repayments 19,476,040 16,166,226 2,169,748 428,866 6,790 682,855 21,555

Total 335,051,499 4,625,007 (41,548,790) - - - - - - - (63,390,518) 127,730,712 342,991,870
(vi) Other assets

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages including Repayments

Stage January 1, 
2023 Increases (+) Decreases (-)

Total 
transfers and 
repayments

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+) Exit (-) Newly 

approved (+)
December 31, 

2023

Stage 1 1,949,592 38,543 (89,238) (78,380) (78,454) 75 (1) - (12,343) 5,746 1,813,920
Stage 2 36,356 3,319 (2,091) 70,071 71,816 (69) (1,911) 235 (23,237) 21,442 105,860
Stage 3 74,805 15,898 (6,616) 4,571 8 - 5,164 (601) (41,540) 31,324 78,442
Partial 
repayments 3,738 6,638 (6) (7) - (3,253) 366

Total 2,060,753 57,760 (97,945) - - - - - - - (77,120) 58,512 1,998,222

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages including Repayments

Stage January 1, 
2022 Increases (+) Decreases (-)

Total 
transfers and 
repayments

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+) Exit (-) Newly 

approved (+)
December 31, 

2022

Stage 1 1,281,791 622,082 (4,671) 67,487 (2,430) 70,063 (146) - (27,049) 9,952 1,949,592
Stage 2 158,020 3,550 (1,941) (124,941) 2,516 (122,787) (4,996) 326 (17,901) 19,569 36,356
Stage 3 67,958 14,891 (5,393) 8,225 301 - 8,674 (750) (47,584) 36,708 74,805
Partial 
repayments 49,229 (86) 52,724 (155) - (3,678) 424

Total 1,507,769 640,523 (12,005) - - - - - - - (92,534) 66,229 2,060,753
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4. Risk management

Movements of the Impairment Allowance of Assets per Class of Assets and per Impairment Stage

(i) Cash and balances held with the central bank

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2023

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2023

Stage 1 3 5 - - - - - - - - 8
Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 3 5 - - - - - - - - - - 8

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2022

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2022

Stage 1 2 1 - - - - - - - - 3
Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 2 1 - - - - - - - - - - 3

(ii) Pledged financial assets

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2023

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2023

Stage 1 4,690 - - - - - - - (4,690) - -
Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 4,690 - - - - - - - - - (4,690) - -

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2022

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2022

Stage 1 - 4,690 - - - - - - - - 4,690
Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total - 4,690 - - - - - - - - - - 4,690
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4. Risk management
(iii) Securities at amortized cost (AC) and at fair value though other comprehensive income (FVtOCI

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2023

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 31, 
2023

Stage 1 67,707 205,844 (51) - - - - - (2,313) - 271,187
Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 67,707 205,844 (51) - - - - - - - (2,313) - 271,187

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2022

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 31, 
2022

Stage 1 79,515 5,680 (21,854) - - - - - (5) 4,371 67,707
Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - - -
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 79,515 5,680 (21,854) - - - - - - - (5) 4,371 67,707

(iv) Loans and receivables due from banks and other financial institutions

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2023

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

31. decembar 
2023.

Stage 1 4,976 1,461 (3,329) 1,129 (3) 1,132 - - (1,578) 595 3,254
Stage 2 351 - (17) (1,129) 3 (1,132) - - (5) 194 (606)
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 
transfers - - - - - - - -

Change* 905 (1,123) (1) (1,122) - - - - (218)
Total 6,232 1,461 (3,346) (1,123) (1) (1,122) - - - - (1,583) 789 2,430
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4. Risk management

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2022

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2022

Stage 1 3,661 175 (2,595) 112 (19) 131 - - (507) 4,130 4,976
Stage 2 463 - - (112) 19 (131) - - (82) 82 351
Stage 3 - - - - - - - - - - -
Total transfers - - - - - - - -
Change* 905 1,035 (130) - - - - 905
Total 4,124 175 (2,595) 905 1,035 (130) - - - - (589) 4,212 6,232

(v) Loans and receivables due from customers

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2023

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2023

Stage 1 2,571,387 172,987 (724,525) 219,341 (325,942) 558,658 (46,008) 32,633 - - (432,623) 907,788 2,714,355
Stage 2 2,641,485 381,535 (935,469) (475,283) 325,942 (558,658) - - (416,621) 174,054 (602,086) 847,808 1,857,990
Stage 3 7,160,562 510,747 (2,773,651) 255,942 - - 46,008 (32,633) 416,621 (174,054) (1,103,680) 1,152,944 5,202,864
Total transfers - - - - - - - - - - - -
Change* 1,774,722 - - 1,896,878 521,192 (470,874) 440,656 (31,594) 1,595,175 (157,677) - - 3,671,600
Total 14,148,156 1,065,269 (4,433,645) 1,896,878 521,192 (470,874) 440,656 (31,594) 1,595,175 (157,677) (2,138,389) 2,908,540 13,446,809

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2022

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2022

Stage 1 1,883,111 377,244 (422,621) 88,600 (443,385) 583,580 (79,173) 27,578 (325,112) 970,165 2,571,387
Stage 2 2,487,511 246,775 (427,409) (511,944) 443,385 (583,580) (442,721) 70,972 (358,952) 1,205,504 2,641,485
Stage 3 8,086,036 491,758 (1,687,339) 423,344 79,173 (27,578) 442,721 (70,972) (549,116) 395,879 7,160,562
Total transfers - - - - - - - -
Change* 1,774,722 1,215,415 (482,656) 450,989 (25,765) 671,468 (54,729) 1,774,722
Total 12,456,658 1,115,777 (2,537,369) 1,774,722 1,215,415 (482,656) 450,989 (25,765) 671,468 (54,729) (1,233,180) 2,571,548 14,148,156
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4. Risk management
(vi) Other assets

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2023

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2023

Stage 1 365 6,072 (4) (20) (16) - (4) - (18) 1 6,396
Stage 2 1,032 43 (48) 526 16 - (39) 549 (212) 146 1,487
Stage 3 56,622 16,597 (2,642) (506) 4 - 39 (549) (36,614) 28,370 61,827
Total transfers - - - - - - - -
Change* 6,161 3,850 - - 4 - 4,394 (548) 10,011
Total 64,180 22,712 (2,694) 3,850 - - 4 - 4,394 (548) (36,844) 28,517 79,721

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2022

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2022

Stage 1 36 39 (4) 295 (8) 305 (2) - (14) 13 365
Stage 2 580 67 (41) 345 8 (305) (76) 718 (131) 212 1,032
Stage 3 61,877 15,866 (5,089) (640) 2 - 76 (718) (44,269) 28,877 56,622
Total transfers - - - - - - - -
Change* 6,161 14 (294) 179 - 6,978 (716) 6,161
Total 62,493 15,972 (5,134) 6,161 14 (294) 179 - 6,978 (716) (44,414) 29,102 64,180

Movements of off-balance sheet exposures

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2023

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2023

Stage 1 181,287,432 10,420,760 (11,767,741) (17,492,793) (29,244,813) 11,984,285 (232,339) 74 (65,251,519) 117,344,369 214,540,508
Stage 2 43,276,780 2,426,331 (1,429,042) 21,410,554 29,593,675 (8,194,032) (1,388) 12,299 (23,406,537) 26,551,680 68,829,766
Stage 3 587,134 1,002 (57,979) 73,692 86,061 (55) 1,366 (13,680) (338,548) 199,913 465,214
Partial repayments (3,991,453) (348,862) (3,790,253) 146,278 (19) 22 1,381
Total 225,151,346 12,848,093 (13,254,762) - - - - - - - (88,996,604) 144,095,962 283,835,488
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4. Risk management
Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2022

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2022

Stage 1 190,361,996 10,990,178 (11,618,256) (9,693,246) (16,813,878) 7,461,582 (340,950) - (73,859,881) 75,106,641 181,287,432
Stage 2 24,708,004 245,123 (403,346) 11,395,335 18,677,631 (7,285,199) (1,249) 4,152 (11,993,303) 19,324,967 43,276,780
Stage 3 145,269 321 (2,711) 186,685 189,119 - 1,331 (3,765) (92,226) 349,796 587,134
Partial repayments (1,888,774) (1,863,753) (176,383) 151,831 - (82) (387) -
Total 215,215,269 11,235,622 (12,024,313) - - - - - - - (85,945,410) 94,781,404 225,151,346

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2023

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2023

Stage 1 406,425 16,627 (107,100) (26,448) (70,300) 44,741 (918) 29 (147,552) 199,339 341,291
Stage 2 156,583 120,223 (24,425) 33,183 70,300 (44,741) (117) 7,741 (218,549) 267,467 334,482
Stage 3 265,578 24,393 (32,716) (6,969) 918 (29) (117) (7,741) (203,950) 128,466 174,802
Total transfers 
Change* -

Total 314,231 373,118 380,639 (32,889) 32,180 (29) 621 (7,404) 687,349
Ukupno 1,142,817 161,243 (164,241) 372,884 380,639 (32,889) 32,180 (29) 387 (7,404) (570,051) 595,272 1,537,924

Changes within the Stage Transfers among Stages

Stage January 1, 
2022

Increases  
(+)

Decreases  
(-)

Total 
transfers

S1 (-) to  
S2 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S1 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S1 (+)

S2 (-) to  
S3 (+)

S3 (-) to  
S2 (+)

Exit  
(-)

Newly 
approved (+)

December 
31, 2022

Stage 1 119,431 186,542 (7,559) 3,740 (8,115) 12,138 (283) - (46,787) 151,058 406,425
Stage 2 56,874 20,765 (13,410) (857) 8,115 (12,138) (35) 3,201 (23,447) 116,658 156,583
Stage 3 82,855 327 (1,127) (2,883) 283 - 35 (3,201) (53,426) 239,832 265,578
Total transfers 
Change* - - - - - - - -

Total 314,231 218,098 (6,498) 104,712 - 733 (2,814) 314,231
Ukupno 259,160 207,634 (22,096) 314,231 218,098 (6,498) 104,712 - 733 (2,814) (123,660) 507,548 1,142,817

In the migration overviews above, by position, the following are shown:
• “Changes within the Stage” represent increases and decreases exposures for receivables that exist at the beginning and end of the period;
• The part of the table “Transfers among Stages” shows the exposures with changed Stage at the end of the period compared to the beginning of the period;
• In the “Exit” part of the table, fully repaid exposures are shown, i.e exposures that exist at the beginning of the period but do not exist at the end of the period;
• The “Newly approved” category shows the exposures created during the period;
• Change* means net re-measurement of loss allowances
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4. Risk management

Security Instruments - Collaterals

Credit risk is mitigated through adequate collateral management process. The purpose of acquiring all available collaterals, proper 
booking, assessment and monitoring is to minimize the risk as much as possible. Therefore, the Group is especially dedicated to the 
management of collaterals in order to maintain the acceptable relationship between the undertaken risk and the realistic rate of the 
collateral recovery, control and mitigation of risks related to quality, concentration, or securitization of the receivables, maturity, cur-
rency, etc. Aiming at further enhancement of processes and systems with regards to credit risk mitigation, the Group set up a special 
organizational unit, whose activities include collateral appraisal, process of collateral monitoring, accurate reporting, management 
of the relationships with external associates (licensed certified valuers and appraisers, insurance companies and supervisors), prepa-
rations of expert opinions, internal appraisal reports and the overall legal and economic collateral assessment, improvement of data 
quality and statistical monitoring of collaterals.

The Group uses relevant policies and procedures for collateral management. The most significant collaterals accepted and used by the 
Group for minimizing credit risk comprise:

• financial collaterals (cash deposits), allowed to be recognized in full amounts;

• payment guarantees issued by first-class banks and governments, allowed to be recognized at full amounts;

• mortgages on residential or commercial property, recognized up to 70% and 60%, respectively, of the appraised value 
of the property; and

• securities issued by governments, central banks or institutions with adequate credit rating.

In the event that the currency of a security instrument differs from the currency of the loan for which it provides security, the value of 
the security instrument must be further reduced using a factor defined for every currency combination, as prescribed by the Group’s 
internal bylaws governing the process of credit risk mitigation.
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4. Risk management

Appraised fair values of collaterals securitizing the Group’s loans up to the credit risk exposure level as of December 31, are presented 
in the table below:

Loans and receivables 
due from banks and other 

financial institutions

Loans and receivables due from 
customers Off-balance sheet assets

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Corporate clients, rating 10 - - 29,830 4,465 - 137

Real estate - - 28,227 - - -
Cash deposit - - - - - 137
Guarantee - - 1,603 4,465 - -
Pledge - - - - - -
Other - - - - - -

Corporate clients, rating 9 - - - - - -

Real estate - - - - - -
Cash deposit - - - - - -
Guarantee - - - - - -
Pledge - - - - - -
Other - - - - - -

Corporate clients, 
restructured loans - - 6,063,521 5,675,278 79,253 27,758

Real estate - - 5,108,591 5,290,116 31,497 18,991
Cash deposit - - 72,803 179,705 47,756 8,767
Guarantee - - 229,296 149,304 - -
Pledge - - 652,831 56,153 - -
Other - - - - - -

Retail clients, > 90 days past 
due - - 478,558 429,666 - -

Real estate - - 446,256 392,721 - -
Cash deposit - - 630 5,281 - -
Guarantee - - 31,672 31,664 - -
Pledge - - - - - -
Other - - - - - -

Group-level impairment 
allowance based on collateral 
appraisal

294,589 1,266 120,178,361 115,362,621 21,294,837 17,761,035

Real estate - - 99,930,722 96,692,170 10,833,957 6,124,208
Cash deposit 293,989 - 2,830,307 2,741,287 5,581,018 5,245,716
Guarantee 600 1,266 14,980,087 12,957,068 4,810,639 6,358,446
Pledge - - 1,937,605 2,708,734 36,696 32,665
Other - - 499,640 263,362 32,527 -

Total 294,589 1,266 126,750,270 121,472,030 21,374,090 17,788,930

(c) Market Risks
Market risks represent the possibility of adverse effects on the financial performance and the Group’s capital due to changes in the 
value of on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet items that arise from the fluctuations of market prices. The market risks include 
foreign exchange risk and price risks in respect of debt and equity securities.

The set-up system of limits for the Group’s exposure to the market risks establishes threshold for the total absorption of economic 
capital as well as the acceptable level of economic loss both for the activities carried out through the trading book and for the overall 
business activity of the Group in accordance with its risk-taking capacities.
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4. Risk management

One of the basic indicators for monitoring of the Group’s exposure to the market risks during 2023 is:

•  VaR (Value at Risk) – a potential loss of portfolio value in one day with 99% confidence interval; VaR is calculated 
based on the historical simulation approach and is monitored daily. The main risk factors that are covered by this cal-
culation are: interest rate risk, credit spread risk, foreign exchange risk, volatility and inflation,

In addition to these basic indicators, when monitoring and managing exposure to market risks, the Group also uses some additional 
granular limits - aimed at preventing increased exposure within individual risk factors, as well as in risk factors that are not sufficiently 
taken considered in VaR analyses. The most important of these indicators are sensitivity analyses – BPV (Basis Point Value Sensitivity) 
and CPV (Credit Point Value Sensitivity).

During 2023, the Group’s exposure to market risks was within defined limits and in accordance with its risk-taking capacities.

Breakdown of VaR position of the trading portfolio:

At December 31 Average Maximum Minimum
2023
Foreign exchange risk 1,014 1,949 7,229 138
Interest rate risk 29,310 23,479 41,427 3,237
Credit spread risk 29,907 24,982 37,299 5,801
Covariance (26,465) - - -
Total 33,766 32,238 53,916 5,954
2022
Foreign exchange risk 3,581 2,006 7,460 247
Interest rate risk 7,750 6,077 15,296 598
Credit spread risk 7,462 2,508 8,800 518
Covariance (4,874) - - -
Total 13,919 7,402 18,902 2,425

Retroactive testing (back-testing) of the VaR model is monitored on a monthly basis and reported to the ALCO. If the realized loss is 
higher than the loss shown by the VaR model, it is considered as overdraft. Retroactive testing refers to the period of last 250 working 
days in relation to the date of observation.

Climate risk exposure is gradually introduced in Market risk monitoring, currently only for information purposes. The effect on which 
climate-related risks potentially affect Group market risk is reflected in the change in fair value of the Group’s positions due to vola-
tility in market factors (interest rates, exchange rates) caused by: transition risk (due to more restrictive regulatory requirements to 
control the economy leading to global warming) and physical risk (due to the economic impact of increased emissions).

There were no strategic changes relating to liquidity and market risk management compared to 2022. Basic updates in internal poli-
cies relate to the revision of existing process roles and activities, updating of appropriate limits for indicators and implementation of 
deposit modeling without agreed maturity (from the point of view of liquidity and interest rate risk).

Foreign Exchange (Currency) Risk

Foreign exchange (currency) risk is the risk of potential negative effects on the Group’s performance and capital due to fluctuations in 
the foreign currency exchange rates.

The foreign currency risk ratio is the total open foreign currency position relative to the Group’s capital, calculated in accordance with 
the relevant regulator’s decision on the capital adequacy of banks. The Group is under obligation to maintain the ratio between assets 
and liabilities in such a way that its total open foreign currency position at the end of a working day must not exceed 20% of its capital. 
The Financial Risk prepares a report on the Group’s foreign exchange risk position for the purposes of NBS on an intraday basis (the 
report is sent at noon and at 2 p.m.), as well as on daily and monthly bases.
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4. Risk management

The Group is exposed to the effects of exchange rate fluctuations for major foreign currencies on its financial position and cash flows. 
The Group’s management sets limits for the risk exposure per foreign currencies and constantly monitors whether balances (posi-
tions) in various foreign currencies are within the prescribed limits. Limits apply to all the relevant foreign currency products within 
the Trading. They cover trading items as well as selected strategic foreign currency of ALM & Funding. All sensitivities that result from 
foreign currency balances are limited by the general VaR limit set level, both at the Group aggregate level and for the Trading and 
ALM & Funding.

In order to protect itself against the risk of fluctuations in the foreign currency exchange rates, the Group executes derivative contracts 
and loan contracts with a foreign currency index clause.

The Group’s foreign currency risk management at the operating level is the responsibility of the Trading organizational structure within 
Client Risk Management & Treasury.

Foreign exchange risk ratio is calculated as ratio between the total Net open FX position and the Bank’s capital.

2023 2022
Foreign exchange risk ratio:
- as at December 31 3.78 2.07
- maximum for the period – December* 4.38 5.12
- minimum for the period – December* 0.12 0.33

*The max and min ratios are provided for the Bank only.
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4. Risk management

The Group’s net currency position as at December 31, 2023:

USD EUR CHF Other currencies RSD Total

Cash and balances held with the central bank 203,066 37,916,047 288,177 102,701 92,001,725 130,511,716
Receivables under derivative financial instruments - 2,049,563 - - 6,094 2,055,657
Securities - 18,750,155 - - 85,695,631 104,445,786
Loans and receivables due from banks and other financial institutions 20,800,185 13,578,484 49,580 372,249 28,205,893 63,006,391
Loans and receivables due from customers - 242,141,830 102,530 - 102,225,347 344,469,707
Receivables under derivatives designated as risk hedging instruments - 636,909 - - - 636,909
Other assets 9,267 533,736 - 1 1,375,497 1,918,501
Total assets 21,012,518 315,606,724 440,287 474,951 309,510,187 647,044,667

Liabilities under derivative financial instruments - 2,098,367 - - 20,775 2,119,142
Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other financial institutions 
and the central bank 416,148 124,936,758 280 4,819 20,808,772 146,166,777
Deposits and other liabilities due to customers 15,574,859 175,289,217 4,555,947 1,120,358 193,195,023 389,735,404
Liabilities under derivatives designated as risk hedging instruments - 734,550 - - - 734,550
Other liabilities 445,701 6,506,670 18,157 136,104 3,208,905 10,315,537
Total liabilities 16,436,708 309,565,562 4,574,384 1,261,281 217,233,475 549,071,410

Off-balance sheet financial instruments (FX swap, forward and spot) (4,613,291) (8,065,070) 4,119,213 831,675 7,698,114 (29,359)
Net currency position as of December 31, 2023 (37,481) (2,023,908) (14,884) 45,345 99,974,826 97,943,898

 
Assets and liabilities with a currency clause index are stated within currency to which they are indexed
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4. Risk management

The Group’s net currency position as at December 31, 2022:

USD EUR CHF Other currencies RSD Total

Cash and balances held with the central bank 288,224 35,032,983 218,665 154,942 34,064,017 69,758,831
Pledged financial assets - - - - 7,220,590 7,220,590
Receivables under derivative financial instruments - 2,784,580 - - 24,169 2,808,749
Securities - 14,774,282 - - 88,997,599 103,771,881
Loans and receivables due from banks and other financial 
institutions 15,705,894 24,673,820 48,612 374,452 35,090,861 75,893,639

Loans and receivables due from customers - 220,572,904 110,680 - 108,160,130 328,843,714
Receivables under derivatives designated as risk hedging 
instruments - 1,083,998 - - - 1,083,998

Other assets 20,238 155,399 - 4 1,820,932 1,996,573
Total assets 16,014,356 299,077,966 377,957 529,398 275,378,298 591,377,975

Liabilities under derivative financial instruments - 2,805,207 - - 14,189 2,819,396
Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other financial 
institutions and the central bank 139,217 106,181,017 1,191 1,503 32,872,727 139,195,655

Deposits and other liabilities due to customers
Liabilities under derivatives designated as risk hedging instruments 13,025,879 176,704,806 4,382,291 1,192,366 162,835,239 358,140,581
Other liabilities - 924,644 - - - 924,644
Total liabilities 411,882 3,911,385 17,703 68,247 2,740,318 7,149,535
Off-balance sheet financial instruments (FX swap, forward and 
spot) 13,576,978 290,527,059 4,401,185 1,262,116 198,462,473 508,229,811

Finansijski instrumenti iz vanbilansa (valutni svop, forvard, spot) (2,201,018) (10,584,789) 4,018,870 751,008 8,028,381 12,452
Net currency position as of December 31, 2022 236,360 (2,033,882) (4,358) 18,290 84,944,206 83,160,616

*Note: Assets and liabilities with a currency clause index are stated within currency to which they are indexed
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4. Risk management

Non-Financial Risks Strategy (Operational and Reputational risk) is stirring instrument for UniCredit Bank Serbia that represent the 
comprehensive structured approach for risk reduction and minimization, prepared annually, with a set of actions defined, in order to 
prevent/mitigate the identified risks.

Non-Financial Risks Strategy is based on analysis done by Non-financial Risks function in cooperation with relevant process owners 
(RCSA, Preliminary analysis, Scenario analysis, recorded op risk losses etc) and on Group Non-Financial Risks Strategy (Operational 
and Reputational) through specific relevant actions and deadlines defined by the Group Non-Financial Risks function over the year.

The monitoring of implementation of identified Non-financial risks mitigation actions is done on a quarterly basesis on Non Financial 
Risk Committee- NFRC.

(d) Operational Risks
Operational risk is the risk of possible adverse effects on financial result and capital of the bank caused by omissions (unintentional 
and intentional) in employees’ work, inadequate internal procedures and processes, inadequate management of information and oth-
er systems, as well as by unforeseeable external events. Operational risk includes legal risk and compliance risk while strategic risks, 
business risks and reputational risks are different from operational risk. Operational events are those resulting from inadequate or 
failed internal processes, personnel and systems or from systemic and other external events: internal or external fraud, employment 
practices and workplace safety, clients claims, products distribution, fines and penalties due to regulation breaches, damage to Com-
pany’s physical assets, business disruption and system failures, process management.

(e) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is a risk of adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance and capital caused by the Group’s inability to settle its 
matured liabilities due to drawdown of the existing sources of financing, i.e., the Group’s inability to obtain new sources of financing or 
difficult conversion of assets into liquid funds because of market disruptions. The main objective of the overall liquidity management 
of the Group is to maintain adequate liquidity and financing position, which will enable the Group to fulfil its payment obligations not 
only in regular business, but in stressful circumstances as well.

The liquidity risk that the Group is faced with in everyday business may have different forms:

• Intraday liquidity risk – the liquidity risk during the day occurs when the Group is unable to meet its payment obligations in a timely 
manner, both under normal and stress conditions;

• Short-term liquidity risk refers to a risk of mismatch between the amounts and/or the maturities of cash inflows and outflows over 
a short period of time (up to one year);

• Market liquidity risk is a risk that the Group may face a significant loss of its liquid assets’ value whenever it is necessary to liqui-
date them through sales or repo transactions;

• Structural liquidity risk is defined as the inability to obtain the necessary funds to maintain an adequate relationship between mid-
term and long-term (over one year) assets and liabilities at reasonable price levels, in a stable and sustainable manner, without 
affecting the daily operations or the financial position of the Group;

• The risk of unforeseen or stressful circumstances relates to future and unexpected obligations that could require the Group to 
maintain higher liquidity than what is considered a sufficient amount for conducting regular business operations;

• Financing concentration risk occurs when the Group uses a limited number of sources of financing, so that they become such that 
a withdrawal of one or more of them could cause liquidity problems;

• Foreign currency liquidity risk (FX risk) arises from the current and projected liquidity mismatch between the cash inflows and 
outflows in foreign currencies, or a different allocation of assets and liabilities in foreign currencies within a time horizon.
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4. Risk management

Within the liquidity risk management, the Group addresses each of the above listed sources of liquidity risk through the appropriately 
set up system of limits.

The limit system used in daily liquidity risk management ensures that the Group maintains liquidity and financing position that is 
strong enough to bear the potential effects of unfavorable scenarios in which the above listed risks can be materialized. The limit 
system for the Group is defined in the Risk Appetite Framework (RAF) as well as other granular limits.

RAF defines the level of risk that the Group is willing to take in achieving its strategic goals and business plan, considering the interest 
of its shareholders, as well as capital and other regulatory and legal requirements. As such, RAF is approved by the Supervisory Board, 
while the granular limits (or other form of limitation) are derived from RAF: their approval and escalation process, however, includes 
other Group’s committees or functions that are set at a lower hierarchy level in the Group’s organization.

Some of the main liquidity indicators included in RAF for 2023 were:

• the Bank’s liquidity ratio and narrow liquidity ratio,

• the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) - consolidated, and

• the net stable funding ratio (NSFR).

During 2023, there was no breach of any of the defined limits.

The Group’s liquidity ratio and narrow liquidity ratio

The liquidity ratio of the Group is the ratio of the sum of level 1 and level 2 liquid receivables of the Bank and the sum of liabilities 
payable on demand or with no agreed maturity and liabilities falling due within a month from the date of liquidity ratio calculation.

In the context of this report, based on Decision of NBS on Liquidity Risk Management by Banks, Level 1 liquid receivables are: cash 
and balances with Central Bank, balances on the accounts with banks that have been rated at least BBB in the Standard & Poor`s or 
Fitch-IBCA rating or at least Baa3 in the Moody`s rating and Securities portfolio. Level 2 are other receivables due within a month after 
the liquidity ratio was calculated.

The Group is obliged to maintain the level of liquidity so that:

• at least 1.0 – when calculated as an average of all working days in a month;

• not below 0.9 – for over three consecutive working days; and

• at least 0.8 – when calculated for one working day.

The narrow liquidity ratio is the ratio of level 1 liquid receivables of a Bank and the sum of liabilities payable on demand or with no 
agreed maturity and liabilities falling due within a month from the date of liquidity ratio calculation.

The Group is obliged to maintain the level of liquidity so that narrow liquidity ratio is:

at least 0.7 – when calculated as an average of all working days in a month;

• not below 0.6 – for over three consecutive working days; and

• at least 0.5 – when calculated for one working day.

The Group is under obligation to report to the NBS ifthe liquidity ratios are non-compliant with the prescribed parameters for two 
consecutive working days and must do so on the next working day. If the Bank determines a critically low liquidity ratio, it must report 
this to the NBS at the latest by the next working day. Such a report should contain information on the amount of shortfall liquid assets, 
on the reasons for the lack of liquidity and on the activities planned for resolving the causes of illiquidity.
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4. Risk management

Financial Risk prepares a report on daily liquidity for the National Bank of Serbia daily.

Realized values of the liquidity and narrow liquidity ratios during 2022 and 2023:

2023 2022
The Bank’s liquidity ratio
- as at 31 December 2.29 2.00
- average for the period – December 2.24 1.98
- maximum for the period – December 2.34 2.10
- minimum for the period – December 2.15 1.89

2023 2022
The Bank’s narrow liquidity ratio - as at 31 December
- as at 31 December 1.70 1.27
- average for the period – December 1.38 1.32
- maximum for the period – December 1.70 1.44
- minimum for the period – December 1.20 1.19

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)

This indicator represents the ratio of the Group’s high quality liquid assets (liquidity buffer) to the net outflows of its liquid assets that 
would occur during the next 30 days from this indicator calculation date under the assumed stress conditions. This ratio is calculated 
monthly for the Group and twice annually for at the Group’s consolidation level.

The Group is required to maintain the liquidity coverage ratio observing the total in all currencies at a level not lower than 100%.

The Group’s realized LCR values indicate a high level of liquidity maintained during 2022 and 2023:

As at December 31 2023 2022
Liquidity buffer 185,698,171 145,269,360
Net outflows of liquid assets 112,732,451 91,449,099
LCR 165% 159%

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)

This ratio is calculated based on UniCredit Group’s methodology, due to the fact that there was no regulatory requirements in Republic 
Serbia. In 2023, NBS has announced introduction of this report as of June 2024. During 2023, Group was in the targeted range which 
was defined in RAF process.

The liquidity risk management system also defines specific limits that ensure that the liquidity reserves are high enough to cover 
even the intense stress periods. The liquidity risk stress test is carried out on a monthly basis and is based on the scenario analyses. 
If necessary, frequency of stress testing can be increased to weekly basis. The objective of the scenario analysis is testing of the Group’s 
ability to continue its business activities while facing a stressful event.

Three basic scenarios are analyzed:

• Market scenario (stressful circumstances caused by market events);

•  The name crisis (stressful circumstances caused by unfavorable news in the media or events related to the Group); and

• Combined scenario (combination of the above two scenarios).
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4. Risk management

Given the banking turmoil and financial distress of Silicon Valley Bank (SVB) and First Republic Bank in US and of Credit Suisse in 
Europe, the Group has introduced a new ad hoc scenario in the liquidity stress test, called Extreme scenario, on top of our regular sce-
narios. Compared to the combined scenario, the main changes in the extreme scenario are in the positions of financial and interbank 
deposits, which have a full run-off profile. Extreme scenario is not applied on consolidated level, but only considering Bank positions.

To ensure timely and adequate actions in cases of increased liquidity risk, the Group has adopted the Business Continuity Plan, which 
is tested on an annual basis and which:

• Precisely defines procedures for early detection of the Group’s liquidity problems, including a list of early warning indi-
cators;

• Clearly defines activities, obligations and responsibilities in liquidity crisis management; and

• Precisely defines the manner of accessing available or potential sources of liquidity, as well as procedures for securing 
access to supplementary sources of financing, or sources that are not used in regular business.

The effect on which climate-related risks potentially affect Group liquidity risk. it can occur through transitional risk (increased liquidi-
ty needs in high-CARBON companies that have difficulty adapting to a carbon neutral economy) and physical risk (increased need for 
‘I’ liquidity due to severe weather events).

Contingency liquidity or capital policy was not activated (nor was there a need for it). With a stable and adequate liquidity potential, 
the Group has not experienced an outflow of retail and corporate deposits, nor restrictions on the money market due to the reducti-
on of limits by other financial institutions. Early warning indicators EWI indicators, both for the Group and the market, are set at an 
appropriate distance from the RAF or the level of regulatory limits, leaving time for the Group to respond in a timely manner during 
potential or actual crises.
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4. Risk management

The following table provides breakdown of relevant maturity groups of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023:

Up to 1 month From 1 to 3 
months

From 3 to  
12 months From 1 to 5 years Over  

5 years Total

Assets
Cash and balances held with the central bank 130,511,716 - - - - 130,511,716
Receivables under derivative financial instruments - - 2,055,657 - - 2,055,657
Securities 2,767,554 - 71,367,819 1,370,346 28,940,067 104,445,786
Loans and receivables due from banks and other financial 
institutions 63,455,102 337,441 (620,425) (174,190) 8,463 63,006,391

Loans and receivables due from customers 29,852,095 20,016,829 87,223,187 113,898,432 93,479,164 344,469,707
Receivables under derivatives designated as risk hedging 
instruments - - 636,909 - - 636,909

Other assets 1,548,717 - 369,784 - - 1,918,501
Total assets 228,135,184 20,354,270 161,032,931 115,094,588 122,427,694 647,044,667

Liabilities
Liabilities under derivative financial instruments - - 2,119,142 - - 2,119,142
Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other financial 
institutions and the central bank 21,282,132 8,938,059 69,228,458 28,622,697 18,095,431 146,166,777

Deposits and other liabilities due to customers 306,648,764 4,779,323 50,740,688 21,449,322 6,117,307 389,735,404
Liabilities under derivatives designated as risk hedging 
instruments - - 734,550 - - 734,550

Other liabilities 7,277,783 73,932 1,923,821 921,290 118,711 10,315,537
Total liabilities 335,208,679 13,791,314 124,746,659 50,993,309 24,331,449 549,071,410
Off-balance sheet items 5,972,394 2,070,959 5,194,941 - - 13,238,294

Net liquidity gap as at December 31, 2023 (113,045,889) 4,491,997 31,091,331 64,101,279 98,096,245 84,734,963

In the analysis of liquidity risk, the Group also takes into account off-balance sheet positions. Using the historical analysis of the time series and the application of the VAR model with a 95% confidence 
interval, the percentages of potential outflows that can be expected up to 1 month, up to 3 months and up to 1 year cumulatively were calculated. The percentages calculated in this way are applied to 
the following off- balance sheet positions: revocable and irrevocable credit lines, guarantees and credit cards, and the calculated potential outflows are included in the liquidity risk analysis.

The structure of asset and liability maturities as at December 31, 2023 is indicative of maturity mismatch between the outstanding maturities of assets and those of liabilities in the time buckets, with 
marked negative mismatch in the buckets of up to a month. This mismatch is primarily due to maturity structure of deposits, i.e., a significant share of demand deposits in the total deposits. This negative 
gap decreased compared to December 31, 2022, bearing in mind that with the increase in interest rates, a certain amount of demand deposits was redirected to time deposits in accordance with the 
increase in interest rates. Based on historical data and experience, a significant portion of demand deposits may be considered a long-term source of financing given their stability, growth rate and with-
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4. Risk management

drawal rate. At the same time, we underline that the Group is in possession of liquid instruments, i.e., securities and other liquidity reserves, that can be pledged with the National Bank of Serbia at any 
time, or sold on a secondary market, and has at its disposal funds from the parent bank (in line with funding plan) and international financial institutions in accordance with the adopted financing plan for 
the current year, all of which can be used to cover potential outflows of funds at any time, even in the stress scenarios. The stress scenario analyses are performed and analyzed by the relevant Group’s 
units and teams on an ongoing basis.

The following table provides breakdown of relevant maturity groups of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2022:

Up to 1 month From 1 to 3 
months

From 3 to  
12 months From 1 to 5 years Over  

5 years Total

Assets
Cash and balances held with the central bank 69,758,831 - - - - 69,758,831
Pledged financial assets - - 7,220,590 - - 7,220,590
Receivables under derivative financial instruments - - 2,808,749 - - 2,808,749
Securities 5,923,770 19,036,529 39,696,638 39,114,944 103,771,881
Loans and receivables due from banks and other financial 
institutions 75,138,031 158,608 390,225 198,461 8,314 75,893,639

Loans and receivables due from customers 22,084,394 27,002,273 80,145,135 100,781,492 98,830,420 328,843,714
Receivables under derivatives designated as risk hedging 
instruments - - 1,083,998 - - 1,083,998

Other assets 1,727,638 - 268,935 - - 1,996,573
Total assets 174,632,664 27,160,881 110,954,161 140,676,591 137,953,678 591,377,975

Liabilities - - 2,819,396 - - 2,819,396
Obaveze po osnovu derivata
Liabilities under derivative financial instruments 15,512,981 19,295,159 59,852,094 27,567,594 16,967,827 139,195,655
Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other financial 
institutions and the central bankinstitutions and the central 
bank

297,882,400 4,292,463 39,571,122 15,608,351 786,245 358,140,581

Liabilities under derivatives designated as risk hedging 
instruments - - 924,644 - - 924,644

Other liabilities 4,452,477 68,348 1,381,425 1,075,917 171,368 7,149,535
Total liabilities 317,847,858 23,655,970 104,548,681 44,251,862 17,925,440 508,229,811
Off-balance sheet items 4,139,101 5,725,430 10,029,451 - - 19,893,982

Net liquidity gap as at December 31, 2022 (147,354,295) (2,220,519) (3,623,971) 96,424,729 120,028,238 63,254,182
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4. Risk management

The following table provides breakdown of relevant maturity groups of the derivative financial instruments for liquidity risk monitoring purposes:

Up to 1 month From 1 to 3 
months

From 3 to  
12 months From 1 to 5 years Over  

5 years Total

FX derivative financial instruments – receive side 24,855,011 - 1,274,008 - - 26,129,019
FX derivative financial instruments – pay side 24,887,139 - 1,269,986 - - 26,157,125
Net maturity gap as at December 31, 2023 (32,128) - 4,022 - - (28,106)

Up to 1 month From 1 to 3 
months

From 3 to  
12 months From 1 to 5 years Over  

5 years Total

FX derivative financial instruments – receive side 22,201,476 64,006 3,034,531 - - 25,300,013
FX derivative financial instruments – pay side 22,191,689 63,321 3,034,572 - - 25,289,582
Net maturity gap as at December 31, 2022 9,787 685 (41) - - 10,431

The maturity structure of FX derivative financial instruments which is relevant from the aspect of monitoring and managing liquidity risk does not indicate a significant existence of maturity mismatch of 
the remaining maturity period by time baskets. FX derivative financial instruments are included in all indicators used to monitor both short-term and structural liquidity, thus ensuring adequate manage-
ment of potential liquidity risk that may arise from these positions.
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4. Risk management

Structural FX Gap

Structural FX Gap is calculated as the difference between the liabilities over 1 year in a specific foreign currency and the assets over 
1 year on the same currency, mapped according to the criteria for calculation of the Structural Liquidity Gap. Behavioral models on 
non-maturing deposits were also considered which led to revision of trigger due to change of the maturity profile on liability side.

2023 2022
EUR FX Gap >1Y
Liabilities in time baskets >1Y 164,196,103 135,697,466
Receivables in time baskets >1Y 187,913,625 167,795,543
Trigger (max) (49,915,996) (76,259,560)
FX Gap (23,717,522) (32,098,077)

2023 2022
Other FX Gap >1Y
Liabilities in time baskets >1Y - -
Receivables in time baskets >1Y 96,946 103,837
Trigger (max) (585,869) (12,905,464)
FX Gap (96,946) (103,837)

The trigger on Structural FX Gap is intended to reduce the imbalance between the structural funding and assets over 1 year in a spe-
cific currency, and it is defined as maximum allowed negative difference.

(f) Compliance Risks
Compliance risk represents a possibility of adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance and capital due to the failure of the 
Group to align its operations with the effective laws and regulations, professional standards, procedures for prevention of money 
laundering and terrorist financing and other procedures, best business practices, business ethics and the Group’s internal bylaws and 
other enactments governing banking operations. It particularly relates to the risk of regulatory sanctions, the risk of financial losses 
and reputational risk. The Group has organized a special organizational unit whose competence covers compliance review.

The primary task of the Compliance is to identify and asses the Group’s compliance risk and report thereon to the Management Board 
and Audit Committee and, as appropriate, the Supervisory Board and to propose plans on management of the main compliance risks. 
The Compliance assess risks in accordance with the adopted Methodology and Annual Activity Plan.

Moreover, the Group’s compliance function supports other organizational units of the Group in defining procedures, introducing new 
products or modifying the existing ones, in implementation of the laws and bylaws, rules, standards and the Group’s internal by-
laws and enactments specifically governing the following areas: prevention of money laundering and terrorist financing, financial 
sanctions, banking secrets, protection of personal data, insider information and market abuse, professional market conduct stand-
ards, conflict of interests, corruption, loansharking, professional conduct with clients and provision of adequate advice to clients in 
accordance with the Code of Conduct and Ethical Principles, application of standards on the protection of financial service users and 
transparency in behavior, protection of competition and other regulatory areas in accordance with the rules of UniCredit Group and 
the adopted program for the Group’s compliance function.

(g) The Risk of Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing
The risk of money laundering and terrorist financing is a risk of possible adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance, capital 
or reputation due to the use of the Group for money laundering and/or terrorist financing.

The risk of money laundering and terrorist financing arises particularly as a result of the failure of the Group to align its business oper-
ations with the effective legislation, regulations and internal bylaws governing prevention of money laundering and terrorist financing, 
or as a result of mutual non-alignment of the Group’s internal bylaws governing this matter.

The Group has in place policies and procedures for identification, measurement, assessment and management of the risk of mon-
ey laundering and terrorist financing. The Group protects itself from this risk by means of an internal control system in place in its 
organizational units, timely information and training and education as well as testing of its employees, which is a key factor in the 
management of the risk of money laundering and terrorist financing.
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4. Risk management

Within the Compliance a separate organizational unit has been formed – Anti Financial Crime Compliance – to take care of the im-
provement and continuous implementation of the policies and procedures for managing the risk of money laundering and terrorist 
financing. The Group has provided the staff of the Anti-Financial Crime Compliance with appropriate HR, material, technical , IT and 
other resources for work as well as with ongoing professional education and trainings.

(h) Strategic Risks
Strategic risk is the possibility of adverse effects on the Group’s financial result or capital due to absence of adequate policies and 
strategies, or due to their inadequate implementation, and due to changes in the environment in which the Group operates or failure 
of the Group to adequately respond to these changes.

Strategic risk management is the responsibility of every employee of the Group within the risk management system, along with the 
most important role of Supervisory Board of the Bank which is responsible for risk management system establishing, as well as the 
Management Board which is responsible for its implementation, as well as the identification, measurement and risk assessment. 
The Group’s corporate bodies carry out, among other things, the monitoring of strategic risk through establishing and monitoring of 
the annual budget, as well as the multi-annual strategic plan, which is monitored at least quarterly. In that way corporate bodies are 
in a situation to respond to all changes in the environment in which the Group operates. The Group’s management reporting system, 
established in all business segments, provides an adequate and timely set of information needed for the Group’s decision-making 
process in order to respond to business changes.

Organizational structure of the Group, established by relevant governance bodies, is defined to ensure adequate resources involved in 
preparation and implementation of risk policies and strategies, as well as methodologies, guidelines, working instructions and other 
documents. The Group continually monitors, assesses and updates relevant internal regulations and improves processes in order to 
actively manage changes in the business environment and mitigate their influence on Group’s financial result and capital.

An important element in the management of strategic risk is the Group’s internal control system, described in the Rulebook on risk 
management, which provides continuous monitoring of the risks to which the Group is exposed or which may be exposed in its busi-
ness. This system ensures implementation of appropriate policies and strategies in practice and elimination of possible shortcomings, 
by which strategic risk to which the Group is exposed is additionally monitored and managed

(i) Business Risk
Business risk is defined as a measure of the difference between unexpected and expected unwanted changes in future revenues of 
the Group.

Business risk may result from extremely unfavorable developments in the market environment, changes in competition or client be-
havior, as well as changes in the legal framework. Sources of such information represent a series of financial statements that include 
items whose variability is assessed within other types of risk (credit, market, operational risks). Therefore, in order to avoid overlapping 
with the assessment of other types of risks (e.g. credit, market, operational), the focus here is on specific types of income and expenses 
of the Group, which, after assessment, are identified and aggregated with other types of risks in order to obtain the total assessment 
of the risk profile through the economic capital of the Group.

( j) Reputational Risk
Reputational Risk is defined as the current or prospective risk to earnings and capital arising from the adverse perception of the image 
of the financial institution on the part of customers, counterparties (including also debt-holders, market analysts, and other relevant 
party), shareholders / investors, regulators or employees (stakeholders).

Reputational Risk is a secondary risk generated as a “knock-on effect” from risk categories, such as credit, market, operational and 
liquidity risks and all others risks types (e.g. business risk, strategy risk).

Reputational risk evaluation of clients / initiatives / transactions / projects / and other topics for which there is an identification of 
potential high reputational risk is performed within the Committee on Non-Financial Risks (NFRC) - Reputation Risk Sub-committee.
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4. Risk management

(k) Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book
Interest rate risk is defined as a possibility of adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance and equity per items in the Group’s 
banking book due to changes in interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to the interest rate risk is considered from two perspectives:

• Impact on the economic value - when changes in interest rates affect the basic value of assets. liabilities and off-bal-
ance sheet instruments, because the economic value of future cash flows changes (and in some cases. The cash flows 
themselves); and

• Impact on the financial result - when changes in interest rates affect earnings by changing the net interest income.

The system of limits for measuring exposure to the interest rate risk is used for monitoring potential changes in the economic value 
(EV) and changes in the expected net interest income (NII) or profit, addressing all the material sources of risk, in particular:

• Repricing risk - arises from the structure of the banking book and relates to timing mismatch in the maturity and re-
pricing period of assets and liabilities;

• Yield curve risk - arising from changes in the yield curve shape and or slope;

• Basis risk to which the Group is exposed due to different reference interest rates applicable to the interest-sensitive 
items with similar characteristics in terms of maturity or repricing; and

• Optionality risk to which the Group is exposed due to embedded options in relation to interest rate¬sensitive positions 
(loans with the option of early repayment, deposits with the option of early withdrawal).

The Group has implemented the framework of interest rate risk scenarios that address all the aforesaid sources of interest rate risk 
and, depending on the strength of the assumptions used, those can be divided into two basic groups:

• regular business scenarios, and

• stress test scenarios.

The scenarios vary depending on the specific risk generator, whose parameters are changed or stressed:

• assumptions of stress on interest rates (parallel, non-parallel changes in interest rates);

• assumptions of stress on the balance sheet (dynamic balance sheet, constant balance sheet);

• single-factor analysis; and

• multifactor analysis.

The effects of all scenarios are analyzed from the viewpoint of the change in the economic value and net interest income.

Interest rate risk scenarios included in RAF 2023:

• Economic value (EV) sensitivity, and

• Sensitivity of net interest income (NII).

One of the tasks of the Group’s ALM & Funding is to establish procedures for the Group to comply with the defined limits for the interest 
rate risk. This is accomplished through activities in the financial markets (through interbank transactions, securities transactions) con-
ducted in cooperation with the Client Risk Management & Treasury as well as other ALM & Funding activities used to manage interest 
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4. Risk management

gaps for protection against the interest rate risk, in line with the Group’s preferred risk profile. At the same time, those organizational 
units are involved in the management of the Group’s investment portfolio, which, together with the approved instruments, enables 
the achievement of a strategic position that ensures stability of interest income from the banking book. For protection against the 
interest rate risk, Group undertake hedging transactions to hedge certain portfolios or transactions.

An analysis of the Group’s sensitivity (EV loss or gain) coming from parallel shifts of 200 bps on market interest rates in respect of the 
positions in the banking book (EV), assuming no asymmetric trends in yield curves, is presented as follows:

Parallel increase of 200 bp Parallel decrease of 200 bp

2023
As at December 31 (2,295,961) 2,361,549
Average for the year (1,826,735) 1,912,037
Maximum for the year (252,496) 3,029,295
Minimum for the year (2,684,186) (174,185)

2022
As at December 31 (298,215) (107,390)
Average for the year (544,244) (26,829)
Maximum for the year 387,074 1,212,293
Minimum for the year (1,808,157) (969,894)
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4. Risk management

The Group’s exposure to interest rate changes as at December 31, 2023 is presented for the entire interest-bearing portion of the statement of the financial position:

Carrying amount Up to 1 month From 1 to 3 
months

From 3 months 
to 1 year From 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Non-interest 

bearing
Cash and balances held with the central bank 130,511,716 40,327,414 - - - - 90,184,302
Receivables under derivative financial 
instruments 2,055,657 - - - - - 2,055,657

Securities 104,445,786 5,227,861 13,467 1,370,346 70,619,660 27,214,452 -
Loans and receivables due from banks and other 
financial institutions 63,006,391 61,869,584 292,723 296,425 927 - 546,732

Loans and receivables due from customers 344,469,707 39,638,361 157,165,921 82,450,453 42,057,489 20,239,850 2,917,633

Receivables under derivatives designated as risk 
hedging instruments 636,909 - - - - - 636,909

Other assets 1,918,501 - - - - - 1,918,501
Total assets 647,044,667 147,063,220 157,472,111 84,117,224 112,678,076 47,454,302 98,259,734

Liabilities under derivative financial instruments 2,119,142 - - - - - 2,119,142

Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other 
financial institutions and the central bank 146,166,777 14,041,801 72,953,474 40,793,211 9,238,385 - 9,139,906

Deposits and other liabilities due to customers 389,735,404 42,335,861 30,877,233 33,376,473 15,004,404 2,601,264 265,540,169

Liabilities under derivatives designated as risk 
hedging instruments 734,550 - - - - - 734,550

Other liabilities 10,315,537 - - - - - 10,315,537
Total liabilities 549,071,410 56,377,662 103,830,707 74,169,684 24,242,789 2,601,264 287,849,304

Net interest rate risk exposure at  
December 31, 2023 97,973,257 90,685,558 53,641,404 9,947,540 88,435,287 44,853,038 (189,589,570)
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4. Risk management

The Group’s exposure to interest rate changes as at December 31, 2022 is presented for the entire interest-bearing portion of the statement of the financial position:

Carrying amount Up to 1 month From 1 to 3 
months

From 3 months 
to 1 year From 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Non-interest 

bearing
Cash and balances held with the central bank 69,758,831 27,301,207 - - - - 42,457,624
Pledged financial assets 7,220,590 - - - - 7,220,590 -
Receivables under derivative financial 
instruments 2,808,749 - - - - - 2,808,749

Securities 103,771,881 7,493,623 20,094 25,488,141 39,006,043 31,763,980 -
Loans and receivables due from banks and other 
financial institutions 75,893,639 73,011,153 351,496 257,433 504 - 2,273,053

Loans and receivables due from customers 328,843,714 48,700,846 149,670,252 93,646,498 19,885,181 14,423,243 2,517,694
Receivables under derivatives designated as risk 
hedging instruments 1,083,998 - - - - - 1,083,998

Other assets 1,996,573 - - - - - 1,996,573
Total assets 591,377,975 156,506,829 150,041,842 119,392,072 58,891,728 53,407,813 53,137,691

Liabilities under derivative financial instruments 2,819,396 - - - - - 2,819,396

Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other 
financial institutions and the central bank 139,195,655 5,542,608 71,531,522 45,666,504 6,900,316 304,111 9,250,594

Deposits and other liabilities due to customers 358,140,581 33,311,947 34,472,718 24,932,351 1,742,989 7,966,050 255,714,526

Liabilities under derivatives designated as risk 
hedging instruments 924,644 - - - - - 924,644

Other liabilities 7,149,535 - - - - - 7,149,535
Total liabilities 508,229,811 38,854,555 106,004,240 70,598,855 8,643,305 8,270,161 275,858,695

Net interest rate risk exposure at  
December 31, 2022 83,148,164 117,652,274 44,037,602 48,793,217 50,248,423 45,137,652 (222,721,004)
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4. Risk management

An analysis of the interest rate gap sensitivity to an interest rate increase/decrease, assuming a parallel change in the yield curve and 
static banking book is shown in the table below:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
The effect of a parallel change in  

the interest rate by 1 bp
The effect of a parallel change in  

the interest rate by 1 bp
RSD (22,439) (12,248)
EUR 10,771 11,087
USD 223 126
GBP 3 6
CHF (20) (28)
Other currencies - -
Total effect* 33,456 23,495

* The total effect is equal to the sum of the absolute values by currencies.

Exposure based on the sensitivity analysis of the interest rate gap during 2023 was within the defined limits.

(l) Model Risk
The model risk pertains to potential errors in modeling for the main types of risks the Group is exposed to (credit risk, market risks and 
operational risk), such as inadequate modelling methodology, improper model application, lacking parameters and inputs.

Model risk analysis is based on the assessment of the risk model components arising from various types of risks. In order to ensure adequate 
model risk management and define and implement measures for risk mitigation in this area, the Group applies and regularly evaluates an 
appropriate set of internal bylaws.

(m) Climate and environmental risk
UniCredit Group, including local bank, defined ESG strategy which is presented in publicly available document, Integrated report. 
This document is covering details of quantitative and qualitative targets and initiatives. Implementation of group strategy and its 
integration in local processes is expected in the following period. In line with UniCredit Group’s strategy significant attention during 
financing process is devoted to environmental protection and by defining financial targets bank is focused on green financing. Addi-
tionally, Group has signed Net Zero alliance initiative covering greenhouse gas emission with additional focus to financing sectors with 
significant GHG emissions and their transition to clean energy. In this respect Group is in process of seeing specific financial goals per 
each GHG intensive industry with the idea to steer investments and support clients in their transition path. Group has also defined 
sensitive industries for which specific instructions were made.

Following Group strategy, which is leaning on EU Taxonomy, bank has implemented internal documents defining criteria to be met in 
case of green financing. Apart from this there is also defined process for assessment of clients transition risk which is included in credit 
process. ESG aspect is included in credit process trough specific questionnaire covering area of environment and climate changes and 
client analysis in respect of climate and environment focusing on specific dimension (i.e. GHG emission and other metrics which can 
influence environment). Questionnaire is based on scaling, trough list of key indicators which are positioning the client related to risk, 
vulnerability and exposure, adding also potential economic/financial influence. Questionnaire has to be filled at list once per year 
except in case that new relevant information are available. At the end of process client is provided with final classification of ESG risk 
which can be low, medium or high.

In the following period, in line with Group request, implementation of group framework for climate related risks are expected to imple-
mented for clients in Corporate segment. Namely, apart from ESG classification of smaller scope of clients, being subject of mentioned 
questionnaire, all other clients in Corporate segment will be classified including also influence on future strategy toward the client. 
We are currently in process of defining steps and parties to be involved in this process which will be activated with the end of 2024.

(n) Capital Management
As the Group’s regulator, the NBS defines the method of calculating capital and capital adequacy based on Basel III Regulatory Frame-
work. The regulatory capital, capital adequacy ratios and calculation of risk-weighted assets are defined by the Decision on Capital 
Adequacy of Banks, including all amendments, effective as from June 30. 2017 (the “Decision”). The Group monitors its capital ade-
quacy ratio on a quarterly basis using the standardized approach.
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4. Risk management

The Group is required to calculate the following capital adequacy ratios:

1. the Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio (CET 1 ratio) represents the common equity tier 1 capital relative to the risk-weighted 
assets, expressed as percentage. The minimum CET 1 ratio defined by the Decision is 4.5%;

2. the Tier 1 capital ratio (T1 ratio) is the core capital adequacy ratio, representing the core capital relative to the risk-weighted as-
sets, expressed as percentage. The minimum T1 ratio defined by the Decision is 6%;

3. the total capital adequacy ratio (CAR) represents the capital relative to the risk-weighted assets, expressed as percentage. 
The minimum CAR defined by the Decision is 8%.

The Group is required to maintain its core capital in RSD equivalent amount of EUR 10,000,000 at all times, using the official middle 
exchange rate of NBS effective as at the calculation date. In addition, the Group is required to maintain at all times its capital in the 
amount necessary for coverage of all risks the Group is or may be exposed to in its operations, yet no less than the amount required 
to maintain the minimum capital adequacy ratios or increased capital adequacy ratios – in case NBS orders the Group to achieve and 
maintain capital adequacy ratios higher than the prescribed ones.

In 2023, the NBS maintained capital adequacy ratios higher than prescribed.

The Group’s capital is the sum of the core capital (Tier 1) and supplementary capital (Tier 2). The core capital is the sum of the com-
mon equity Tier 1 capital (CET1) and additional Tier 1 capital (AT1).

The Group’s common equity Tier 1 capital is the sum of the following items adjusted for the regulatory adjustments less deducti-
ble items:

• shares and other equity instruments;

• relevant share premium with the common equity Tier 1 instruments;

• the Bank’s profit;

• revaluation reserves and other unrealized gains;

• reserves from profit and other reserves of the Bank;

• reserve funds for general banking risks.

Regulatory adjustments – When calculating the value of its capital components, the Group is bound to exclude from any capital com-
ponent any increase in equity determined under IFRS/IAS resulting from securitization of exposures. Since the Republic of Serbia has 
no regulations enacted to govern this area, the said regulatory adjustment is not applicable.

The Group does not include in its capital the following:

• fair value reserves relating to gains or losses in cash flow hedging instruments for financial instruments measured at 
other than fair value, including the projected cash flows;

• gains or losses on the Group’s liabilities measured at fair value, resulting from the changes in the Group’s credit quality;

• gains or losses arising from the credit risk for liabilities per derivatives measured at fair value, where the Group may 
not offset such gains or losses against those arising from its counterparty credit risk.

Unrealized gains or losses on assets or liabilities measured at fair value, except for the above listed gains or losses, are included in the 
calculation of capital.
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4. Risk management

Deductible from the Common Equity Tier 1 capital are:

• current and prior year’s losses and unrealized losses;

• intangible assets, including goodwill, decreased for the amount of deferred tax liabilities that would be derecognized 
in case of impairment or derecognition of intangible assets under IFRS/IAS;

• deferred tax assets dependable on the Group’s future profitability in line with the effective regulations;

• defined benefit pension fund assets on the Group’s balance sheet;

• the Group’s direct, indirect and synthetic holdings of its own common equity Tier 1 instruments, including those that 
the Group is under an actual or contingent obligation to repurchase by virtue of a constructive obligation;

• the Group’s direct, indirect and synthetic holdings of common equity Tier 1 instruments of FSI entities where those 
entities have reciprocal holdings in the Group, designed to artificially inflate the Group’s capital;

• the Group’s applicable direct, indirect and synthetic holdings of common equity Tier 1 instruments of FSI entities 
where the Group holds no significant investments in accordance with Articles 19 and 20 of the Decision;

• the Group’s applicable direct, indirect and synthetic holdings of common equity Tier 1 instruments of FSI entities 
where the Group holds significant investments in accordance with Sections 19 and 20 of the Decision;

• the amount for which the Group’s additional Tier 1 capital deductible items exceed the Group’s additional Tier 1 capi-
tal;

• the amount of exposures qualifying for application of a risk weight of 1.25%, where the Group decides to deduct the 
exposure from the common equity Tier 1 rather than apply the said risk weight, such as: o holdings in non-FSI entities 
exceeding 10% of their capital and/or holdings enabling effective exertion of significant influence on the management 
of such entities or their business policies;

-  holdings in non-FSI entities exceeding 10% of their capital and/or holdings enabling effective exertion of significant 
influence on the management of such entities or their business policies;

-  securitized items in accordance with Section 201, paragraph 1, item 2), Section 202, paragraph 1, item 2), and Section 234 
of the Decision;

-  free deliveries, if the counterparty has failed to settle its liability within four working days from the agreed delivery/pay-
ment date, in accordance with Section 299 of the Decision;

• any tax charge relating to the common equity Tier 1 items foreseeable at the moment of its calculation, except where the Group 
has previously suitably adjusted the amount of common equity Tier 1 items insofar as such tax charges reduce the amount up to 
which those items may be used to absorb risks or losses;

• gross amount of receivables due from a private individual debtor (other than a farmer and sole trader/entrepreneur) for consumer 
loans, cash or other loans recorded on accounts 102, 107 and 108 in accordance with NBS decision prescribing the chart of accounts 
and contents of the accounts within the chart of accounts for banks, where the credit indebtedness of the debtor prior to the loan 
approval was higher than the percentage rate defined in line with NBS decision governing classification of the balance sheet assets 
and off-balance sheet items of banks, or the said percentage rate will be higher due to the loan approval, where this item will be 
deducted regardless of whether after the loan approval, the debtor’s credit indebtedness decreased below the said percentage rate;

• gross amount of receivables due from a private individual debtor (other than a farmer and sole trader/entrepreneur) for consumer 
loans, cash or other loans approved, except for the loans specified under the bullet above, which are recorded on accounts 102, 
107 and 108:
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4. Risk management

- for which the contractually defined maturity is over 2,920 days, if such loans were approved from January 1, 2019 up to 
December 31, 2019;

- for which the contractually defined maturity is over 2,555 days, if such loans were approved from January 1, 2021 up to 
December 31, 2021;

- for which the contractually defined maturity is over 2,190 days, if such loans were approved from January 1, 2022.

• gross amount of receivables due from a private individual debtor (other than a farmer and sole trader/entrepreneur) for consumer 
loans approved for purchase of motor vehicles, which are recorded on account 102, for which the contractually defined maturity 
is over 2,920 days, if such loans have been approved as from January 1, 2019; and

• amount of the required reserve for estimated losses in accordance with NBS regulations, if such regulations prescribe the Group’s 
obligation to form such a reserve.

From the calculation of deductible items from indents 13 and 14 of the previous paragraph, the period in which the moratorium on 
the basis of approved loans defined by those indents lasted is not included in the number of days of agreed maturity for the purposes 
of application of these provisions. The moratorium means a delay in the repayment of obligations in accordance with the provisions 
of the decision which regulates the temporary measures for preserving the stability of the financial system in the Republic of Serbia 
in the conditions of the pandemic caused by COVID-19. The deductibles refer to indents 13, 14 and 15 of previous paragraph shell 
does not apply to receivables restructured in accordance with the decision governing the classification of bank balance sheet assets 
and off-balance sheet items if following conditions are meet: the receivables have been incurred under loans refer to indents 13,14 
and 15 which deductibles from those provisions had not been applied, the restructuring is carried out based on the bank’s offer, the 
restructuring does not increase the outstanding loan amount, the agreed maturity of the loan after the restructuring is no longer than 
3,285 days for loans refer to indents 13 and 14, and no longer than 4,015 days for loans form intents 15 and receivables have not been 
restructured accordance with the provisions.

Upon determining deductible deferred tax assets items and the Group’s applicable direct, indirect and synthetic holdings of common 
equity Tier 1 instruments of FSI entities where the Group holds significant investments, the Group is not required to deduct from the 
common equity Tier 1 capital the amounts of items that in the aggregate are equal to or lower than the limit which is arrived at by 
multiplying the common equity Tier 1 items remaining after the regulatory adjustments and decrease for deductible items by 17.65%:

• deferred tax assets dependable on the Group’s future profitability, arising from the temporary differences in the amount lower than 
or equal to 10% of the Group’s common equity Tier 1 capital calculated in accordance with Section 21, paragraph 2 of the Decision;

• the Group’s direct, indirect and synthetic holdings of common equity Tier 1 instruments of FSI entities where the Group holds 
significant investments in the amount lower than or equal to 10% of the Group’s common equity Tier 1 capital calculated in ac-
cordance with Section 21, paragraph 2 of the Decision.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not reduce its common equity Tier 1 capital for the amount of direct holdings of common eq-
uity Tier 1 instruments or for deferred tax assets dependable on the Group’s future profitability, arising from the temporary differences 
since their aggregate amount was below the defined limit.

The Group’s additional Tier 1 capital consists of the sum of the following items less respective deductibles: 

• shares and other equity instruments that meet the requirements referred to in Section 23 of the Decision;

• relevant share premium.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had no additional Tier 1 capital.

The Group’s supplementary (Tier 2) capital consists of the sum of the following items less respective deductibles:

• shares and other Tier 2 instruments and liabilities under subordinated loans;
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4. Risk management

• the relevant share premium, i.e., amounts paid in above the par value of such instruments;

• general credit risk adjustments gross of tax effects, of up to 1.25% of the risk-weighted credit risk

exposures for banks calculating the risk-weighted exposures amounts by applying the standardized approach.

The amount in which the supplementary Tier 2 capital instruments, i.e., subordinated liabilities, are included in the calculation of the 
supplementary Tier 2 capital during the final five years before they mature, is calculated as follows: the quotient their nominal value and/
or the principal amount on the first day of the final five-year period before their mature and he number of calendar days in that period is 
multiplied by the number of the calendar days remaining to maturity of the instruments or subordinated liabilities at the calculation date.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had no supplementary Tier 2 capital.

The following table presents the Group’s balance of capital and total risk-weighted assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

2023. 2022.
Common equity Tier 1 capital - CET1
Paid in common equity Tier 1 instruments 23,607,620 23,607,620
Relevant share premium with the common equity Tier 1 instruments 562,156 562,156
Current year's profit qualifying for inclusion into CET 1 capital 1,078,092 1,221,576
Revaluation reserves and other unrealized gains 103,671 97,641
(-) Unrealized losses (766,876) (1,618,408)
Other reserves 54,906,013 53,740,761
(+) Fair value of reserves related to gains (-) or losses (+) from cash flow hedging instruments not valued at 
fair value, including projected cash flows 455,249 753,562

(-) Intangible assets, including goodwill, decreased for the amount of deferred tax liabilities) (2,522,455) (2,469,691)
(-) Gross amount of receivables due from a private individual debtor (other than a farmer and sole 
trader/entrepreneur) for consumer loans, cash or other loans recorded on accounts 102, 107 and 108 in 
accordance with NBS decision prescribing the chart of accounts and contents of the accounts within the 
chart of accounts for banks, where the credit indebtedness of the debtor prior to the loan approval was 
higher than the percentage rate defined in line with NBS decision governing classification of the balance 
sheet assets and off-balance sheet items of banks, or the said percentage rate will be higher due to the loan 
approval, where this item will be deducted regardless of whether after the loan approval, the debtor’s credit 
indebtedness decreased below the said percentage rate

(78,532) (88,445)

(-) Gross amount of receivables due from a private individual debtor (other than a farmer and sole trader/
entrepreneur) for consumer loans, cash or other loans approved, except for the loans specified under the 
bullet above, which are recorded on accounts 102, 107 and 108 in accordance with NBS decision prescribing 
the chart of accounts and contents of the accounts within the chart of accounts for banks, which based on 
the maturity criterion meet condition for deduction from CET 1 capital:

(762,452) (503,739)

of which (-) whose contractual maturity is longer than 2920 days – if these loans are approved in period 
from January 1 to December 31 2020 (27,202) (38,887)

of which (-) whose contractual maturity is longer than 2920 days – if these loans are approved in period 
from January 1 to December 31 2021 (14,546) (25,398)

of which (-) whose contractual maturity is longer than 2190 days – if these loans are approved in period 
from January 1 to December 31 2022 (720,704) (439,454)

Total common equity Tier 1 capital - CET1 76,582,486 75,303,033
Additional Tier 1 capital - AT1 - -
Total core Tier 1 capital - T1 (CET1 + AT1) 76,582,486 75,303,033
Supplementary capital - T2 - -
Total regulatory capital (T1 + T2) 76,582,486 75,303,033

Grupa je za 2023. i 2022. godinu ostvarila pokazatelje poslovanja u okviru limita definisanih Odlukom o adekvatnosti kapitala i Odlu-
kom o upravljanju rizicima.
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5. Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under circumstances. Revisions to ac-
counting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

These disclosures supplement the comments on financial risk management (Note 4).

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments in Applying the Group’s Accounting Policies
(i) Provisions for Expected Credit Losses

Impairment of financial assets is assessed in the manner escribed in note 3(k)(viii).

Under IFRS 9, measurement of ECL for all categories of financial assets requires estimates and judgements to be made, par-
ticularly those relating to determining the amount and expected timing of the future cash flows, both from operation and 
from collateral foreclosure upon determining the ECL and assessing whether there has been a significant credit risk increase. 
The said estimates are based on a number of factors, the combination and interaction of which may result in different 
amounts of expected credit loss provisions in different scenarios analyzed.

The Group’s ECL calculations are a result of complex models involving a number of assumptions concerning a selection of 
input variables and their interdependence. Elements of ECL models that are included in the accounting judgments and esti-
mates include the following:

• the internal model for assessing credit quality, which is used to assign PD values to individual credit rating categories;

• the Group’s criteria for assessing whether there has been a significant credit risk increase, which consequently result in 
lifetime ECL calculation using the quantitative criteria (a change in PD compared to the initial recognition date of a finan-
cial asset) as well as qualitative assessments (forbearance or restructuring classification, 30 days past due or watch list 
2 classification);

• segmentation of the financial assets when their ECL need to be assessed on a collective basis;

• development of ECL models, including various formulas and inputs to be selected;

• establishing relations between macroeconomic scenarios and economic inputs, such as GDP movements, movements in 
unemployment rates, salaries and interest rates and modelling of their relations and impacts on the used PD and LGD; 
and

• selection of macroeconomic forward-looking scenarios in collaboration with UniCredit Group and probability-weighting of 
those scenarios in order to arrive at the relation between the ECL models and possible economic trends.

In line with its internal policies, the Group regularly reviews, maintains and adjusts its models within the context of its ac-
tually experienced credit losses.

The Group assess impairment of financial assets and probable losses per off-balance sheet items for individually significant 
receivables on an individual basis. The individual impairment assessment involves determining whether there is objective 
evidence of impairment, i.e., whether the default status exists. The amount of impairment of financial assets is determined 
as the difference between the carrying value of each receivable and the present value of the expected future cash flows from 
the receivable, while the assessment of ECL per off-balance sheet items entails assessing recoverability of the future cash 
flows for each off-balance sheet commitment.
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5. Use of estimates and judgments

The Group assess impairment of financial assets and ECL per off-balance sheet items on a collective basis for all receivables 
where the impairment losses cannot be directly linked to the receivables, but may be estimated to be present in the loan 
portfolio based on the experience.

Upon performing the said assessment, the Group groups receivables according to their similar credit risk characteristics, 
which reflect the ability of the borrowers to settle their liabilities in accordance with contractual terms (portfolio segments, 
rating categories, etc.). collective impairment assessment represents a joint estimate of the future cash flows for a group of 
receivables based on the historical information on the losses incurred in prior periods per receivables with credit risk charac-
teristics similar to those in that group, in accordance with the Group’s methodology.

(ii) Measurement of Financial Instruments at Fair Value (Note 3 (k)(vii)

Determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable market price requires the use 
of valuation techniques as described in accounting policy 3(k)(vii). For financial instruments that are traded infrequently and 
have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgment depending on liquidity, 
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 
making the measurements:

• Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.

• Level 2: Valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices for identical instruments, observable 
either directly (as prices) or indirectly (e.g., derived from prices). This category includes instruments measured 
using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar in-
struments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant 
inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

• Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments 
where the valuation technique includes inputs are not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs 
have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are measured 
based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions 
are required to reflect differences between the instruments.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices. 
For all other financial instruments the Group determines fair values using valuation techniques.

Valuation techniques include the net present value and discounted cash flows, comparison to similar instruments for which 
observable market prices are available and other methods. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques include 
risk-free and key policy interest rates, credit spreads and other factors used in estimating discount rates, prices of bonds 
or equity, foreign exchange rates, equity and equity price indexes and the expected instability of prices and correlations. 
The objective of the use of valuation techniques is to determine the fair value that reflects the price of a financial instrument 
at the reporting date, which would be determined by market participants in an arm’s length transaction.

The Group uses generally accepted models for determining the fair values of regular and common financial instruments such 
as interest rate and currency swaps, for which exclusively observable inputs are used, requiring less estimates and assump-
tions to be made by the management. Observable model inputs are mostly available on the market of the quoted debt and 
equity instruments, trading derivatives and simple derivatives such as interest rate swaps. Availability of observable market 
prices and model inputs reduces the need for estimates and assumptions made by management and reduces uncertainty 
associated with determining fair value. Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products 
and market; it is prone to changes caused by various events and general conditions prevailing in the future markets Level 
2 securities are measured based on internally developed valuation model which basically relies on quoted market prices in 
active markets for similar instruments. Portfolio consists of T-bills issued by Ministry of Finance and denominated in RSD 
and EUR currency. Output of the model is RSD and EUR valuation curve which is further used for calculation of Fair value of 
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5. Use of estimates and judgments

securities. Since secondary market for RSD denominated securities is relatively active, RSD valuation curve is constructed 
by using quoted yields on the secondary market for benchmark (the most liquid) securities with different maturities. On the 
other side, for EUR denominated securities curve is constructed based on EURIBOR money market curve with add-on spread 
realized on primary market auctions.

Both models for RSD and EUR curves are regularly back tested on yearly basis.

Level 3 securities are municipality bonds which are not liquid or tradable on the market and it is valued by using discounted 
cash flow approach.

(iii) Estimated Useful Lives of Intangible Assets, Property and Equipment and Amortization/Depreciation Rates Used (Note 3 
(q), 3 (r), 27 i 28)

The calculation of amortization/depreciation charge and amortization/depreciation rates applied are based on the estimated 
useful lives of intangible assets, property and equipment, which are subject to an ongoing review. The estimated useful lives 
are reviewed for adequacy at least annually, or more frequently if there is any indication that significant changes have oc-
curred to the factors determining the previously defined estimated useful lives or other events affecting the estimated useful 
lives. Useful life estimates require the management to make significant estimates and judgments based on the historical 
experience with similar assets, as well as anticipated technical advancement and changes in economic and industrial factors 
that may affect the useful lives of assets.

(iv) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets (Note 3 (u))

At each reporting date, the Group’s management reviews the carrying amounts of the its non-financial assets other than 
investment property and deferred tax assets in order to determine the indications of impairment losses. If there is any indica-
tion that such assets have been impaired, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of impairment loss. If the estimated recoverable amount of an asset is below its carrying value, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is immediately recognized as an expense of the current peri-
od. Assessment of indicators and objective evidence of impairment requires the management to make significant estimates 
regarding the expected cash flows, discount rates and usage capacity of the assets subject to review.

(v) Fair value of property and investment property (Notes 3 (k)(vii), 3 (q), 3 (s), 28 and 29)

The Group uses the fair value model for the valuation of investment property and the revaluation model for real estate that 
it uses for its own business purposes. Fair value measurement is performed regularly to reconcile the carrying amount at the 
end of the reporting period.

(vi) Deferred Tax Assets (Notes 3 ( j) and 36)

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which such 
deferred tax assets may utilized. The Group’s management needs to make prudent assessments of deferred tax assets which 
may be recognized, based on their period of inception and amounts, as well as on the amount of future taxable income and 
tax policy planning strategy.

(vii) Provisions for Litigations (Notes 3 (w) and 35)

The Group is involved in a number of lawsuits and labor disputes. Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present ob-
ligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Estimating of the provisions for legal suits requires the 
Group’s management and Legal Unit to make significant estimates and judgments, including the estimate of the probability 
of negative suit outcomes and probable and reasonable estimates of loss amounts. The required provision amounts repre-
sent the best estimates made by the management based on the information available as at the reporting date. However, they 
may be subject to future changes due to new events taking place or new information obtained.

153

Notes to the consolidated financial statem
ents  |  Decem

ber 31, 2023

UniCredit 2023 Annual Reports and Accounts



5. Use of estimates and judgments

(viii) Provisions for Employee Benefits (Notes 3 (y) and 35)

The costs of provisions for employee retirement benefits determined by actuarial calculation. The actuarial calculation 
includes an assessment of the discount rate, future salary growth rate, future employee turnover rate and mortality rates. 
Actual outcome may vary significantly from the said estimates, particularly given the long term they relate to.
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6.  Financial assets and liabilities - accounting classification 
and fair values

The following tables show the breakdown of financial instruments measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, grouped 
in fair value hierarchy levels:

Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2023
Receivables under derivatives 22 - 2,054,579 1,078 2,055,657
Receivables under derivatives designated as risk 
hedging instruments 26 - 636,909 - 636,909

Securities

- at FVtPL 23 87,827* 2,366,634 - 2,454,461

- at FVtOCI 23 10,651,430* 29,125,164 - 39,776,594

10,739,257 34,183,286 1,078 44,923,621
Liabilities under derivatives 31 - 2,119,142 - 2,119,142
Liabilities per derivatives designated as risk 
hedging instruments 26 - 734,550 - 734,550

- 2,853,692 - 2,853,692

*Securities at FVtPL and at FVtOCI – Level 1 include bonds issued by the Republic of Serbia, denominated in EUR (Eurobonds) and listed 
in EU Stock Exchanges

Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2022
Receivables under derivatives 22 - 2,807,888 861 2,808,749
Receivables under derivatives designated as risk 
hedging instruments 26 - 1,083,998 - 1,083,998

Securities

- at FVtPL 23 207,849* 1,327,823 - 1,535,672

- at FVtOCI 23 7,051,134* 51,945,401 350,037** 59,346,572

7,258,983 57,165,110 350,898 64,774,991

Liabilities under derivatives 31 - 2,819,396 - 2,819,396

Liabilities per derivatives designated as risk 
hedging instruments 26 - 924,644 - 924,644

- 3,744,040 - 3,744,040

*Securities at FVtPL and at FVtOCI – Level 1 include bonds issued by the Republic of Serbia, denominated in EUR and listed in EU 
Stock Exchanges

** Securities at FVtOCI – Level 3 include municipal bonds for which there are no quotations and other observable market parameters 
for its evaluation
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6. Financial assets and liabilities - accounting classification and fair values
(i) (i) Fair Value Hierarchy for Assets and Liabilities Other than Measured at Fair Value

Estimated fair values of financial assets and liabilities other than measured at fair value are provided in the table below, according to the fair value hierarchy levels under IFRS 13:

Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Fair Carrying Value
2023
Gotovina i sredstva kod centralne banke 20 - 130,511,716 - 130,511,716 130,511,716
Securities
- securities measured at amortized cost (AC) 23 6,888,426 53,874,651 22,664 60,785,741 62,214,731
Loans and receivables due from banks and other 
financial institutions 24 - - 62,995,753 62,995,753 63,006,391

Loans and receivables due from customers 25 - - 339,859,586 339,859,586 344,469,707
Other assets 30 - - 1,918,501 1,918,501 1,918,501

6,888,426 184,386,367 404,796,504 596,071,297 602,121,046
Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other 
financial institutions and the central bank 32 - - 148,161,313 148,161,313 146,166,777

Deposits and other liabilities due to customers 33 - - 389,761,376 389,761,376 389,735,404

Other liabilities 37 - - 10,315,537 10,315,537 10,315,537
- - 548,238,226 548,238,226 546,217,718

Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Fair Carrying Value

2023
Cash and balances held with the central bank 20 - 69,758,831 - 69,758,831 69,758,831
Pledged financial asets 21 - 6,524,031 - 6,524,031 7,220,590
Securities
- securities measured at amortized cost (AC) 23 5,747,773 33,010,399 54,276 38,812,448 42,889,637
Loans and receivables due from banks and other 
financial institutions 24 - - 75,735,279 75,735,279 75,893,639

Loans and receivables due from customers 25 - - 328,839,250 328,839,250 328,843,714
Other assets 30 - - 1,996,573 1,996,573 1,996,573

5,747,773 109,293,261 406,625,378 521,666,412 526,602,984
Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other 
financial institutions and the central bank 32 - - 139,904,704 139,904,704 139,195,655

Deposits and other liabilities due to customers 33 - - 357,576,112 357,576,112 358,140,581

Other liabilities 37 - - 7,149,535 7,149,535 7,149,535
- - 504,630,351 504,630,351 504,485,771
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6.  Finansijska sredstva i obaveze – računovodstvena 
klasifikacija i fer vrednost

Valuation techniques and models the Group uses for fair value calculations are disclosed in Note 5b(i).

(ii) Assets The Fair Values of which Approximate their Carrying Values

For financial assets and financial liabilities that have a short term original maturity (less than one year) it is assumed that the carrying 
amounts approximate their fair values. The basic assumption used here is that in the near term no significant market changes will oc-
cur that can affect the fair value. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits and savings accounts without specified maturity.

(iii) Financial Instruments with Fixed Interest Rates

The fair values of fixed rate financial assets and liabilities carried at amortized cost are estimated by comparing market interest rates 
when they were first recognized with current market rates offered for similar financial instruments. The estimated fair values of fixed 
interest bearing financial instruments are based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money-market interest rates for financial 
instruments with similar credit risk characteristics and maturities.

Financial assets held to maturity and loans and deposits include a portion of the loan portfolio at fixed interest rates, which causes 
differences between the carrying amounts and fair values of such instruments.
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7. Net interest income

Net interest income includes:

2023 2022
Interest income from
Cash and balances held with the central bank 516,214 317,897
Securities at fair value through profit or loss 90,514 72,144
Securities at fair value through OCI 1,112,790 1,924,912
Securities at amortized cost 2,474,353 1,276,752
Loans and receivables due from banks and other financial institutions 3,937,175 494,103
Loans and receivables due from customers 25,759,165 14,763,556
Total interest income using effective interest rate 33,890,211 18,849,364
Receivables under derivative financial instruments 993,839 365,539
Financial derivatives and assets held for risk hedging purposes 1,030,709 438,215
Total interest income 35,914,759 19,653,118

Interest expenses from
Liabilities under derivative financial instruments (1,022,546) (459,516)
Liabilities per financial derivatives designated as risk hedging instruments (268,141) (168,739)
Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other financial institutions and 
the central bank (5,801,073) (1,992,634)
Deposits and other liabilities due to customers (3,856,319) (1,354,767)
Lease liabilities (50,329) (40,201)
Total interest expenses (10,998,408) (4,015,857)

Net interest income 24,916,351 15,637,261

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy 3 (d), interest income from non-performing impaired loans amounted to RSD 
456,583 thousand in 2023 (2022: RSD 318,322 thousand).
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8. Net fee and commission income

9.  Net gains on the changes in the fair value of financial 
instruments

Net fee and commission income includes:

Private ividuals Corporate clients Total
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

Fee and commission income
Payment transfer activities 453,544 446,598 2,112,568 1,916,257 2,566,112 2,362,855
Fees related to loans 74,750 106,874 415,515 362,108 490,265 468,982
Fees arising from card operations 626,552 526,684 1,993,695 1,702,071 2,620,247 2,228,755
Maintaining of current accounts 691,794 585,697 194,736 190,417 886,530 776,114
Brokerage fees - - 6,879 1,045 6,879 1,045
Custody fees 67 122 346,364 344,932 346,431 345,054
Fee on foreign exchange purchases/
sales and foreign cash transactions 382,551 352,066 3,291,374 3,291,780 3,673,925 3,643,846

Other fees and commissions 140,614 142,589 423,887 445,683 564,501 588,272
Total fee and commission income 
from contracts with customers 2,369,872 2,160,630 8,785,018 8,254,293 11,154,890 10,414,923

Fees on issued guarantees and other 
contingent liabilities 4,115 2,762 1,013,959 969,768 1,018,074 972,530

Total fee and commission income 2,373,987 2,163,392 9,798,977 9,224,061 12,172,964 11,387,453

Fee and commission expenses
Payment transfer activities - - (534,943) (494,491) (534,943) (494,491)
Fees arising from card operations - - (2,030,782) (1,833,805) (2,030,782) (1,833,805)
Fees arising on guarantees, sureties and 
letters of credit - - (13,389) (13,425) (13,389) (13,425)

Fee arising on foreign exchange 
purchases/sales and foreign cash 
transactions

(56,548) (35,614) (1,145,425) (1,449,582) (1,201,973) (1,485,196)

Other fees and commissions - - (180,599) (151,149) (180,599) (151,149)
Total fee and commission expenses (56,548) (35,614) (3,905,138) (3,942,452) (3,961,686) (3,978,066)

Net fee and commission income 2,317,439 2,127,778 5,893,839 5,281,609 8,211,278 7,409,387

Net gains on the changes in the fair value of financial instruments include:

2023 2022
Net gains on the changes in the fair value of derivatives at FVtPL 90,315 685,902
Net gains on the changes in the fair value of securities at FVtPL 22,447 2,698
Net gains on the changes in the fair value of financial instruments 112,762 688,600

Net gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial instruments measured at fair value include:
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10.  Net gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial assets 
measured at fair value

11.  Net foreign exchange losses and negative currency 
clause effects

12.  Net losses on impairment of financial assets not measured 
at fair value through profit or loss

2023 2022

Net (losses)/gains on derecognition of securities measured at FVtOCI (32,298) 21,794

Net gains/(losses) on derecognition of securities measured at FVtPL 215,214 (87,649)

Net gains/(losses) on derecognition of financial assets measured at fair value 182,916 (65,855)

Net foreign exchange losses and negative clause effects include:

2023 2022
Foreign exchange gains and positive currency clause effects 24,000,346 27,009,636
Foreign exchange losses and negative currency clause effects (24,108,024) (27,235,565)
Net foreign exchange losses (107,678) (225,929)

Net losses on impairment of financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss include:

2023 2022
Loans and receivables due from customers
Net increase in individual impairment allowance (67,752) (161,827)
Net increase in collectively assessed impairment (505,160) (2,763,371)

(572,912) (2,925,198)

Net decrease in impairment charge per securities measured at FVtOCI (72,116) 3,641

Contingent liabilities

Net (increase)/decrease in individual impairment allowance (Note 35.2) 52,515 (284,009)

Net (increase)/decrease in collectively assessed impairment (Note 35.2) (447,622) (599,648)

(Losses)/gains on modification* (395,107)
(1,138,945)

(883,657)
26,386

Write-offs (4,050) (5,975)
Recovery of the receivables previously written off 436,793 335,473
Total net losses (1,746,337) (3,449,330)

*In 2023, the position “(Losses)/Gains based on modification” includes the modification loss recognized by the Bank based on the 
implementation of the Decision on temporary measures for banks adopted by the National Bank of Serbia (note 25.4) in the amount 
RSD 1,143,730 thousand.
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13.  Net (losses)/gains on derecognition of financial assets  
measured at amortized cost

Net (losses)/gains on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortized cost include

2023 2022

(Losses)/gains on the sales of placements measured at amortized cost (1,999) 35,056

Total net (losses)/gains (1,999) 35,056

Other operating income includes:

2023 2022

Rental income, reimbursement and other operating income 47,205 6,958

Total other operating income 47,205 6,958

Salaries, salary compensations and other personal expenses include:

2023 2022
Employee salaries, net (2,460,903) (2,297,322)
Payroll taxes and contributions (978,092) (899,982)
Net expenses per provisions for employee retirement benefits and unused 
annual leaves (38,603) (19,209)

Other personnel expenses (545,925) (419,264)
Total personnel expenses (4,023,523) (3,635,777)

Depreciation/amortization charge includes:

2023 2022

Amortization charge for intangible assets (Notes 27.2, 27.3) (593,417) (609,702)

Depreciation charge for property, plant and equipment (Notes 28.2, 28.3) (249,508) (278,793)

Depreciation charge for right-of-use assets (Note 28.5, 28.6) (498,570) (470,838)
Total depreciation/amortization charge (1,341,495) (1,359,333)

14. Other operating income

15. Salaries, salary compensations and other personal expenses

16. Depreciation/amortization charge
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17. Other income

Other income includes:

2023 2022

Reversal of provisions for litigations (Note 35.2) 782,349 432,496

Gains on the valuation of investment property 469 3,761
Gains on the valuation of tangible assets - 27,121
Other income 113,630 267,685
Total other income 896,448 731,063

The item “Other income” includes income from performance awards, compensation for damages from insurance companies and 
similar income.

18.1. Other expenses include:

2023 2022
Business premises costs (171,373) (140,772)
Office and other supplies (67,434) (75,053)
Rental costs (Note 18.2) (422,012) (384,699)
Information system maintenance (1,082,471) (1,081,573)
Property and equipment maintenance (96,194) (86,522)
Marketing, advertising, entertainment, culture and donations (221,906) (211,452)
Lawyer fees, other consultant and research services and auditing 
fees (293,590) (231,608)

Telecommunications and postage services (103,279) (99,469)
Insurance premiums (953,889) (848,905)
Security services – for property and money transport and handling (220,595) (182,405)
Professional training costs (35,785) (28,300)
Servicing costs (95,456) (127,273)
Transportation services (10,678) (6,975)
Employee commuting allowances (41,756) (37,910)
Accommodation and meal allowances – business travel costs (23,530) (18,451)
Other taxes and contributions (632,476) (575,999)
Provisions for litigations (Note 35.2) (773,670) (1,588,323)
Losses on the valuation of investment property (9) (14)
Losses on the valuation of tangible assets - (614)
Losses on disposal, retirement and impairment of property, 
equipment and intangible assets (10,066) -

Other costs (928,813) (662,395)
Total other expenses (6,184,982) (6,388,712)

The item “Other costs” refers to court and administrative fee expenses, costs for occupational safety and environmental protection, 
costs of participation in financing persons with disabilities, costs related to lost litigations, archiving and scanning costs, compensa-
tion costs from regular business and similar expenses.

18. Other expenses
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18. Ostali rashodi

18.2. Rental costs of RSD 422,012 thousand incurred in 2023 relate to the costs which, in line with IFRS 16 and the Group’s accounting 
policy (Note 3.t) are not included in the measurement of the lease liability. The breakdown of the said rental costs is provided in the 
table below:

2023 2022
Rental cost per leases with low-value underlying assets (163.813) (148.560)
Rental costs per short-term leases (10.709) (9.647)
VAT payable per leases recognized in accordance with IFRS 16 (84.753) (78.269)
Assets not identifiable in accordance with IFRS 16 (161.564) (146.392)
Variable lease payments (700) (1.036)
Other (473) (795)

Total (422.012) (384.699)

 
 
19.1. Basic components of income taxes as at December 31 were as follows:

2023 2022
Current income tax expense (2,441,457) (993,730)
Increase in deferred tax assets and decrease in deferred tax liabilities - 93,298
Decrease in deferred tax assets and increase in deferred tax liabilities (107,683) -

Total (2,549,140) (900,432)

19.2. Numerical reconciliation of the effective tax rate is provided below:

2023 2022.
Profit before taxes 20,955,902 9,400,722
Income tax at the legally prescribed tax rate of 15% (3,143,385) (1,410,108)
Tax effects of permanent differences:
Tax effects of expenses not recognized for tax purposes (35,876) (34,996)

Tax effects of income adjustment relate to interest on debt securities issued by RS 643,251 548,609

Tax effects of income adjustment achieved from the cancellation of unused long-term 
provisions that were not recognized as an expense in the tax period in which they were 
incurred

117,569 -

Tax effects of income adjustment on the basis of written-off, adjusted and other receivables, 
which are not recognized as expenses and which are subsequently charged 93,565 -

Tax effects of temporary differences:
Tax effects of first application of IFRS 9 - 13,662
Differences in amortization for tax and accounting purposes 4,799 (7,385)
Tax effects of IAS 19 (3,360) (1,229)
Tax effects of losses which will be recognized in future periods (215,710) (248,849)

Tax effects of reductions of current tax according to legal regulations and IFRS application 97,690 146,566

Tax effects presented in the income statement (2,441,457) (993,730)

Effective tax rate 11,65% 10,57%

19. Income taxes
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19. Income taxes

19.3. Income taxes recognized within other comprehensive income are provided below:

2023 2022

Before taxes Tax expense After taxes Before taxes Tax expense After taxes

Gains/(Losses) on the 
change in the fair value 
of debt instruments at 
FVtOCI

2,102,414 (315,362) 1,787,052 (3,596,846) 539,527 (3,057,319)

Increase in revaluation 
reserves based on 
intangible assets and fixed 
assets (Notes 39.2)

7,094 (1,064) 6,030 45,454 (6,818) 38,636

Actuarial(losses)/gains 20,122 (3,018) 17,104 24,142 (3,621) 20,521

Gains/(Losses) on cash 
flow hedging instruments 350,957 (52,644) 298,313 (805,337) 120,801 (684,536)

Balance at December 31 2,480,587 (372,088) 2,108,499 (4,332,587) 649,889 (3,682,698)

19.4  The calculated current income tax payable for the year 2023 amounted to RSD 2,441,457 thousand (for 2022: RSD 993,730 thou-
sand). Given that the calculated amount of the tax payable was above the sum of the monthly income tax advance payments the 
Group paid during the year, as of December 31, 2023, the Group reported current tax liabilities in the amount of RSD 1,529,868 
thousand (for 2022: current tax assets of RSD 302,396 thousand).
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20. Gotovina i sredstva kod centralne banke

20.1. Cash and balances held with the central bank include:

2023. 2022.
RSD cash on hand 4,360,266 5,421,415
Gyro account balance 87,629,697 28,634,728
Foreign currency cash on hand 2,900,900 2,831,588
Other foreign currency cash funds 35,152 49,609
Obligatory foreign currency reserve held with NBS 35,585,709 32,821,494

130,511,724 69,758,834

Impairment allowance (8) (3)

Balance at December 31 130,511,716 69,758,831

The gyro account balance includes the RSD required reserves, which represent the minimum amount of RSD reserves allocated in 
accordance with the Decision on Required Reserves Held with the NBS. In accordance with the said Decision, the required RSD reserves 
are calculated based on the average daily carrying amount of RSD deposits, loans, securities, and other RSD liabilities during a single 
calendar month, using a rate rates from 0% to 5% until August 2023, and from September 2023 at rates from 2% to 7% depending 
on the agreed maturity and source of financing, and then held in the bank’s giro account. The bank is obliged to maintain the average 
daily balance of the calculated dinar required reserve.. Group is obliged to keep the average daily balance of allocated dinar reserves 
at the level of the calculated dinar reserve requirements. During 2023 NBS paid interest on the balance of the Group’s obligatory RSD 
reserve at interest rate of 0.75% per year.

The NBS, in accordance with the Decision on Interest Rates Applied by the NBS in the Monetary Policy Implementation Procedure, in 
order to mitigate the economic consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic, calculated dinar required reserves, pays interest at an inter-
est rate increased by 0.50% on an annual basis. The amount on which interest is calculated on that basis is determined in the amount 
of the average daily balance of dinar loans that meet the conditions prescribed by the Decree, or the Law establishing a guarantee 
scheme as a measure of economic support to mitigate the consequences of the COVID-19 SARS-CoV-2 if each individual loan included 
in that balance is approved at an interest rate that is at least 0.5% lower than the maximum interest rate prescribed by the Decree or 
the Law for loans approved in RSD.

The required foreign currency reserve with the National Bank of Serbia represents the minimum foreign currency reserve amount 
allocated in accordance with the Decision on Required Reserves Held with the NBS. In accordance with the said Decision, the required 
foreign currency reserves are calculated based on the average daily carrying amount of foreign currency deposits, loans and other for-
eign currency liabilities or those in RSD with a currency clause index (EUR to RSD) during a single calendar month. The required foreign 
currency reserve rates until August 2023 were 20% for foreign currency liabilities with maturities of up to 2 years and 13% for foreign 
currency liabilities with maturities of over 2 years and from September 2023 it is 23% on foreign currency liabilities up two years and 
16% on foreign currency liabilities over two years.. The rate applied to the portion of the foreign currency reserve comprised of RSD 
liabilities with a currency clause index was 100%.

The Group is obliged to keep the average daily balance of allocated foreign currency reserves at the level of the calculated foreign 
currency reserve requirements. Foreign currency obligatory reserve does not accrue interest.

20.2. Movements on the account of impairment allowance of cash and balances held with the central bank during the year are provided in the 
table below:

Individual Collective
2023. 2022. 2023. 2022.

Balance at January 1 - - (3) (2)
Impairment losses: -
Change for the year - - (5) (1)
Total for the year - - (5) (1)

Balance at December 31 - - (8) (3)
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21. Pledged financial assets

As of 31 December 2023, the Group has no pledged financial assets. As at 31 December 2022, in order to secure liabilities based on 
repo transactions with NBS, the Group pledged coupon Treasury bills of the Republic of Serbia issued in dinars with a nominal value of 
RSD 6,411,120 thousand carried at amortized cost.

2023 2022
Pledged financial assets - 7,220,590

Balance at December 31 - 7,220,590

Receivables under derivative financial instruments include:

2023 2022
Receivables per forward revaluation and currency swaps 6,094 24,169
Receivables per interest rate swaps 2,049,563 2,765,798
Receivables per interest rate options - 18,782

Balance at December 31 2,055,657 2,808,749

23.1 Securities include:

2023 2022.
Securities measured at amortized cost 62,377,169 42,915,030
Securities measured at fair value through OCI 39,885,343 59,388,886
Securities measured at fair value through profit or loss 2,454,461 1,535,672
Total 104,716,973 103,839,588
Impairment allowance (271,187) (67,707)
Balance at December 31 104,445,786 103,771,881

23.2.  Movements on the account of impairment allowance of securities at AC and at FVtOCI during the year are provided in the ta-
ble below:

Individual Collective
2023 2022 2023 2022

Balance at January 1 - - (67,707) (79,515)
Impairment losses:
Reversal for the year - - (209,170) 4,391
Foreign exchange effects - 29 20
Effects of the sales of securities - - 5,661 7,397
Total for the year - - (203,480) 11,808

Balance at December 31 - - (271,187) (67,707)

22. Receivables under derivative financial instruments

23. Securities
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23. Securities

23.3. Breakdown of securities per measurement and issuer is presented in the table below:

Measurement 2023 2022
Receivables discounted bills of exchange AC 22,664 54,275

Treasury bills issued by the Republic of 
Serbia

AC 57,085,922 37,950,434
FVtOCI 28,937,720 50,813,433
FVtPL 2,454,461 1,535,672

Treasury bills of the Republic of Serbia and 
municipal bonds – hedged items

FVtOCI 10,838,874 8,533,139

AC 5,106,145 4,884,928

Balance at December 31 104,445,786 103,771,881

As of December 31, 2023, the Bank’s receivables per discounted bills of exchange of RSD 22,664 thousand represent investments 
with maturities of up to a year and at a discount rate equal to 1-month BELIBOR plus 2.80% to 3% per annum and 1-month BEONIA 
plus 3.5% per annum.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group’s securities measured at amortized cost of RSD 57,085,922 thousand refer to the investments in 
the Treasury bills issued by the Republic of Serbia maturing up to 2032.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group’s securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income of RSD 28,937,720 thou-
sand pertain to the investments in the Treasury bills issued by the Republic of Serbia maturing up to 2032.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group’s securities measured at fair value through profit or loss of RSD 2,454,461 thousand pertain to 
the investments in the Treasury bills issued by the Republic of Serbia maturing up to 2032.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group’s securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income totaling RSD 10,838,874 
thousand refer to Treasury bills issued by the Republic of Serbia as hedged items, with maturities up to 2029. Investments in securities 
measured at amortized cost of RSD 5,106,145 refer to the investments in Treasury bills issued by the Republic of Serbia as hedged 
items, with maturities up to 2027.

For protection of the municipal bonds and Treasury bills of the Republic of Serbia against the interest rate risk, the Group implemented 
fair value micro hedging (note 26).
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24.  Loans and receivables due from banks and other financial 
institutions

24.1 Loans and receivables due from banks and other financial institutions include:

2023 2022
Foreign currency accounts held with:
- other banks within UniCredit Group 1,079,453 1,266,240
- other foreign banks 4,870,147 917,833
- Central Bank - 1,810
Total foreign currency accounts 5,949,600 2,185,883
Overnight deposits
- in foreign currency 23,555,187 22,528,297
Total overnight deposits 23,555,187 22,528,297
Guarantee foreign currency deposit placed for purchase and sale of 
securities 4,687 4,693

Short-term deposits in foreign currency 4,688,315 15,466,107
Foreign currency earmarked deposits 12,293 12,791
Short-term loans:
- in RSD 627,055 66,401
Total short-term loans 627,055 66,401
Long-term loans:
- in RSD 478,268 617,057
Total long-term loans 478,268 617,057
REPO with NBS in RSD 27,692,035 35,016,260
RSD finance lease receivables 1,381 2,382
Total 63,008,821 75,899,871
Impairment allowance (2,430) (6,232)
Balance at December 31 63,006,391 75,893,639

24.2.  Movements on the account of impairment allowance of loans and receivables due from banks during the year are provided in 
the table below:

Individual Collective
2023 2022 2023 2022

Balance at January 1 - - (6,232) (4,124)
Impairment losses:
Change for the year - - 3,077 (2,446)
Foreign exchange effects - - 64 338
Write-off without debt acquittal - - 661 -
Total for the year - - 3,802 (2,108)

Balance at December 31 - - (2,430) (6,232)

24.3. The Group’s balances/foreign currency accounts held with banks members of UniCredit Group are listed below:

2023. 2022.
UniCredit Bank Austria AG, Vienna 326,589 493,423
UniCredit Bank AG, Munich 20,237 22,879
UniCredit Bank Hungary Z.r.t., Hungary 27,441 12,217
UniCredit Bank Czech Republic and Slovakia A.S. 286 321
UniCredit S.P.A. Milan 664,521 733,550
Zagrebačka banka d.d. - 231
UniCredit Bank BIH 3,953 1,965
UniCredit Bank ZAO Moscow 36,426 1,654

Balance at December 31 1,079,453 1,266,240
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25. Loans and receivables due from customers

25.1. Loans and receivables due from customers include:

2023 2022
Short-term loans:
- in RSD 44,532,309 46,499,704
- in foreign currencies 636,110 269,682
Total short-term loans 45,168,419 46,769,386
Long-term loans:
- in RSD 276,893,174 265,084,725
- in foreign currencies 13,717,425 12,341,449
Total long-term loans 290,610,599 277,426,174
Factoring receivables
-in RSD 4,174,137 1,239,774
-in foreign currencies 10,166 -
Total factoring receivables 4,184,303 1,239,774
RSD finance lease receivables 17,952,830 17,556,171
Other RSD loans and receivables 365 365
Total 357,916,516 342,991,870
Impairment allowance (13,446,809) (14,148,156)
Balance at December 31 344,469,707 328,843,714

Loans with a currency clause index (EUR, CHF, USD) are presented within RSD loans in the above table.

25.2.  Movements on the account of impairment allowance of loans and receivables due from customers during the year are provided 
in the table below:

Individual Collective
2023 2022 2023 2022

Balance at January 1 (5,163,703) (5,352,001) (8,984,453) (7,104,657)
Impairment losses:
Change for the year (347,118) (267,033) (424,060) (2,787,806)
Foreign exchange effects 4,807 8,201 2,530 2,196
Unwinding (time value) 9,719 - 912 13,789
Effects of the portfolio sales 89,750 85,564 - -
Write-off with debt acquittal - 1,327 512 2,931
Write-off without debt acquittal* 318,163 360,239 1,046,132 889,094
Total for the year 75,321 188,298 626,026 (1,879,796)
Balance at December 31 (5,088,382) (5,163,703) (8,358,427) (8,984,453)

*Write-off without debt acquittal, i.e., accounting write-off, is a write-off of receivables made in accordance with the Decision on the 
Accounting Write-Off of Bank Balance Sheet Assets of the NBS (Official Gazette of RS no. 77/2017), effective as from September 30, 
2017. In line with the said Decision, the Group writes off balance sheet assets with highly unlikely recoverability, i.e., makes a full ac-
counting write-off of impaired receivables. Within the meaning of the aforesaid Decision, the accounting write-off entails transfer of 
the written-off receivables from the Group’s balance sheet assets to its off-balance sheet items.
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25. Loans and receivables due from customers

25.3. Breakdown of loans and receivables due from customers is provided below:

2023
Gross Amount Impairment Allowance Carrying Amount

Public sector 10,813,178 (61,511) 10,751,667
Corporate customers 234,340,081 (8,496,645) 225,843,436
Retail customers 112,763,257 (4,888,653) 107,874,604
Balance at December 31 357,916,516 (13,446,809) 344,469,707

2022
Gross Amount Impairment Allowance Carrying Amount

Public sector 12,636,827 (76,135) 12,560,692
Corporate customers 220,918,018 (8,397,777) 212,520,241
Retail customers 109,437,025 (5,674,244) 103,762,781

Balance at December 31 342,991,870 (14,148,156) 328,843,714

Corporate loans were mostly approved for maintaining current liquidity (current account overdrafts), financing working capital and 
investments. They were used for funding business activities in trade and services, manufacturing industry, construction industry, agri-
culture and food industry and other purposes. Short-term loans were approved for periods ranging from 30 days to a year. Interest rates 
on short-term loans with a currency clause index ranged from 1-month, 3-month or 6-month EURIBOR increased by 3,33%, on the 
average, while RSD short-term loans accrued interest at the rates between 1-month, 3-month or 6-month BELIBOR increased by 3.41% 
on the average.

Long-term corporate loans were approved for periods up to 10 years. Interest rate applied to long-term loans with a currency clause 
index ranged from 1-month, 3-month or 6-month EURIBOR increased by 3.35% annually on the average, while RSD long-term loans 
accrued interest at the rates between 1-month, 3-month or 6-month BELIBOR increased by 2,92% annually on the average, in line with 
the other costs and the Group’s interest rate policy.

The Group offers housing loans with fixed, variable and combined interest rates. Housing loans indexed in EUR for households are ap-
proved with a repayment period of 60 to 360 months in the case of the variable and combined interest rate option, or up to 240 months 
in the case of fixed interest rate loans. Loans with fixed nominal interest rate were realized at an interest rate ranging from 5.95% to 
8.45%. Loans with combined nominal interest rate are realized at interest that is fixed for the first 60 months, at the level from 5,95% 
to 6.45%, while after that period the interest rate is realized in the range of 2.55% to 3.30% increased by the 6- months EURIBOR. 
Loans with variable interest rate were realized at interest rates ranging from 2.55% to 3.30% increased by the 6-months EURIBOR.

The Group also offers housing loans for natural persons in dinars that are approved for a period of 240 months, with a variable interest 
rate of 5% plus a six-month grace period.

During the current year, the National Bank of Serbia adopted the Decision on temporary measures for banks related to housing loans 
to private individuals, which prescribes temporary measures and activities aimed at preserving the stability of the financial system, 
which commercial banks are obliged to apply in order to protect debtors - users of housing credit and stability of the financial system. 
The decision came into force on 13th September, 2023 and refers to the first housing loan for the purchase/construction of residential 
real estate to private individuals with a variable interest rate in the amount of up to 200,000 euros, which is secured by a mortgage 
on residential real estate.

Housing loan users are subject to temporary suspensions of nominal interest rate growth for the next 15 months, starting with the 
first annuity due after 1st October, 2023, and ending with 31st December, 2024.
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25. Loans and receivables due from customers

The temporary moratorium on rising interest rates will be applied in accordance with the following rules for loans with a variable 
interest rate:

1) Housing loans issued as of 31.7.2022 - variable nominal interest rate (sum of margin and 6M Euribor) will amount to 4.08% (loans 
with fixed or combined interest rate while the fixed part of the interest rate is valid are not subject to correction and there is no 
suspension or interest rate reduction applied to them)

2) Housing loans that were issued with a variable interest rate in the period from August 1, 2022. ending with 12.9.2023. years are 
divided into two groups, namely:

a. Loans that at the time of release had a variable nominal interest rate lower than 4.08% were set at a nominal interest rate of 
4.08% (the loans that were released in the period from 01.08.2022 to 07.02.2023, when the 6-months EURIBOR was 0.69%)

b. Loans that had a variable nominal interest rate of 4.08% at the time of release will be returned to the nominal interest rate 
from the repayment plan that was given to the client during the realization of the loan (the loans realized after 08.02.2023., 
when the 6-months EURIBOR was 3.008%, and as of 08.08.2023. is 3.94%)

The NBS Decision was applied to housing loans in the amount of RSD 33,580,831. On this basis, the Group recognized a modification 
loss in the amount of RSD 1,143,730 thousand (note 12). As of December 31, 2023 the balance of housing loans covered by the afore-
mentioned Decision is RSD 32,098,359 thousand gross, or RSD 31,893,864 thousand net.

The Group offers loans for investment financing, for working capital, as well as other standard products, including documentary 
business products.

Finance lease loans were approved to enterprises for purchases of vehicles and equipment at average fixed interest rate of 6.56% 
and variable interest rate based on 3-month EURIBOR increased by 3.64% on the average The average financing period of enterprises 
was 3.5 years. Finance lease loans were approved to individuals for purchases of vehicles and equipment at average fixed interest 
rate of 6.38% and variable interest rate based on 3-month EURIBOR increased by 4% on the average. The average financing period of 
individuals was 4 years.

During 2021, the Group has implemented cash flow hedging to hedge against exposure to changes in cash flows of loan interest which 
have variable interest rate by using interest rate swaps (note 26).
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25. Loans and receivables due from customers

25.5 The concentration of total loans and receivables due from customers per industry was as follows

2023 2022
Corporate customers
- Energy 21,553,778 15,748,392
- Agriculture 4,717,906 5,164,637
- Construction industry 24,500,650 27,620,089
- Mining and industry 55,951,500 49,510,912
- Trade 42,617,129 45,292,711
- Services 41,698,483 37,704,582
- Transportation and logistics 30,050,956 29,245,050
- Other 13,249,679 10,631,645

234,340,081 220,918,018
Public sector 10,813,178 12,636,827
Retail customers
- Private individuals 104,050,130 101,384,744
- Entrepreneurs 8,713,127 8,052,281

112,763,257 109,437,025
Total 357,916,516 342,991,870
Impairment allowance (13,446,809) (14,148,156)
Balance at December 31 344,469,707 328,843,714

Structure of loans and receivables to private individuals per loan type is presented in table below:

2023 2022
- Overdrafts 632,854 589,418
- Consumer loans 208,521 322,852
- Working capital loans 991,412 578,203
- Investment loans 3,594,193 3,419,038
- Mortgage loans 40,593,136 40,884,279
- Cash loans 56,018,404 53,775,954
- Credit cards 1,282,206 1,061,717
- Leasing contacts 729,404 753,283

Total 104,050,130 101,384,744

Loans to private individuals also include loans to registered agricultural producers.

The Group manages credit risk concentration in portfolio by determining limits. Limits are determined by internal acts and/or NBS 
regulations, and they are regularly monitored and reported on.

With defining industrial limits, geographical limits, limit of leverage transactions and through regular monitoring and reporting of 
portfolio exposure per segments, products, collateral types etc. the Bank controls credit risk at portfolio level.
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26. Hedge accounting

 Net (losses)/gains on risk hedging include:

2023 2022
Net gains/(losses) on the change in the value of hedged loans, receivables and 
securities 598,008 (1,146,250)

Net (losses)/gains on the change in the value of derivatives designated as risk 
hedging instruments (603,052) 1,163,583

Net (losses)/gains on risk hedging (5,044) 17,333

26.1 Fair value hedge

For protection of the municipal bonds and Treasury bills of the Republic of Serbia against the interest rate risk, the Group implement-
ed fair value hedging, i.e., it designated as hedged items its investments in the municipal bonds and Treasury bills of the Republic 
of Serbia.

Information about remaining maturity of interest rate swaps are presented in the following table:

Maturity 2023 Maturity 2022
Less than  

1 year 1-5 years More than  
5 years

Less than  
1 year 1-5 years More than  

5 years
Nominal amount - 15,197,429 1,406,084 340,235 12,107,671 2,581,093

Average fixed interest rate - 1,77% 0,03% 2,51% 1,67% 0,34%

The amounts relating to hedging instrument are presented in the following table:

2023 2022

Instrument
Line item in the 
statement of financial 
position

Nominal 
amount

Carrying amount Nominal 
amount

Carrying amount

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Interest rate 
swap

Receivables under 
derivatives designated 
as risk hedging 
instruments

9,842,591 553,490 - 14,207,742 1,083,998 -

Interest rate 
swap

Liabilities under 
derivatives designated 
as risk hedging 
instruments

6,760,922 - 119,337 821,257 - 76,888
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26. Hedge accounting

Informacije o stavki hedžinga i efektivnosti za 2023. godinu su prikazane u sledećoj tabeli:

Hedged item

Line item in 
the statement 

of financial 
position

Carrying 
amount

Change in 
fair value of 

instrument used 
for calculating 

hedge 
ineffectiveness

Change in value 
of hedged 

item used for 
calculating 

hedge 
ineffectiveness

Ineffectiveness 
recognised in 
profit or loss

Accumulated amount of fair value 
hedge adjustments on the hedged 

item included in the carrying 
amount of the hedged item

Accumulated amount 
of fair value hedge 

adjustments remaining 
in the statement of 

financial position for any 
hedged items that have 

ceased to be adjusted for 
hedging gains and losses

Assets Liabilities

Treasury bills issued by the 
Republic of Serbia carried at 
FVtOCI

Securities 10,838,874 363,513 (366,355) 12,575        (366,355)   - -

Treasury bills issued by the 
Republic of Serbia carried 
at AC

Securities 5,106,145 151,367 (152,831) 6,052        (152,831)   - -

Informacije o stavki hedžinga i efektivnosti za 2022. godinu su prikazane u sledećoj tabeli:

Hedged item
Line item in the 

statement of 
financial position

Carrying 
amount

Change in 
fair value of 
instrument 

used for 
calculating hedge 

ineffectiveness

Change in value 
of hedged 

item used for 
calculating 

hedge 
ineffectiveness

Ineffectiveness 
recognised in 
profit or loss

Accumulated amount of fair 
value hedge adjustments on 

the hedged item included in the 
carrying amount of the hedged 

item

Accumulated amount 
of fair value hedge 

adjustments remaining 
in the statement of 

financial position for any 
hedged items that have 

ceased to be adjusted for 
hedging gains and losses

Assets Liabilities

Treasury bills issued by the 
Republic of Serbia carried at 
FVtOCI

Securities 8,533,139 774,459 (774,770) (22,722)        (774,770)     - -

Treasury bills issued by the 
Republic of Serbia carried 
at AC

Securities 4,884,928 343,164 (343,630) (5,343)        (343,630)     - -

In this hedging relationships, the main source of ineffectiveness is the effect of Credit/Debit Value and Funding Value adjustment impacting derivative transactions fair values.
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26. Hedge accounting

26.2 Cash flow hedge

In 2021, the Bank has implemented cash flow hedging to hedge against variability of interest cash flows stemming from variable rate EUR denominated loans. Considering that part of loans with variable 
interest rate is financed from sight deposits with fixed or zero interest rate, the Bank has decided to apply cash flow hedge accounting converting highly probable future variable interest cash flows into 
fixed ones using interest rate swaps.

Maturity 2023 Maturity 2022
Less than 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years Less than 1 year 1-5 years More than 5 years

Nominal amount of hedged item - - 8,551,077 - - 3,953,765
Average fixed interest rate - - 0,32% - - 0,01%

Informacije o hedžing instrumentu su prikazane u sledećoj tabeli:

2023 2022

Instrument
Line item in the 
statement of 
financial position

Nominal amount
Carrying amount

Nominal amount
Carrying amount

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Interest rate 
swap

Potraživanja po 
osnovu derivata 
namenjenih zaštiti 
od rizika

4,602,323 83,419 - - - -

Interest rate 
swap

Obaveze po osnovu 
derivata namenjenih 
zaštiti od rizika

3,948,754 - 615,213 3,953,765 - 847,756
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26. Hedge accounting

The amounts relating to items designated as hedged items and hedge effectiveness at 31 December 2023 were as follows:

Hedged item
Changes in the value of 
the hedging instrument 
recognised in OCI

Change in value of hedged 
item

Ineffectiveness recognised in 
profit or loss Cash flow hedge reserve

Balances remaining in the cash 
flow hedge reserve from hedging 
relationships for which hedge 
accounting is no longer applied

Highly probable interest cash 
flows derived from variable 
rate loans

(535,588) 543,803 (23,671) (535,588) -

The amounts relating to items designated as hedged items and hedge effectiveness at 31 December 2022 were as follows:

Hedged item
Changes in the value of 
the hedging instrument 
recognised in OCI

Change in value of hedged 
item

Ineffectiveness recognised in 
profit or loss Cash flow hedge reserve

Balances remaining in the cash 
flow hedge reserve from hedging 
relationships for which hedge 
accounting is no longer applied

Highly probable interest cash 
flows derived from variable 
rate loans

(886,544) 895,313 45,398 (886,544) -

Generally, the Group is always in under hedged position (not targeting full offset since hedge item will be lower than hedge eligible item). Ineffectiveness could appear when:

- The FV of the derivatives is higher than the FV of the hedged underlying with regard to the hedged interest rate risk. Hypothetical derivative change in Fair value might not reflect collateralized contract 
(usage of collateralize hedging derivatives is a source of ineffectiveness). Currently, there is no clear plan to switch to collateral module in Murex (module which supports credit support annex agree-
ments (CSA)) for CEE countries, including Serbia. As the revaluation in Murex (and risk) systems will not consider collateralization to compute the FV (by adopting a specific discounting curve, eg ESTER), 
ineffectiveness situations are not expected.

- Deterioration in credit risk of the hedging instrument counterparty affects the cash flows and reduces the fair value of the derivative. However if this is the case Group’s strategy covers revoking the 
designation of such derivatives and replacing them with new ones from a counterparty with sound credit standing. In this hedging relationships, the only source of ineffectiveness is the effect of Credit/
Debit Value and Funding Value adjustment impacting derivative transactions fair values.
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27. Intangible assets

 27.1. Intangible assets, net:

2023 2022
Software and licenses 1,569,936 1,952,422
Investments in progress 952,519 517,269
Balance at December 31 2,522,455 2,469,691

27.2. Movements in intangible assets in 2023 are presented in the table below:

Software and 
licences

Investment in 
Progress Total

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2023 6,587,706 517,269 7,104,975
Additions - 671,099 671,099
Transfer from investment in progress 220,643 (220,643) -
Impairment losses (28,699) (6,709) (35,408)
Other (9,062) (8,497) (17,559)
Balance at December 31, 2023 6,770,588 952,519 7,723,107

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2023 4,635,284 - 4,635,284
Amortization charge for the year 593,417 - 593,417
Impairment losses (26,987) - (26,987)
Other (1,062) - (1,062)
Balance at December 31, 2023 5,200,652 - 5,200,652
Net book value at December 31, 2023 1,569,936 952,519 2,522,455
Net book value at January 1, 2023 1,952,422 517,269 2,469,691

27.3. Movements in intangible assets in 2022 are presented in the table below:

Software and 
licences

Investment in 
Progress Total

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2022 5,560,389 1,039,008 6,599,397
Additions - 539,277 539,277
Transfer from investment in progress 1,056,359 (1,056,359) -
Other (29,042) (4,657) (33,699)
Balance at December 31, 2022 6,587,706 517,269 7,104,975
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
Balance at January 1, 2022 4,027,928 - 4,027,928
Amortization charge for the year 609,702 - 609,702
Other (2,346) - (2,346)
Balance at December 31, 2022 4,635,284 - 4,635,284
Net book value at December 31, 2022 1,952,422 517,269 2,469,691
Net book value at January 1, 2022 1,532,461 1,039,008 2,571,469
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28. Property, plant and equipment

28.1. Property, plant and equipment comprise:

2023. 2022.
Buildings 610,605 614,984
Equipment and other assets 570,435 597,736
Leasehold improvements 134,362 118,399
Investments in progress 238,259 115,079
Right-of-use assets 1,482,855 1,657,713
Balance at December 31 3,036,516 3,103,911
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28. Property, plant and equipment
28.2. Movements in property and equipment in 2023 are presented below:

U hiljadama dinara Građevinski objekti Oprema i ostala 
osnovna sredstva

Ulaganja u tuđa 
osnovna sredstva

Osnovna sredstva u 
pripremi

Sredstva sa pravom 
korišćenja Ukupno

Cost/Revalued value
Balance at January 1, 2023 844,211 2,345,824 587,905 115,079 3,424,507 7,317,526
Additions - 5,348 - 346,876 71,975 424,199
Transfer from investments in progress - 156,121 64,649 (220,770) - -
Disposal and retirement - (11,616) (10,393) - (118,134) (140,143)
Effect of the change in fair value 13,066 - - - - 13,066
Other - - - (2,926) - (2,926)
Modifications - - - - 298,023 298,023
Balance at December 31, 2023 857,277 2,495,677 642,161 238,259 3,676,371 7,909,745

Accumulated depreciation and impairment Losses
Balance at January 1, 2023 229,227 1,748,088 469,506 - 1,766,794 4,213,615
Depreciation charge for the year 13,603 187,219 48,686 - 498,570 748,078
Disposal and retirement - (10,065) (10,393) (71,848) (92,306)
Effect of the change in fair value 3,842 - - - - 3,842
Balance at December 31, 2023 246,672 1,925,242 507,799 - 2,193,516 4,873,229

Net book value at December 31, 2023 610,605 570,435 134,362 238,259 1,482,855 3,036,516
Net book value at January 1, 2023 614,984 597,736 118,399 115,079 1,657,713 3,103,911

As of December 31, 2023, Bank has hired a certified appraisers NAI WMG doo, Belgrade and CBS International d.o.o. Belgrade to assess the fair value of the properties used for performance of Bank’s own 
business activity in accordance with IFRS 13. The appraisers determined the fair, liquidation and construction value of each individual property using the income approach for 12 properties and compara-
tive approach for 1 property as well as valuation techniques for which there were sufficient available data. Given that in the real estate market of the Republic of Serbia there are no quoted prices or prices 
achieved for properties identical to those owned by the Bank, the appraiser used Level 2 and Level 3 inputs in the fair value assessment. Level 2 inputs are observable from the market data such as publicly 
available information on the transactions reflecting the assumptions that the other market participants would use. Level 3 inputs are assumed (unobserved) inputs developed by the appraiser using the 
best information available in the current circumstances.

If the Group had continued to apply the cost model (from 31.12.2019 the Bank uses the revaluation method), the net present value as of December 31, 2023 would have been RSD 482,425 thousand for 
property used for performance of the Bank’s business activity.

The Group does not have pledged property, plant and equipment.
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28. Property, plant and equipment

28.3. Movements in property and equipment in 2022 are presented below: 

Buildings Equipment and 
other assets

Leasehold 
improvements

Investments in 
progress Right-of-use assets Total

Cost/Revalued value
Balance at January 1, 2022 740,346 2,183,302 565,820 217,345 3,132,398 6,839,211
Additions - 2,814 - 172,621 99,725 275,160
Transfer from investments in progress - 245,172 28,935 (274,107) - -
Disposal and retirement - (85,464) (6,851) - - (92,315)
Effect of the change in fair value 103,865 - - - - 103,865
Other - - - (780) - (780)
Modifications - - - - 192,384 192,384
Balance at December 31, 2022 844,211 2,345,824 587,904 115,079 3,424,507 7,317,525

Accumulated depreciation and impairment Losses
Balance at January 1, 2022 184,201 1,616,862 429,903 - 1,295,956 3,526,922
Depreciation charge for the year 15,666 216,674 46,453 - 470,838 749,631
Disposal and retirement - (85,448) (6,851) - - (92,299)
Effect of the change in fair value 29,360 - - - - 29,360
Balance at December 31, 2022 229,227 1,748,088 469,505 - 1,766,794 4,213,614

Net book value at December 31, 2022 614,984 597,736 118,399 115,079 1,657,713 3,103,911
Net book value at January 1, 2022 556,145 566,440 135,917 217,345 1,836,442 3,312,289

28.4. The right-of-use assets include:

2023 2022
Business premises 1,428,100 1,586,840
Storage and warehouse area 1,836 2,405
Parking spots 40,293 52,830
Automobiles 12,349 15,523
Other equipment 277 115
Balance at December 31 1,482,855 1,657,713
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28. Property, plant and equipment

28.5. Movements in the right-of-use assets during 2023 are presented below:

Business 
premises

Storage and 
warehouse Parking spots Automobiles Other equipment Total

Gross carrying value
Balance at January 1, 2023 3,263,595 5,053 112,387 35,617 7,855 3,424,507
Additions 67,824 - - 2,490 1,661 71,975
Disposal and retirement (118,134) - - - - (118,134)
Modifications 298,862 218 4,639 - 97 303,816
- positive effects
- negative effects (5,793) - - - - (5,793)

293,069 218 4,639 - 97 298,023
Balance at December 31, 2023 3,506,354 5,271 117,026 38,107 9,613 3,676,371
Accumulated depreciation

Balance at January 1, 2023 1,676,755 2,648 59,557 20,094 7,740 1,766,794
Depreciation charge 473,347 787 17,176 5,664 1,596 498,570
Disposal and retirement (71,848) - - - - (71,848)
Balance at December 31, 2023 2,078,254 3,435 76,733 25,758 9,336 2,193,516
Net book value at December 31, 2023 1,428,100 1,836 40,293 12,349 277 1,482,855

 28.6. Movements in the right-of-use assets during 2022 are presented below:

Business 
premises

Storage and 
warehouse Parking spots Automobiles Other equipment Total

Gross carrying value
Balance at January 1, 2022 2,977,304 4,898 108,103 35,617 6,476 3,132,398
Additions 98,776 - 949 - - 99,725
Disposal and retirement - - - - - -
Modifications
- positive effects 187,515 155 3,335 - 1,379 192,384

187,515 155 3,335 - 1,379 192,384
Balance at December 31, 2022 3,263,595 5,053 112,387 35,617 7,855 3,424,507
Accumulated depreciation
Depreciation charge
Balance at January 1, 2022 1,230,862 1,926 43,957 13,594 5,617 1,295,956
Depreciation charge 445,893 722 15,600 6,500 2,123 470,838
Balance at December 31, 2022 1,676,755 2,648 59,557 20,094 7,740 1,766,794
Net book value at December 31, 2022 1,586,840 2,405 52,830 15,523 115 1,657,713
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29. Investment property

Movements in investment property in 2023 are presented below:

Investment property Investments J in progress Total
Fair value
Balance at January 1, 2023 7,274 - 7,274
Effect of the change in fair value 460 - 460
Balance at December 31, 2023 7,734 - 7,734

Certified Appraiser NAI WMG doo, Belgrade performed assessment of the fair value of investment property for the pur-
pose of financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 in accordance with IFRS 13. The appraiser determined the fair, liquida-
tion and construction value of each individual property using the comparative approach as well as appraisal techniques for 
which sufficient data were available. If the Group had continued to apply the cost model (from 31.12.2019 the Group uses the 
fair value), the net present value as of December 31, 2023 would have been RSD 1,167 thousand for investment property. 

30.1. Other assets relate to:

2023 2022
Other assets in RSD:
Fee and commission receivables calculated per other assets 160,956 131,732
Advances paid, deposits and retainers 45,379 123,324
Receivables per actual costs incurred 103,415 152,851
Receivables from the RS Health Insurance Fund 74,383 74,095
Other receivables from operations 971,259 1,226,209
Assets acquired in lieu of debt collection 6,843 5,517
Receivables for prepaid taxes and contributions 16,327 44,395
Accrued other income receivables 35,166 23,643
Deferred other expenses 135,082 157,056

1,548,810 1,938,822
Other assets in foreign currencies:
Fee and commission receivables calculated per other assets
Other receivables from operations 249,876 33,696
Accrued other income receivables 199,536 88,235

449,412 121,931
Total 1,998,222 2,060,753
Impairment allowance (79,721) (64,180)
Balance at December 31 1,918,501 1,996,573

Movements on the impairment allowance accounts of other assets during the year are provided in the table below:

Individual Collective
2023 2022 2023 2022

Balance at January 1 (4.110) (24.417) (60.070) (38.076)
Impairment losses:
Change for the year (11.983) 20.307 (158.891) (155.336)
Foreign exchange effects - - 88 95
Write-off with debt acquittal - - 388 3.740
Write-off without debt acquittal - - 140.307 129.507
Total for the year 2.567 20.307 (18.108) (21.994)
Balance at December 31 (1.543) (4.110) (78.178) (60.070)

30. Other assets
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31. Liabilities under derivative financial instruments

Liabilities under derivative financial instruments include:

2023 2022
Types of instruments:
- currency swaps and forwards 20,775 14,189
- interest rate swaps 2,098,367 2,786,425
- interest rate options - 18,782

Balance at December 31 2,119,142 2,819,396

32.1. Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other financial institutions and the central bank include

2023 2022
Demand deposits:
- in RSD 6,510,562 8,172,547
- in foreign currencies 3,092,351 1,209,548
Total demand deposits 9,602,913 9,382,095

Overnight deposits:
- in RSD 1,444,582 394,059
- in foreign currencies 519,934 332,329
Total overnight deposits 1,964,516 726,388

Short-term deposits:
- in RSD 6,182,571 9,007,582
- in foreign currencies 21,953,561 14,060,358
Total short-term deposits 28,136,132 23,067,940

Long-term deposits: 241,307 187,277
- in RSD 44,474,935 38,418,341
- in foreign currencies 44,716,242 38,605,618
Total long-term deposits

Long-term borrowings: 6,459,576 9,289,649
- in RSD 54,853,922 51,841,895
- in foreign currencies 61,313,498 61,131,544
Total long-term borrowings

Loans under repo transactions: - 5,846,941
- in RSD - 5,846,941
Total loans under repo transactions:
Other financial liabilities:
- in RSD 137 567
- in foreign currencies 433,339 434,562
Total other financial liabilities 433,476 435,129

Balance at December 31 146,166,777 139,195,655

Short-term RSD deposits were placed by other banks for periods of up to a year at annual interest rates up to 5.25%, while short-term 
foreign currency deposits of other banks maturing within a year accrued interest at the rates ranging from 2.20% to 5.92% annually, 
depending on the currency. The Group received long-term foreign currency deposits placed by banks for periods of 5 years at interest 
rates ranging from 5.87% to 6.33% per annum.

32.  Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other 
financial institutions and the central bank
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32.  Deposits and other liabilities due to banks, other 
financial institutions and the central bank

32.2. Breakdown of long-term borrowings from banks is provided below:

2023 2022
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) 19,484,080 23,629,503
Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau Frankfurt am Main (KfW) 4,762,981 5,664,652
European Investment Bank, Luxembourg 7,150,384 6,046,622
Casa depositi e prestiti Spa, Roma 4,687,766 -
European Fund for Southeast Europe SA, Luxembourg 6,696,411 8,179,214
Green for Growth Fund, Southeast Europe, Luxembourg 7,838,190 6,591,465
UniCredit S.P.A. Milano 10,693,686 11,020,088
Balance at December 31 61,313,498 61,131,544

The above listed long-term borrowings were approved to the Group for periods from 2 to 15 years at nominal interest rates up to 6.80% per 
annum.

33.1. Deposits and other liabilities due to customers comprise:

2023 2022
Demand deposits:
- in RSD 157,757,344 124,981,180
- in foreign currencies 129,942,863 142,884,879
Total demand deposits 287,700,207 267,866,059
Overnight deposits: 1,758,511 2,085,566
- in RSD
- in foreign currencies 1,985,323 6,979,330
Total overnight deposits 3,743,834 9,064,896
- in RSD 29,717,947 33,819,325
- in foreign currencies
Total short-term deposits 41,749,537 29,619,938
Ukupno kratkoročni depoziti 71,467,484 63,439,263
Long-term deposits: 3,904,049 1,835,897
- in RSD
- in foreign currencies 21,831,079 12,752,766
Total long-term deposits 25,735,128 14,588,663
Long-term borrowings:
- in foreign currencies 167,621 223,977
Total long-term borrowings 167,621 223,977
Other financial liabilities:
- in RSD 57,172 113,276
- in foreign currencies 863,958 2,844,447
Total other financial liabilities 921,130 2,957,723
Balance at December 31 389,735,404 358,140,581

33.2. Breakdown of deposits and other liabilities due to customers:

2023 2022
Public sector 406,266 5,090,073
Corporate customers 256,753,402 235,690,614
Retail customers 132,408,115 117,135,917
Long-term borrowings (Note 33.3) 167,621 223,977
Balance at December 31 389,735,404 358,140,581

33.  Deposits and other liabilities due to customers

184

No
te

s t
o 

th
e 

co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

  | 
 D

ec
em

be
r 3

1,
 2

02
3

UniCredit 2023 Annual Reports and Accounts



33.  Depoziti i ostale finansijske obaveze prema drugim 
komitentima

RSD demand deposits of corporate customers accrued interest at the annual rate of 0,44%, on the average, while EUR-denominated 
demand deposits accrued interest at the annual rate of 0,10%. Corporate RSD term deposits accrued interest at the rates of as much 
as up to 6,11% annually on the average, while EUR- denominated corporate deposits were placed at an interest rate of 2,24% per an-
num.

The Group did not calculated Interest rate for newly opened demand deposits in RSD and foreign currency, as well as for current ac-
counts in foreign currency for retail customers.

Short-term foreign currency deposits of retail customers were placed at interest rates ranging up to 5.0% annually, depending on the 
currency and maturity. Short-term dinar deposits on the other hand were placed at interest rates up to 6.7% annually, depending on 
the maturity.

RSD deposits placed by small business clients and entrepreneurs were deposited at annual interest rates up to 5.5% depending on 
the period of placement, while foreign currency deposits for these customers were placed at the rates up to 3.5% annually, depending 
on the period and currency.

The Group dominantly collected funds from private individuals in EUR with a maturity of 12 months, while dinars for small legal en-
tities and entrepreneurs were arranged with a maturity of up to 6 months.

In the bank’s deposit portfolio for private individuals, term deposits in foreign currency make 86%, while term deposits in dinars make 
14% of overall deposits balance. On the other hand, when it comes to small legal entities and entrepreneurs, deposits in dinars dom-
inate with 60% of the balance, while deposits in foreign currency make up 40% of term deposits.

The total growth of deposits in Retail sector reached over 57% compared to the total balance of deposits during 2023, which conse-
quently affected further growth of the bank’s market share in Retail sector.

33.3. Breakdown of long-term foreign currency borrowings from customers is provided below:

2023 2022
NBS - European Investment Bank, Luxembourg 167,621 223,977
Balance at December 31 167,621 223,977

Long-term borrowings obtained from customers were approved to the Group for periods from 8 to 13 years at nominal interest rates 
to 6.20% per annum.

Table below presents changes in liabilities from financing activities, including cash based as well as not cash based changes. 
Liabilities from financing activities are those which cash flows are classified as cash flows from financing activities in cash flow state-
ment.

Long-term borrowings from banks Long-term borrowing from customers
2023 2022 2023. 2022.

Balance at January 1 61,131,544 56,035,451 223,977 311,656
Cash inflow (new borrowing) 16,256,532 21,425,049 - -
Cash outflow (repayment) (16,115,431) (16,351,380) (56,231) (87,395)
Total change in cash flows from
financing activities 141,101 5,073,669 (56,231) (87,395)
Foreign exchange effects (42,087) (99,316) (255) (571)
Accrued and deferred interest 82,940 121,740 130 287

Balance at December 31 61,313,498 61,131,544 167,621 223,977

34.  Financial liabilities movement (from financing activities)
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35. Provisions

 35.1. Provisions relate to:

2023 2022
Individual provisions for off-balance sheet items 307,865 360,380
Collective provisions for off-balance sheet items 1,230,059 782,437
Provisions for other long-term employee benefits 145,591 146,547
Provisions for potential litigation losses 3,765,892 4,358,179
Balance at December 31 5,449,407 5,647,543

35.2. Movements on the accounts of provisions during the year are provided below:

Individual Provisions 
for Off - Balance Sheet 
Items (Notes 4(b) and 

5(i)

Collective
Provisions for Off - 

Balance Sheet Items 
(Notes 4(b) and 5(i)

Provisions for 
Long¬Term Employee

Benefits (Notes 3(y) and 
5(viii)

Provisions for Potential 
Litigation Losses (Notes 

3(w), 5(vii) and 41.1)
Total

Balance at January 1 360,380 782,437 146,547 4,358,179 5,647,543
Charge for the year:
- in the income statement 179,624 996,216 22,414 773,670 1,971,924
- in the statement of other comprehensive income - - (20,122) - (20,122)

179,624 996,216 2,292 773,670 1,951,802
Release of provisions - - (3,248) (583,608) (586,856)
Reversal of provisions (Notes 12 and 17) (232,139) (548,594) - (782,349) (1,563,082)

Balance at December 31 307,865 1,230,059 145,591 3,765,892 5,449,407
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36. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

36.1. Deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to:

2023 2022
Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net

Difference in net carrying amount of 
tangible assets for tax and financial 
reporting purposes

52,492 - 52,492 59,213 - 59,213

Deferred tax assets in respect of 
unrecognized current year expenses 609,799 - 609,799 710,760 - 710,760

Deferred tax assets on gains/losses 
in respect of cash flow hedging 
instruments

80,338 - 80,338 132,982 132,982

Deferred tax liabilities as per change 
in the value of fixed assets - (18,294) (18,294) - (17,230) (17,230)

Deferred tax liabilities arising from 
revaluation of securities 178,469 - 178,469 493,831 493,831

Deferred tax assets in respect of 
actuarial losses on defined benefit 
plans

1,452 - 1,452 4,470 4,470

Total 922,550 (18,294) 904,256 1,401,256 (17,230) 1,384,026

36.2. Movements on temporary differences during 2023 are presented as follows:

Balance at 
January 1

Recognized in 
Profit or Loss

Recognized 
in Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

Balance at
December 31

Difference in net carrying amount of tangible 
assets for tax and financial reporting purposes 59,213 (6,721) - 52,492

Deferred tax assets in respect of unrecognized 
current year expenses 710,761 (100,962) - 609,799

Deferred tax assets on gains/losses in respect of 
cash flow hedging instruments 132,982 - (52,644) 80,338

Deferred tax liabilities as per change in the value 
of fixed assets (17,230) - (1,064) (18,294)

Deferred tax liabilities arising from revaluation 
of securities 493,831 - (315,362) 178,469

Deferred tax assets in respect of actuarial losses 
on defined benefit plans 4,470 - (3,018) 1,452

Total 1,384,027 (107,683) (372,088) 904,256
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37. Ostale obaveze

 37.1. Other liabilities include:

2023 2022
Advances received. deposits and retainers:
- in RSD 199,993 214,020
- in foreign currencies 2,106 1,896
Trade payables:
- in RSD 462,267 332,672
- in foreign currencies 468,979 156,588
Lease liabilities (Note 37.2):
- in RSD 434,266 393,015
- in foreign currencies Other liabilities: 1,109,021 1,333,304
- in RSD 1,755,517 1,344,839
- in foreign currencies 4,251,596 2,288,265
Fees and commissions payable per other liabilities:
- in RSD
- in foreign currencies 861 3,898
- u stranoj valuti 38 190
Deferred other income:
- in RSD 655,896 332,041
- in foreign currencies 193,735 34,076
Accrued other expenses:
- in RSD 679,119 610,002
- in foreign currencies 35,781 37,134

Liabilities per managed funds - 21,606

Taxes and contributions payable 66,362 45,989

Balance at December 31 10,315,537 7,149,535

37.2. Breakdown of maturities of the lease liabilities is provided below:

2023 2022

Present value Undiscounted  
cash flows Present value Undiscounted  

cash flows
Maturity:
- within a year 503,286 547,385 479,034 515,522
- within 2 years 452,344 482,736 406,448 433,224
- within 3 years 248,949 267,529 377,868 395,307
- within 4 years 136,931 148,141 214,186 224,112
- within 5 years 83,066 88,742 77,414 84,313
- after 5 years 118,711 129,421 171,369 187,021

Balance at December 31 1,543,287 1,663,954 1,726,319 1,839,499

37.3. Breakdown of the total payments, i.e., outflows per lease arrangements is provided below:

2023 2022
Fixed payments 320,246 274,504
Variable payments 233,480 209,548

Total outflows 553,726 484,052

Variable payments that are included in the measurement of the lease liabilities are payments dependent on an index. Out of the total 
outflows of RSD 553,726 thousand, RSD 503,397 thousand pertains to the repayment of principal, which is presents within cash flows 
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37. Ostale obaveze

from financing activities, while RSD 50,329 thousand refers to the payment of interest, which is presented within cash flows from 
operating activities in the Group’s statement of cash flows.

37.4. Breakdown of income and expenses per lease arrangements is provided in the following table:

2023 2022

Depreciation charge of the right-of-use assets (Note 28.5, 28.6) (498,570) (470,838)

Interest expenses per lease liabilities (Note 7) (50,329) (40,201)
Rental costs (Note 18.2) (422,012) (384,699)

Balance at December 31 (970,911) (895,738)

In accordance with the Law on Accounting, the Group reconciled its balances of payables and receivables with its debtors and creditors.

Unreconciled receivables totaled to RSD 2,481,523 thousand (1,680 open items) which represents 0.63% of total amount of receiv-
ables for balance reconciliation (RSD 395,907,077 thousand), i.e. 1.86% of total number of receivable items (90,232 open items).

Unreconciled liabilities totaled to RSD 14,100,808 thousand (1,865 open items) which represents 3.77% of total amount of liabilities 
for balance reconciliation (RSD 374,360,071 thousand), i.e. 2.27% of total number of items of liabilities (82,318 open items).

Unreconciled receivables and liabilities comprise mostly of receivables and liabilities for which Group has not received confirmations 
from debtors and creditors.

Equity is comprised of:

2023 2022
Issued capital – share capital 23,607,620 23,607,620
Share premium 562,156 562,156
Retained earnings 19,760,286 9,732,221
Reserves 53,534,881 50,261,130
Balance at December 31 97,464,943 84,163,127

As of December 31, 2023 the Group’s share capital totaled RSD 23,607,620 thousand and comprised 2,360,762 common stock (ordi-
nary) shares with the individual par value of RSD 10,000. All shares issued by the Group are ordinary shares.

Ordinary shareholders are entitled to dividend payment pursuant to the relevant decision on profit distribution enacted by the Bank’s 
Supervisory Board and to one vote per share in the Bank’s Shareholder General Meeting.

Reserves from fair value adjustments relate to the net cumulative changes in the fair values of securities measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, changes in fair value of property, plant and equipment and changes in fair value of derivatives 
used as cash flow hedge instruments.

38.  Reconciliation of outstanding balances of receivables and 
liabilities with creditors and debtors

39.  Equity
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39.  Equity

39.2. Breakdown of other comprehensive income after taxes is provided in the table below:

2023 2022
Actuarial losses per defined employee benefits 17,104 20,521
Net fair value adjustments of debt financial instruments measured at 
FVtOCI 1,730,582 (3,047,923)

Net fair value adjustments of debt financial instruments measured at 
FVtOCI due to impairment 56,470 (9,396)

Net fair value adjustments of fixed assets 6,030 38,636
Net change related to cash flow hedging instruments 298,313 (684,536)

Other comprehensive income after taxes 2,108,499 (3,682,698)

Breakdown of cash and cash equivalents as reported within the statement of cash flows and reconciliation with statement of financial 
position is provided below:

2023 2022
In RSD:
Gyro account (Note 20) 87,629,697 28,634,728
Cash on hand (Note 20) 4,360,266 5,421,415

91,989,963 34,056,143
In foreign currencies:
Foreign currency accounts (Note 24) 5,949,600 2,185,883
Cash on hand (Note 20) 2,900,900 2,831,588
Other cash funds (Note 20) 35,152 49,609

8,885,652 5,067,080
Cash and cash equivalents in Statement of Cash Flow 100,875,615 39,123,223
Obligatory foreign currency reserve held with NBS (Note 20) 35,585,709 32,821,494
Foreign currency accounts (Note 24) (5,949,600) (2,185,883)
Impairment allowance (8) (3)
Cash and cash equivalents in Statement of Financial Position 130,511,716 69,758,831

41.1. Litigation

As of December 31, 2023, there were 36,799 legal suits filed against the Group (including 12 labor lawsuits) with claims totaling RSD 
2,601,904 thousand. In 420 of these proceedings plaintiffs are legal entities and in 36,379 proceedings private individuals appear as 
plaintiffs/claimants.

The Group made provisions of RSD 3,765,892 thousand in respect of the legal suits filed against it (Note 36). The aforesaid amount of 
provisions includes those for the labor lawsuits filed, lawyers’ fees and administrative taxes from appeals and revisions. In the major-
ity of lawsuits filed against the Group, both individuals and legal entities in the capacity of plaintiffs, they mostly refer to lawsuits for 
loan processing fees (cash and housing), loan monitoring fees and fees to NKOSK, and to a lesser extent to lawsuits for exchange rate 
differences, interest rates, currency clauses and changed circumstances, as the basis of the dispute. The subject of the lawsuits is also 
the determination of the nullity of the mentioned provisions of the loan agreement and the acquisition without grounds.

40. Cash and cash equivalents

41. Contingent liabilities and commitments
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41. Potencijalne i preuzete obaveze

The Group uses following parameters for defining provisions: value of the case, evidence of the plaintiffs, type of legal case, trend of 
cases, existing court practices, real jurisdiction of the court, status of case and all other relevant facts that could have direct or indirect 
influence on the outcome of the court proceeding. Based on the defined parameters, the Group defines level of risk for each case:

• Group A: risk of outflow is less than 50%

• Group B: risk of outflow is between 50% and 90%

• Group C: risk of outflow is 90% and above.

Provisions are made for cases from group B and C and in the amount of the law suit increased by the estimated amount of interest 
and expenses.

For certain lawsuits, provisions were not made in the exact amount of the claim, primarily based on the estimate of the outcome of 
such suits as favorable for the Group, i.e., the estimate that the Group will incur no outflows in respect of those legal suits or that there 
are minor contingent liabilities at issue, which require no provisioning.

The Group estimates adequacy of provisions every 6 months.

41.2. Off-balance sheet exposed to credit risk are presented in table below: 

2023
Off-Balance Sheet Items 
exposed to credit risk Provisions for Off - Balance Sheet Items

Guarantees and other irrevocable commitments 126,564,335 (682,569)
Other Off-Balance Sheet Items 157,271,153 (855,355)
Balance at December 31 283,835,488 (1,537,924)

2022
Off-Balance Sheet Items exposed to 
credit risk Provisions for Off - Balance Sheet Items

Guarantees and other irrevocable commitments 117,693,527 (610,704)

Other Off-Balance Sheet Items 107,457,819 (532,113)
Balance at December 31 225,151,346 (1,142,817)
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41. Potencijalne i preuzete obaveze

41.3. The Group’s contingent liabilities are provided in the table below:

2023 2022
Contingent liabilities
Payment guarantees
- in RSD 15,104,644 15,119,533
- in foreign currencies 20,559,330 17,224,268

86,917,444 73,423,663
Performance guarantees
- in RSD 4,224,059 3,003,503
- in foreign currencies

Letters of credit 2,129,938 2,062,547
- in foreign currencies 10,610,730 11,536,703
Foreign currency sureties received 30,538,785 14,982,048
Irrevocable commitments for undrawn loans 36,074,399 26,235,199

Other irrevocable commitments 206,159,329 163,587,464

In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into agreements for contingent liabilities held in off-balance sheet record, which 
include guarantees, letters of credit, unused credit lines and credit card limits. These financial liabilities are recognized in the balance 
sheet if and when they become payable.

41.4. Breakdown of the Group’s irrevocable commitments is provided below:

2023 2022
Commitments
Current account overdrafts approved 5,678,614 5,512,478
Unused portion of approved credit card loan facilities 1,845,229 1,464,031
Unused framework loans 22,930,427 5,653,764
Letters of intent 84,515 2,351,775
Other irrevocable commitments 36,074,399 26,235,199
Balance at December 31 66,613,184 41,217,247

41.5.  The Group’s undrawn foreign line of credit funds amounted to RSD 11,568,911 thousand as of December 31, 2023 (2022: RSD 
10,939,727 thousand).

192

No
te

s t
o 

th
e 

co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

  | 
 D

ec
em

be
r 3

1,
 2

02
3

UniCredit 2023 Annual Reports and Accounts



42. Related party disclosures

The Group is under control of UniCredit S.p.A., Milan, domiciled and registered in Italy, which is the sole owner of the Group’s common 
stock shares (100%).Related parties of the Group are: parent bank, subsidiaries of the Group, entities that are members of the same 
group or are under joint control, members of the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee, the Management Board and managers 
who as members of the Group’s board (ALCO and credit committees) have the authority and responsibility to plan, direct and control 
the activities of the Group (“key management”), close family members of key management as well as legal entities that are under the 
control or influence of key management and close members of their families, in accordance with IAS 24.

In the normal course of business, a number of banking transactions are performed with related parties. These include loans, deposits, 
investments in equity securities and derivative instruments.

42.1. 42.1 Related party transactions

Exposures and liabilities as of December 31, 2023 arising from related party transactions are presented below:

2023

Matična banka Ključno 
rukovodstvo

Ostala povezana 
lica*

Financial assets
- Loans, receivables and other assets 24,244,664 88,307 2,132,549
Financial liabilities
- Deposits and other liabilities 60,893,333 120,457 2,456,247
Off balance sheet items
- Contingent liabilities for given guarantees and sureties 4,081,645 - 9,006,543
- Commitments for undrawn loans - 417 1,820,683
- Received guarantees and sureties 4,960,565 - 10,575,131
- Liabilities for guarantees issued in favor of creditors of 
the bank 10,610,730 - -

- Nominal value of the derivatives - - 66,486,113

Exposures and liabilities as of December 31, 2022 arising from related party transactions are presented below:

2022

Matična banka Ključno 
rukovodstvo

Ostala povezana 
lica*

Financial assets
- Loans, receivables and other assets 36,923,618 121,189 2,612,943
Financial liabilities
- Deposits and other liabilities 55,028,514 88,165 788,210
Off balance sheet items
- Contingent liabilities for given guarantees and sureties 3,181,450 - 10,941,343
- Commitments for undrawn loans - 260 1,187,652
- Received guarantees and sureties 4,441,732 - 11,190,726
- Liabilities for guarantees issued in favor of creditors of 
the bank 11,536,703 - -

- Nominal value of the derivatives - - 67,261,757

2023 2022

Parent 
Bank

Key 
management

Other 
related 

parties*

Parent 
Bank

Key 
management Other related parties*

Impairment allowance 
for balance and off 
balance exposures

1,662 205 23,928 2,308 229 22,998
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42. Related party disclosures

Revenues and expenses generated in 2023 arising from transactions with related parties are presented in the following table:

2023
Parent Bank Key management Other related parties *

Interest incomes 1,197,811 5,841 1,535,593
Interest expenses (2,376,170) (2,268) (319,824)
Fee and commission incomes 184,659 338 327,436
Fee and commission expenses (22,072) - (488,570)
Other incomes 18,215 - 2,460
Other expenses (66,160) - (895,447)
Total (1,063,717) 3,911 161,648

Revenues and expenses generated in 2022 arising from transactions with related parties are presented in the following table:

2022
Parent Bank Key management Other related parties *

Interest incomes 278.786 2.964 275.125
Interest expenses (466.390) (65) (433.238)
Fee and commission incomes 190.799 339 301.486
Fee and commission expenses (16.938) - (411.434)
Other incomes 5.023 - 63.580
Other expenses (47.967) - (760.266)
Total (56.687) 3.238 (964.747)

Loan loss provison (ECL) for balance and off-balance exposures of relatied parties recognized in income statement are presented be-
low:

2023 2022
Parent 

Bank
Key 

management
Other related 

parties*
Parent 

Bank
Key 

management
Other related 

parties*

Net increase/
(decrease) in 
impairment 
allowance

(646) (24) 930 234 128 12,912

*Other related parties include entities that are member of the same UniCredit Group or under joint control, close family member of key 
management as well as legal entities that are under the control or influence of key management and close member of their families.

42.2. Key management payments
Key management payments during 2023 and 2022 are presented below:

2023 2022
Short-term employee benefits 217,873 212,340
Other long-term benefits 2,710 1,285
Share-based payments 25,288 9,124
Balance at December 31 245,871 222,749

Other long-term benefits include payments based on long-term reward schemes. Employees - members of key management involved 
in these remuneration schemes, were selected based on the criteria of contributing to the long-term and growing profitability of the 
Group. Share-based payments include payments during the year based on shares granted under appropriate reward schemes.

Compensations for members of the Management Board and the Audit Committee paid in 2023 amounts to RSD 5.859 thousand (in 
2022: RSD 6,674 thousand) and they are included in the amount of short-term remuneration of key management.
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43. Događaji nakon izveštajnog perioda

As of these financial statements’ issuance date, the impact of the Russian-Ukrainian conflict continues. The duration of the conflict 
and the extent of the impact on the economy are uncertain. With a strong capital and liquidity position, the Group actively monitors 
developments and assesses the impact on its operations, financial results, financial position and cash flows. At the date of issue of 
these financial statements, there were no significant events that would require adjustments to or disclosures in the accompanying 
unconsolidated financial statements of the Group (adjusting events).
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